

Unicentre CH-1015 Lausanne http://serval.unil.ch

Year : 2012

NEW METHODS FOR DETECTION, SUSCEPTIBILITY TESTING AND BIOFILM ERADICATION OF DIFFICULT-TO-DIAGNOSE AND DIFFICULT-TO-TREAT MICROORGANISMS

FURUSTRAND TAFIN Ulrika

FURUSTRAND TAFIN Ulrika, 2012, NEW METHODS FOR DETECTION, SUSCEPTIBILITY TESTING AND BIOFILM ERADICATION OF DIFFICULT-TO-DIAGNOSE AND DIFFICULT-TO-TREAT MICROORGANISMS

Originally published at : Thesis, University of Lausanne

Posted at the University of Lausanne Open Archive. http://serval.unil.ch

Droits d'auteur

L'Université de Lausanne attire expressément l'attention des utilisateurs sur le fait que tous les documents publiés dans l'Archive SERVAL sont protégés par le droit d'auteur, conformément à la loi fédérale sur le droit d'auteur et les droits voisins (LDA). A ce titre, il est indispensable d'obtenir le consentement préalable de l'auteur et/ou de l'éditeur avant toute utilisation d'une oeuvre ou d'une partie d'une oeuvre ne relevant pas d'une utilisation à des fins personnelles au sens de la LDA (art. 19, al. 1 lettre a). A défaut, tout contrevenant s'expose aux sanctions prévues par cette loi. Nous déclinons toute responsabilité en la matière.

Copyright

The University of Lausanne expressly draws the attention of users to the fact that all documents published in the SERVAL Archive are protected by copyright in accordance with federal law on copyright and similar rights (LDA). Accordingly it is indispensable to obtain prior consent from the author and/or publisher before any use of a work or part of a work for purposes other than personal use within the meaning of LDA (art. 19, para. 1 letter a). Failure to do so will expose offenders to the sanctions laid down by this law. We accept no liability in this respect.



UNIL | Université de Lausanne

Faculté de biologie et de médecine

Départment de Médecine Interne, Service des Maladies Infectieuses

NEW METHODS FOR DETECTION, SUSCEPTIBILITY TESTING AND BIOFILM ERADICATION OF DIFFICULT ORGANISMS

Thèse de doctorat ès sciences de la vie (PhD)

présentée à la

Faculté de biologie et de médecine de l'Université de Lausanne

par

Ulrika FURUSTRAND TAFIN

Biologiste Master de l'Université de Helsinki, Finland

Jury

Prof. Amalio Telenti, Président Prof. Thierry Calandra, Directeur de thèse Dr. Andrej Trampuz, Co-directeur Prof. Werner Zimmerli, Expert Prof. Philippe Moreillon, Expert

Lausanne 2012

UNIL | Université de Lausanne Faculté de biologie et de médecine

Ecole Doctorale Doctorat ès sciences de la vie

Imprimatur

Vu le rapport présenté par le jury d'examen, composé de

Président	Monsieur	Prof. Amalio Telenti
Directeur de thèse	Monsieur	Prof. Thierry Calandra
Co-directeur de thèse	Monsieur	Dr Andrej Trampuz
Experts	Monsieur	Prof. Werner Zimmerli
	Monsieur	Prof. Philippe Moreillon

le Conseil de Faculté autorise l'impression de la thèse de

Madame Ulrika Furustrand Tafin

Master of Science de l'Université d'Helsinki, Finlande

intitulée

NEW METHODS FOR DETECTION, SUSCEPTIBILITY TESTING AND BIOFILM ERADICATION OF DIFFICULT ORGANISMS

Lausanne, le 3 octobre 2012

pour Le Doyen de la Faculté de Biologie et de Médecine

mm

Prof. Amalio Telenti

Acknowledgements

First I would like to express my gratitude to all the members of the jury, Professor Amalio Telenti, president of the jury, Doctor Andrej Trampuz, thesis co-director, Professor Thierry Calandra, thesis director, Professor Werner Zimmerli and Professor Philippe Moreillon, both external experts.

I am grateful to Dr. Andrej Trampuz for giving me the opportunity to do my PhD under his supervision and work on several interesting topics, related to foreign-body infections and susceptibility testing of difficult organisms. Andrej is a very supportive mentor, always motivating me in good and bad situations, and with great knowledge in his field.

I also would like to thank Prof. Thierry Calandra for accepting me as a young researcher in this service.

I thank Professor Jacques Bille, Dr. Philippe Hauser and Sophie Chevalley-Richard, and Professor Jacques Meis for their valuable help and participation in the antifungal susceptibility testing project. It has been very appreciable to have their expertise in this specific research field.

I would like to thank Professor Werner Zimmerli for good advice regarding the animal studies. I thank Ivana Majic for teaching me working with the animal model. Moreover, I thank Bertrand Betrisey and Cyrine Belkhodja Zalila for helping with the the animal experiments.

Thanks to all the current and previous members of the laboratory for keeping up a good team spirit. A special thanks to my PhD collegues Laura Rio and Elena Maiolo. I would also like to thank the members from the laboratories of Dr. Thierry Roger and Dr. Pierre-Yves Bochud for always being very helpful.

Finally, I would like to thank my family and especially my husband Donatien for his patience and the energy and support he gives me every day.

Abbreviations

AMB	Amphotericin B	
ANI	Anidulafungin	
ATCC	American type culture collection	
BA	Blood agar	
BHI	Brain heart infusion	
САМВН	Cation-adjusted muller-hinton broth	
CAS	Caspofungin	
CEF	Ceftriaxone	
CFU	Colony forming unit	
CLI	Clindamycin	
CLSI	Clinical laboratory standards institute	
C _{max}	Maximum (peak) concentration	
C _{min}	Minimum (through) concentration	
DAP	Daptomycin	
EPS	Extracellular polymeric substances	
EUCAST	European committee on antimicrobial suceptibility testing	
GC	Growth control	
GEN	Gentamicin	
His	Histidine	
i.p.	Intraperitoneal	
Ile	Isoleucine	
Leu	Leucine	
LEVO	Levofloxacin	
MBC	Minimal bactericidal concentration	
MBEC	Minimal biofilm eradication concentration	
McF	McFarland	
MEC	Minimal effective concentration	
MHIC	Minimal heat inhibitory concentration	
MIC	Minimal inhbitory concentration	
NaCl	0.9% sodium chloride	
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline	
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction	
PEN G	Penicillin G	
POS	Posaconazole	
RIF	Rifampin	
SD	Standard deviation	
SDB	Sabouraud dextrose broth	
SEM	Standard error mean	
Ser	Serine	
T _{max}	Time at which Cmax is achieved	
TSB	Tryptic soy broth	

Tyr	Tyrosine
Val	Valine
VAN	Vancomycin
VOR	Voriconazole

Summary

The diagnosis and treatment of infectious diseases are today increasingly challenged by the emergence of difficult-to-manage situations, such as infections associated with medical devices and invasive fungal infections, especially in immunocompromised patients. The aim of this thesis was to address these challenges by developing new strategies for eradication of biofilms of difficult-to-treat microorganisms (treatment, **part 1**) and investigating innovative methods for microbial detection and antimicrobial susceptibility testing (diagnosis, **part 2**).

The **first part** of the thesis investigates antimicrobial treatment strategies for infections caused by two less investigated microorganisms, *Enterococcus faecalis* and *Propionibacterium acnes*, which are important pathogens causing implant-associated infections. The treatment of implant-associated infections is difficult in general due to reduced susceptibility of bacteria when present in biofilms.

We demonstrated an excellent *in vitro* activity of gentamicin against *E. faecalis* in stationary growthphase and were able to confirm the activity against "young" biofilms (3 hours) in an experimental foreign-body infection model (cure rate 50%). The addition of gentamicin improved the activity of daptomycin and vancomycin *in vitro*, as determined by time-kill curves and microcalorimetry. *In vivo*, the most efficient combination regimen was daptomycin plus gentamicin (cure rate 55%). Despite a short duration of infection, the cure rates were low, highlighting that enterococcal biofilms remain difficult to treat despite administration of newer antibiotics, such as daptomycin.

By establishing a novel *in vitro* assay for evaluation of anti-biofilm activity (microcalorimetry), we demonstrated that rifampin was the most active antimicrobial against *P. acnes* biofilms, followed by penicillin G, daptomycin and ceftriaxone. In animal studies we confirmed the anti-biofilm activity of rifampin (cure rate 36% when administered alone), as well as in combination with daptomycin (cure rate 63%), whereas in combination with vancomycin or levofloxacin it showed lower cure rates (46% and 25%, respectively). We further investigated the emergence of rifampin resistance in *P. acnes in vitro*. Rifampin resistance progressively emerged during exposure to rifampin, if the bacterial concentration was high (10^8 cfu/ml) with a mutation rate of 10^{-9} . In resistant isolates, five point mutations of the *rpoB* gene were found in cluster I and II, as previously described for staphylococci and other bacterial species.

The second part of the thesis describes a novel real-time method for evaluation of antifungals against molds, based on measurements of the growth-related heat production by isothermal microcalorimetry. Current methods for evaluation of antifungal agents against molds, have several limitations, especially when combinations of antifungals are investigated. We evaluated the activity of amphotericin B, triazoles (voriconazole, posaconazole) and echinocandins (caspofungin and anidulafungin) against Aspergillus spp. by microcalorimetry. The presence of amphotericin B or a triazole delayed the heat production in a concentration-dependent manner and the minimal heat inhibition concentration (MHIC) was determined as the lowest concentration inhibiting 50% of the heat produced at 48 h. Due to the different mechanism of action echinocandins, the MHIC for this antifungal class was determined as the lowest concentration lowering the heat-flow peak with 50%. Agreement within two 2-fold dilutions between MHIC and MIC or MEC (determined by CLSI M38A) was 90% for amphotericin B, 100% for voriconazole, 90% for posaconazole and 70% for caspofungin. We further evaluated our assay for antifungal susceptibility testing of non-Aspergillus molds. As determined by microcalorimetry, amphotericin B was the most active agent against Mucorales and Fusarium spp., whereas voriconazole was the most active agent against Scedosporium spp. Finally, we evaluated the activity of antifungal combinations against Aspergillus spp. Against A. fumigatus, an improved activity of amphotericin B and voriconazole was observed when combined with an echinocandin. Against A. terreus, an echinocandin showed a synergistic activity with amphotericin B, whereas in combination with voriconazole, no considerable improved activity was observed.

Resumé

Aujourd'hui, les problèmes des maladies infectieuses concernent l'émergence d'infections difficiles à traiter, telles que les infections associées aux implants et les infections fongiques invasives chez les patients immunodéprimés. L'objectif de cette thèse était de developper des stratégies pour l'éradication des biofilms bactériens (**partie 1**), ainsi que d'étudier des méthodes innovantes pour la détection microbienne, pour l'établissement de nouveaux tests de sensibilité (**partie 2**).

Le traitement des infections associées aux implants est difficile car les biofilms bactériens peuvent résister à des niveaux élevés d'antibiotiques. A ce jour, il n'y a pas de traitement optimal défini contre des infections causées par des bactéries de prévalence moindre telles que Enterococcus *faecalis* ou *Propionibacterium acnes*. Dans un premier temps, nous avons démontré une excellente activité *in vitro* de la gentamicine sur une souche de *E. faecalis* en phase stationnaire de croissance Nous avons ensuite confirmé l'activité de la gentamicine sur un biofilm précoce en modèle expérimental animal à corps étranger avec un taux de guérison de 50%. De plus, les courbes de bactéricidie ainsi que les résultats de calorimétrie ont prouvé que l'ajout de gentamicine améliorait l'activité *in vitro* de la daptomycine, ainsi que celle de la vancomycine. *In vivo*, le schéma thérapeutique le plus efficace était l'association daptomycine/gentamicine avec un taux de guérison de 55%.

En établissant une nouvelle méthode pour l'évaluation de l'activité des antimicrobiens vis-à-vis de micro-organismes en biofilm, nous avons démontré que le meilleur antibiotique actif sur les biofilms à P. acnes était la rifampicine, suivi par la penicilline G, la daptomycine et la ceftriaxone. Les études conduites en modèle expérimental animal ont confirmé l'activité de la rifampicine seule avec un taux 36%. Le meilleur schéma thérapeutique était au final l'association de guérison rifampicine/daptomycine avec un taux de guérison 63%. Les associations de rifampicine avec la vancomycine ou la levofloxacine présentaient des taux de guérisons respectivement de 46% et 25%.

Nous avons ensuite étudié l'émergence *in vitro* de la résistance à la rifampicine chez *P. ac*nes. Nous avons observé un taux de mutations de 10^{-9} . La caractérisation moléculaire de la résistance chez les mutant-résistants a mis en évidence l'implication de 5 mutations ponctuelles dans les domaines I et II du gène *rpoB*. Ce type de mutations a déjà été décrit au préalable chez d'autres espèces bactériennes, corroborant ainsi la validité de nos résultats.

La deuxième partie de cette thèse décrit une nouvelle méthode d'évaluation de l'efficacité des antifongiques basée sur des mesures de microcalorimétrie isotherme. En utilisant un microcalorimètre, la chaleur produite par la croissance microbienne peut être mesurée en temps réel, très précisément.

Nous avons évalué l'activité de l'amphotéricine B, des triazolés et des échinocandines sur différentes souches de Aspergillus spp. par microcalorimétrie. La présence d'amphotéricine B ou de triazole retardait la production de chaleur de manière concentration-dépendante. En revanche, pour les échinochandines, seule une diminution le pic de « flux de chaleur » a été observé. La concordance entre la concentration minimale inhibitrice de chaleur (CMIC) et la CMI ou CEM (définie par CLSI M38A), avec une marge de 2 dilutions, était de 90% pour l'amphotéricine B, 100% pour le voriconazole, 90% pour le pozoconazole et 70% pour la caspofongine. La méthode a été utilisée pour définir la sensibilité aux antifongiques pour d'autres types de champignons filamenteux. Par détermination microcalorimétrique, l'amphotéricine B s'est avéré être l'agent le plus actif contre les Mucorales et les *Fusarium* spp.. et le voriconazole le plus actif contre les *Scedosporium* spp. Finalement, nous avons évalué l'activité d'associations d'antifongiques vis-à-vis de Aspergillus spp. Une meilleure activité antifongique était retrouvée avec l'amphotéricine B ou le voriconazole lorsque ces derniers étaient associés aux échinocandines vis-à-vis de A. fumigatus. L'association échinocandine/amphotéricine B a démontré une activité antifongique synergique vis-à-vis de A. terreus, contrairement à l'association échinocandine/voriconazole qui ne démontrait aucune amélioration significative de l'activité antifongique.

Table of contents

Acknowledgements	1
Abbreviations	2
Summary	4
Resumé	5
Resumé	5

PART I.

Evaluation of new treatment strategies for implant-associated infections caused by difficult-to diagnose and difficult-to-treat microorganisms.

Chapter 1. General introduction.	9
Bacterial biofilms	9
Implant-associated infections.	10
Microbiology	11
Enterococcus faecalis	12
Propionibacterium acnes.	14
Diagnosis and treatment of implant-associated infections	15
Antimicrobial therapy	17
Rifampin	
Daptomycin	19
Animal models of implant-associated infections.	20
The tissue-cage infection model	21
References	23
Chapter 2. Aim of the study	
Chapter 3. Gentamicin improves the activities of daptomycin and vanco	mycin
against Enterococcus faecalis in vitro and in an experimental foreign-bod	ly
infection model.	27
Chapter 4. Role of rifampin against <i>Propionibacterium acnes</i> biofilm in v	<i>itro</i> and in
an experimental foreign-body infection model	35
Chapter 5. In vitro emergence of rifampicin resistance in Propionibacter	ium acnes
and molecular characterization of mutations in the <i>rpoB</i> gene	44
Chapter 6. General conclusions and outlook	51

PART II.

Antifungal susceptibility of molds by isothermal microcalorimetry.

Invasive mold infections.	
	56
Microbiology	57
Diagnosis.	57
Antifungals	58
Amphotericin B	59
Triazoles	59
Azole resistance.	60
Echinocandins	61
Antifungal combinations.	61
Antifungal susceptibility testing.	62
Susceptibility assays for evaluating antifungal combinations	63
Clinical relevance of antifungal susceptibility testing	64
Use of isothermal microcalorimetry in microbiology	65
References	69
Chapter 8. Aim of the study	72
Chapter 9. Isothermal microcalorimetry: a novel method for real-time	
determination of antifungal susceptibility of Aspergillus species	
Supporting information	
Chantar 10 Isothermal microcalerimetry for antifungal suscentibility	tosting of
Chapter 10. Isothermal microcalorimetry for antifungal susceptibility	testing of
Chapter 10. Isothermal microcalorimetry for antifungal susceptibility Mucorales, <i>Fusarium</i> spp., and <i>Scedosporium</i> spp	testing of 87
Chapter 10. Isothermal microcalorimetry for antifungal susceptibility Mucorales, <i>Fusarium</i> spp., and <i>Scedosporium</i> spp Chapter 11. Evaluation of antifungal combinations against <i>Aspergillus</i>	testing of 87 <i>fumigatus</i>
Chapter 10. Isothermal microcalorimetry for antifungal susceptibility Mucorales, <i>Fusarium</i> spp., and <i>Scedosporium</i> spp Chapter 11. Evaluation of antifungal combinations against <i>Aspergillus</i> and <i>Aspergillus terreus</i> by isothermal microcalorimetry	testing of 87 <i>fumigatus</i> 96
Chapter 10. Isothermal microcalorimetry for antifungal susceptibility Mucorales, <i>Fusarium</i> spp., and <i>Scedosporium</i> spp Chapter 11. Evaluation of antifungal combinations against <i>Aspergillus</i> and <i>Aspergillus terreus</i> by isothermal microcalorimetry Abstract	testing of
Chapter 10. Isothermal microcalorimetry for antifungal susceptibility Mucorales, <i>Fusarium</i> spp., and <i>Scedosporium</i> spp Chapter 11. Evaluation of antifungal combinations against <i>Aspergillus</i> and <i>Aspergillus terreus</i> by isothermal microcalorimetry Abstract Introduction.	testing of
Chapter 10. Isothermal microcalorimetry for antifungal susceptibility Mucorales, <i>Fusarium</i> spp., and <i>Scedosporium</i> spp Chapter 11. Evaluation of antifungal combinations against <i>Aspergillus</i> and <i>Aspergillus terreus</i> by isothermal microcalorimetry Abstract Introduction.	testing of 87 <i>fumigatus</i> 96 97 98 100
Chapter 10. Isothermal microcalorimetry for antifungal susceptibility Mucorales, <i>Fusarium</i> spp., and <i>Scedosporium</i> spp Chapter 11. Evaluation of antifungal combinations against <i>Aspergillus</i> and <i>Aspergillus terreus</i> by isothermal microcalorimetry Abstract Introduction. Methods. Results.	testing of 87 <i>fumigatus</i> 96 97 98 100 102
Chapter 10. Isothermal microcalorimetry for antifungal susceptibility Mucorales, <i>Fusarium</i> spp., and <i>Scedosporium</i> spp Chapter 11. Evaluation of antifungal combinations against <i>Aspergillus</i> and <i>Aspergillus terreus</i> by isothermal microcalorimetry Abstract Introduction. Methods. Results. Antifungal susceptibility.	testing of 87 <i>fumigatus</i> 96 97 98 98
Chapter 10. Isothermal microcalorimetry for antifungal susceptibility Mucorales, Fusarium spp., and Scedosporium spp	testing of 87 <i>fumigatus</i> 96 97 98 98 100 102 102 102
Chapter 10. Isothermal microcalorimetry for antifungal susceptibility Mucorales, Fusarium spp., and Scedosporium spp Chapter 11. Evaluation of antifungal combinations against Aspergillus and Aspergillus terreus by isothermal microcalorimetry Abstract Introduction. Methods. Results. Antifungal susceptibility. Evaluation of antifungal combinations Discussion.	testing of 87 fumigatus 96 97 98 98 90 91 96 96
Chapter 10. Isothermal microcalorimetry for antifungal susceptibility Mucorales, Fusarium spp., and Scedosporium spp Chapter 11. Evaluation of antifungal combinations against Aspergillus and Aspergillus terreus by isothermal microcalorimetry Abstract Introduction. Methods. Results. Antifungal susceptibility. Evaluation of antifungal combinations Discussion. References	testing of 87 fumigatus 96 97 98 98 100 102 102 102 108 111

PART I.

Evaluation of new treatment strategies for implantassociated infections caused by difficult-to diagnose and difficult-to-treat microorganisms.

Chapter 1. General introduction.

Bacterial biofilms.

Bacteria can exist as single cells, also called planktonic, or in sessile aggregates, which is commonly referred to as a biofilm growth mode. The definition of a bacterial biofilm, as for medical microbiology, is a "coherent cluster of bacterial cells imbedded in a matrix, which are more tolerant to most antimicrobials and the host defense, than planktonic bacterial cells" [1]. The life cycle of a biofilm, illustrated in figure 1, can be divided into three main stages as follows; bacterial adhesion to an abiotic or biotic surface and aggregation of cells (1), bacterial proliferation and biofilm maturation, including production of the extracellular matrix (2), and detachment and dispersal of planktonic bacteria (3) [2].



Figure 1. The biofilm life cycle. A biofilm starts to form when bacteria attach to a surface, (1); the biofilm matures through growth of the bacterial cells and production of the extracellular matrix (2); eventually planktonic bacteria can detach and disperse from the biofilm (3).

From: biofilmbook.hypertextbookshop.com

The biofilm matrix, composed by extracellular polymeric substances (EPS), immobilizes the bacteria and keeps them in close proximity, allowing cell-to-cell communication, also known as quorum sensing [3]. Through quorum sensing, bacteria secrete and detect autoinducer molecules, in a cell-density dependent manner, which will influence their behavior, including production of the EPS and virulence factors [4]. In addition, the matrix creates a scavenging system, serving as a nutrient supply and protecting bacteria from the host defense and antimicrobial agents [3, 5]. A biofilm is a dynamic system which maintains balance through growth and dispersal. Dispersal of planktonic cells, either as single cells or microcolonies, is

important in a medical perspective since bacteria can spread from the infection site to the whole body [1].

The biofilm mode of growth represents a survival strategy, and the biofilm bacteria can be up to 1000-fold more resistant to antimicrobials than their planktonic counterparts [6]. However, once bacteria detach from the biofilm they generally become susceptible again, which suggests that the antimicrobial tolerance in biofilm is not due to common resistance mechanisms, such as efflux pumps, target mutations or modifying enzymes [6]. Several hypotheses behind the mechanism of tolerance in bacterial biofilms exist [7]. Studies show that the penetration of antimicrobials into the biofilm can be delayed by interactions with components of the biofilm matrix and that some antimicrobials can become even fully inactivated by chelating enzymes [5]. Even though most antimicrobials are capable to successfully penetrate the matrix they might be unable to kill metabolically inactive bacteria, located in the nutrient- and oxygen-deprived layers of the biofilm [5]. Another type of bacteria contributing to the antimicrobial resistance are the so-called persister cells, representing a sub-population of spore-like cells present in a non-growing stationary phase [8]. Persister cells can escape most antimicrobial agents targeting cellular processes, such as cell wall synthesis, DNA replication and translation, taking place only in physiologically active bacteria.

Implant-associated infections.

Due to a higher median age of the population, suffering from degenerative diseases, and an emerging technology in the field on medical devices, implants are increasingly used to improve or replace parts or functions of the human body [9]. One of the most successful and frequently used types of implant is the prosthetic joint. Only in Switzerland, around 20 000 hip and 16 000 knee prosthesis are implanted every year (Swiss Implant Registry, www.siris-

implant.ch). Infections associated with implants are rare, ranging from 1-5% depending on type of device, but are difficult to diagnose and to treat [10]. The treatment is associated with high costs, due to the need of several surgical interventions and prolonged hospital stay. An implant can be infected exogenously, during surgery or wound healing, or hematogenously via the bloodstream any time after implantation [10].

Microbiology.

Prosthetic-joint infections can be classified according to time of manifestation. Early and delayed infections of exogenous origin manifest within 3 months and between 3 months and 2 years after implantation, respectively, whereas late infections manifest after 2 years [9]. Early infections are in general caused by highly virulent bacteria, such as *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Escherichia coli*, whereas delayed infections are mainly caused by low-virulent bacteria, such as *S. epidermidis* and *Propionibacterium acnes. S. aureus* causes most of the late infections of hematogenous origin [10]. The distribution of species isolated from prosthetic-joint infections is presented in figure 2. In around 11% of cases no microorganism is detected [11].



Figure 2. Species distribution of bacteria isolated from prosthetic-joint infections. Adapted from [11].

During the last decades, most research in the field of biofilm and implant-associated infections has been focusing on staphylococci. Consequently, there has been important progress, both in the understanding of staphylococcal biofilm biogenesis, and in improvement and optimization of antimicrobial treatment of staphylococcal biofilm infections. Regarding the less frequently found species, such as enterococci and anaerobes, including *P. acnes*, the optimal treatment regimens have not yet been defined.

Enterococcus faecalis.

Enterococci are opportunistic pathogens increasingly recognized as the cause of healthcareacquired infections, especially in endocarditis, bacteremia and urinary tract infections [12]. They are Gram-positive facultative anaerobic cocci naturally colonizing the gastrointestinal and female genital tract and the oral cavity [12]. *E. faecalis* is the most common entercoccal species, accounting for 80 - 90% of infections, followed by *E. faecium*, which is more often associated with antimicrobial resistance [12]. In comparison with other Gram-positive bacteria, enterococci are relatively low virulent, but can persist in harsh conditions, such as low pH, high salt concentrations and extreme temperatures, especially when present in biofilm [13].

Enterococcal biofilms have been detected on a wide range of medical devices, including orthopedic implants, intravascular catheters, biliary stents, silicone gastrostomy devices and ocular lenses [14]. In *E. faecalis*, several proteins have been identified to play important roles in the biofilm biogenesis (figure 3). In the early steps of biofilm formation, surface proteins, such as enterococcal surface protein (Esp) and adhesion to collagen by *E. faecalis* (Ace) contribute to adhesion of bacteria, whereas aggregation substance (AS) promotes the aggregation of replicating bacteria [15]. In addition, a surface pili composed by proteins coded by the *epb* locus (*Endocarditis and biofilm associated pili*) has been demonstrated as important for the biofilm formation of *E. faecalis* [16]. When the bacterial density is

sufficient, the quorum sensing locus *frc* (*E. faecalis regulator*) will activate the secretion of proteases that together with Esp and Ace will lead to maturation of the biofilm [14]. Another gene that was shown to be essential for successful infection in mice, including biofilm formation on inert surfaces and invasion of phagocytes, is the *bopD* (*biofilm on plastic surface D*) gene [13]. From the mature biofilm cytolysins and proteases, such as gelatinase, are secreted and can cause tissue damage by lysing host cells, including polymorphonuclear leukocytes [14].



Figure 3. Factors implicated in the biofilm formation of *E. faecalis*. Proteins involved in the bacterial attachment includes Esp (enterococcal surface protein), Ace (adhesion to collagen by *E. faecalis*), AS (aggregation substance) and epb (endocarditis and biofilm associated pili). In the mature biofilm quorum sensing is mediated by the *frc (E. faecalis regulator)* locus. From the biofilm proteases and cytolysin can be secreted causing tissue damage. Adapted from .

Enterococci cause subacute infections of prosthetic joints that are particularly difficult to treat and associated with high failure rates [9]. The reasons for treatment failure are not entirely clear, but could be explained by virulence factors associated with biofilm formation described above, and the unavailability of antimicrobial agents active against enterococcal biofilms [9]. A few studies demonstrated activity of the staphylococcal anti-biofilm agent rifampin against enterococcal biofilms *in vitro*, in combination with ciprofloxacin and linezolid [17] and *in vivo*, in combination with tigecycline [18]. However, based on clinical experience of treatment failure associated with the use of the drug, rifampin is currently not recommended for treatment of enterococcal implant-associated infections [9]. In addition, enterococci may acquire genes encoding resistance against β -lactams, glycopeptides, aminoglycosides and oxazolidinones, which further complicates the treatment of infections [12].

Propionibacterium acnes.

P. acnes is a Gram-positive, slow-growing, facultative anaerobe that is found in the skin, the sebaceous glands, the oral cavity, the large intestine, the conjunctiva and the external ear canal [19]. *P. acnes* is primarily known as the major cause of inflammatory acne, but is also a common pathogen causing deep-seated invasive infections associated with implanted devices, such as shoulder prosthesis, neurosurgical shunts, deep brain stimulators and cardiac devices [20-22].

P. acnes is a low-virulent organism, but its ability form biofilm on different biomaterials is considered as an important virulence factor for the pathogenesis of infections caused by this organism [23]. However, in contrast to staphylococci and enterococci, little is known about the molecular mechanism involved in the biofilm biogenesis. A fibronectin-binding protein found on the surface of the bacterium was shown to facilitate the attachment to the plasma protein film found on many implanted materials [24].

The relevance of *P. acnes* in foreign-body infections may be underestimated for several reasons. Isolation of this anaerobic organism is difficult and, due to slow growth, up to 14 days of incubation is recommended for detection [25]. However, whether late growth in an enriched growth media reflects infection or only contamination is not always obvious. In order to confirm infection, *P. acnes* should be isolated in a pure culture from multiple specimens. Additionally, there is not much data on the spectrum of clinical presentations of *P. acnes* implant-associated infections [23, 25]. Infection typically occurs exogenously during

surgery but due to the low virulence of the bacteria, clinical manifestations may be delayed for months and even, rarely, for years [20]. A hematogenous route of infection is unusual, but was demonstrated in a rabbit model of total joint replacement [26] and in a case-report on a prosthetic hip infection (Mihailesku R, Trampuz A, and Borens O, presented at the 30th Annual Meeting of The European Bone and Joint Infection Society (EBJIS) in Copenhagen, Denmark September, 15-17 2011, poster Nr. 29).

P. acnes is highly susceptible to several antimicrobials and infections are in general treated with penicillins, cephalosporins or clindamycin [27]. Besides the intrinsic resistance to metrodinazole, antimicrobial resistance in *P. acnes* is rare but has been reported for antimicrobials used for topical treatment of acne, such as clindamycin and erythromycin [28]. For eradication of *P. acnes* biofilms, penicillin G and linezolid in combination with rifampin showed the best activity *in vitro* [29]. In addition, to the protective effect of the biofilm, it has been shown that *P. acnes* can escape the immune response by resisting phagocytosis and surviving inside macrophages [30].

Diagnosis and treatment of implant-associated infections.

The diagnosis of implant-associated infections is based on an evaluation of clinical symptoms in combination with analysis of microbiological and histopathological samples, and laboratory analysis, including leukocyte count in blood and synovial fluid [31]. In recent years, new methods and techniques have been proposed, allowing an improved and faster diagnosis, with high sensitivity and specificity. The conventional diagnostic method of culturing periprosthetic tissue samples frequently fails in recovering and detecting biofilm bacteria, as the biofilm is mainly attached to the implant [31]. Bacterial biofilms can be dislodged from the explanted device by sonication, and the resulting sonication fluid can be cultured or analyzed by molecular methods. This approach was shown to be more sensitive than peri-prosthetic

tissue culture for the microbiologic diagnosis of prosthetic joint infection, especially in patients who had received antimicrobial therapy before surgery [32]. New rapid non-culture based molecular assays for bacterial identification include multiplex and 16S rDNA polymerase chain reaction (PCR) [31, 33] and matrix-assisted laser desorption-ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF MS) [31].

Conventional antimicrobial susceptibility tests determine susceptibility of actively replicating bacteria, and may thus not be predictive for the treatment outcome in the presence of a biofilm. It was shown that an *in vitro* bactericidal activity against non-growing stationaryphase bacteria could better predict the treatment outcome in an implant-associated infection animal model [34]. Different in vitro methods for evaluation of antimicrobial agents for eradication of biofilms have been described. The majority of methods are based on a static microplate assay, where biofilms are formed in the wells of a microplate, followed by an antimicrobial challenge and quantification of the remaining biofilm by different methods [35-37]. Microplate assays allow screening of multiple isolates and drugs, and have shown to be convenient for fast-growing bacteria forming solid biofilms, such as S. aureus, E. coli and Pseudomonas aeruginosa [37]. However, for more slow-growing bacteria, such as P. acnes, these assays have not been widely used, which may be due to problems of reproducibility and intra-experimental variations, as was shown for the use of crystal violet for staining of P. acnes biofilm [38]. Existing methods for antimicrobial susceptibility testing of biofilms are too cumbersome and time-consuming for clinical practice, and are currently only suitable for research purposes.

Eradication of an implant-associated infection often includes removal of all foreign-body material, and its replacement after several weeks (if needed). This approach requires several surgical interventions and causes considerable soft tissue damage and bone stock loss, in the case of a prosthetic joint [9]. Therefore, new treatment options using antimicrobials with

increased activity against biofilms are being investigated, potentially allowing successful eradication of implant-associated infections without removal of the device.

Antimicrobial therapy.

Due to reduced antimicrobial susceptibility of bacteria in biofilm, a long-term, high-dose therapy is required to cure implant associated infections. Table 1 summarizes the recommended choice of antimicrobial agent depending on the causative pathogen [9, 11].

Based on *in vitro*, animal and clinical data, the optimal antimicrobial therapy has been defined for staphylococci and includes the use of rifampin [39]. Another antibiotic that has shown good activity against staphylococcal biofilm *in vitro* and *in vivo*, and is currently clinically evaluated for the treatment of prosthetic joint infections, is the lipopeptide daptomycin [40].

Microorganism	Antimicrobial agent		
	First 2-4 weeks Following 8-10 weeks		
Staphylococci	rifampin plus (flu)cloxacillin	rifampin plus levofloxacin or other fluoroquinolone	
Methicillin-resistant staphylococci	rifampin plus vancomycin or daptomycin	rifampin plus levofloxacin or other fluoroquinolone or daptomycin or teicoplanin or fusidic acid or cotrimoxazole or minocycline	
Streptococci	penicillin G or ceftriaxone	amoxicillin	
Enterococci	penicillin G or amoxicillin or ampicillin or daptomycin plus aminoglycoside	amoxicillin	
Penicillin-resistant enterococci	vancomycin or daptomycin plus aminoglycoside		
Gram-negatives	ciprofloxacin, cefepime or ceftazidime plus aminoglycoside (nonfermenters)	ciprofloxacin	
Anaerobes	clindamycin	clindamycin	
Polymicrobial	amoxicillin/clavulanic acid or piperacillin/tazobactam or imipenem or meropenem	individual regimen	

Table 1. Antimicrobial treatment of prosthetic joint infections.

Adapted from [9, 11].

Rifampin.

Rifampin is a semisynthetic derivate of rifamycin, approved for treatment of tuberculosis but also widely used in combination therapy for different staphylococcal infections, including prosthetic and native valve endocarditis, chronic osteomyelitis and prosthetic joint infections [41]. Rifampin acts by binding to the β -subunit of the bacterial DNA-dependent RNA polymerase inhibiting the transcription initiation, which confers its bactericidal action [42]. The potent activity of rifampin against mycobacteria is due to the ability of the drug to enter the host cells, and high concentrations of rifampin has been detected in macrophages, endothelial cells and neutrophils [41]. Rifampin also penetrates well into biofilms, which is the most important mechanism, supported by strong clinical data, for using the antimicrobial in the treatment of biofilm infections. Other hypotheses behind the anti-biofilm activity of rifampin, based on *in vitro* and *in vivo* data, includes a reduced bacterial adherence to the foreign material, an improved activity of other antimicrobials when used in combination, and activity against stationary-phase bacteria present in the biofilm [41].

Rifampin is always administered in combination with another active antimicrobial to prevent a rapid emergence of resistance, which has been described in a wide range of species, including *S. aureus* [43], *E. coli* [44], *Streptococcus pneumoniae* [45] and *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* [46]. Resistance is in general due to alterations in the *rpoB* gene, encoding the β subunit of the RNA polymerase. Rifampin resistance can emerge through point mutations, insertions or deletions in the conserved regions cluster I-III or near the N-terminal of the *rpoB* [47]. In the majority of cases resistance is due to point mutations. Other more rare mechanisms of resistance include duplication of the target, RNA polymerase binding proteins and modification of rifampin or its permeability into the cell [47].

Daptomycin.

Daptomycin is a cyclic lipopeptide with rapid bactericidal activity against Gram-positive bacteria, including multi-resistant organisms [48]. The mechanism of action, illustrated in figure 4, involves a calcium-dependent insertion of the lipophilic tail of the molecule into the bacterial cytoplasmic membrane (*I*), oligomerization of the molecule (*2*) leading to membrane polarization, potassium efflux and eventually rapid cell death without lysis (*3*) [49].



Figure 4. Mechanism of action of daptomycin. Insertion of the lipophilic tail in a calcium-dependent manner (*1*); oligomerization of the molecule and formation of a trans-membrane pore (2); membrane depolarization, potassium efflux and cell death (*3*) From [50].

Daptomycin was discovered in the 1980s but clinical trials were stopped due to muscle toxicity, which was observed when the drug was administered twice daily at a dose of 4 mg/kg. In 2003, daptomycin was approved for the treatment of complicated skin and soft tissue Gram-positive infections at a daily dose of 4 mg/kg and in 2006 for treatment of bacteremia and right-sided endocarditis caused by *S. aureus*, at a dose of 6 mg/kg [48]. However, clinical trials, retrospective studies and case reports on the use of higher doses (up to 12 mg/kg), have reported safety and tolerability, and an improved efficiency for the treatment of staphylococcal bone and joint infections, bacteremia and endocarditis [51]. In addition, *in vitro* effects, such as an increased rapidity of the bactericidal activity and suppression of the emergence of daptomycin resistance, were reported, in presence of higher concentrations of the drug [51]. Daptomycin is suitable for once daily dosing due to its

concentration-dependent activity, half-life of 8 h and demonstrated post-antibiotic effect up to 6.6 h [48].

Daptomycin resistance is currently rare, but has been described in staphylococci and enterococci. Mutations in genes encoding for protein implicated in the phospholipid biosynthesis, have been detected in laboratory and clinical *S. aureus* strains exhibiting a decreased susceptibility to daptomycin [52]. These mutations are thought to induce a reduction in the net-negative charge of the cell membrane, causing an electropulsion of daptomycin [52]. In *E. faecalis*, three deletions in different genes have been demonstrated to play a role in daptomycin resistance *in vivo* [53]. Two genes encode for enzymes of the phospholipid synthesis; *cls* encoding for cardiolipin synthase and *GdpD*, encoding for glycerophosphoryl diester phosphodiesterase. The third gene encodes a membrane protein, LiaF, which is thought to be involved in the stress response to antimicrobials acting on the bacterial cell envelope [53].

Animal models of implant-associated infections.

The key advantage of studying biofilm infections using animal models is the presence of a physiological environment and the immune system of the host. *In vivo* studies are especially important for evaluation of antimicrobial agents, as pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic factors may influence the interaction between the drug and the microorganism, and the drug efficacy [54]. Among the different types of biofilm infections, foreign-body infections are convenient to study by inserting an implant, which is consequently infected, locally or hematogenously. After a preferred duration of infection, the foreign-body can be explanted and the presence of a biofilm can be evaluated by different methods, such as examination by confocal scanning microscopy of bacterial cells and the extracellular matrix stained with specific dyes, or examination by high-resolution electronic microscopy [54]. When studying

the efficiency of an antimicrobial treatment, the foreign-body is aseptically explanted after the end of therapy and the presence of biofilm bacteria evaluated by CFU-count of bacteria detached from the surface by sonication or scraping, or if possible, culture of the whole implant. Currently, the most studied animal models are models of catheter-associated urinary tract infection, ventilator-associated pneumonia or infection of different materials implanted subcutaneously or intraperitoneally on the animal [54].

The tissue-cage infection model.

With the primary goal to study host factors implicated in foreign-body infections, a guineapig model with subcutaneous implants (tissue cages) was developed by Zimmerli et al. [55, 56]. Interesting findings on the immunological level were a deficiency in phagocytic activity of neutrophils present in sterile tissue-cage fluid, an inability in killing of catalase-positive bacteria indicating a defective oxygen-dependent killing mechanism, and a low local level of the cytokine tumor necrosis factor alpha [57].

The model was further adapted for investigation of antimicrobial treatment regimens against bacterial biofilm infections, and was later also modified for the use in rats and mice. In comparison with other more complex foreign-body infection models, the tissue-cage model does not require refined surgical skills [56]. Briefly, for the guinea-pig model, four regularly perforated Teflon cylinders (figure 5B), allowing accumulation of inflammatory fluid, bacterial inoculation and pharmacokinetic studies, are implanted on the flanks of male albino guinea-pigs (figure 5A). After wound healing, approximately three weeks after implantation, cages are infected by injection of a well-defined bacterial inoculum [56]. The minimal infective dose needed to achieve a stable infection of the cage in guinea pigs is in the range of 10^2 - 10^3 CFU for staphylococci. In rat or mouse models, the minimal infective dose is higher

and immunosupression may be needed to prevent spontaneous healing of the infection [58, 59].



Figure 5. Guinea-pig foreign-body infection model.

A. Subcutaneous insertion of cages.

B. Tissue-cages (Teflon cylinders).

C. Aspiration of tissue-cage fluid.

Different treatment regimens for biofilm infections have been evaluated using tissue-cage infection models. A limitation when using guinea pigs is their intolerance to β -lactam antimicrobials and clindamycin, which both cause lethal diarrhea. Additionally, guinea pigs only support short-term therapy up to 4 days. Rats are more suited for studying chronic infections and long-term therapy, but the infective dose needs to be increased to avoid spontaneous healing [56, 59]. When using a novel antimicrobial, a pharmacokinetic profile can be established by aspirating of tissue-cage fluid after intraperitoneal injection of different doses of the drug. Most antimicrobials are administered twice daily using doses that will achieve drug levels in the tissue-cage fluid, equal to the levels obtained in human serum. For evaluation of the treatment efficacy the tissue-cages are explanted after the end of therapy and the cure rate is determined by dividing the number of culture-negative cages by the total number of cages in the treatment group. Additionally, the antimicrobial activity against planktonic bacteria present in the fluid within the cage can be evaluated by aspirating cage fluid before, during and after treatment (figure 5C) [56].

References

- [1] **Bjarnsholt T**. Introduction to Biofilms. In: Bjarnsholt T, Moser C, Ostrup Jensen P, Hoiby N, eds. *Biofilm Infections* 2011.
- [2] **Costerton JW, Lewandowski Z, Caldwell DE, Korber DR, Lappin-Scott HM**. Microbial biofilms. Annu Rev Microbiol. 1995;**49**:711-745.
- [3] Flemming HC, Wingender J. The biofilm matrix. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2010;8:623-633.
- [4] **Nadell CD, Xavier JB, Levin SA, Foster KR**. The evolution of quorum sensing in bacterial biofilms. PLoS Biol. 2008;6:e14.
- [5] **del Pozo JL, Patel R**. The challenge of treating biofilm-associated bacterial infections. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2007;**82**:204-209.
- [6] **Stewart PS, Costerton JW**. Antibiotic resistance of bacteria in biofilms. Lancet. 2001;**358**:135-138.
- [7] Ciofu O, Toler-Nilsen T. Antibiotic Tolerance and Resistance in Biofilms. In: Bjarnsholt T, Moser C, Ostrup Jensen P, Hoiby N, eds. *Bacterial Biofilms*: Springer 2011.
- [8] Lewis K. Persister cells. Annu Rev Microbiol. 2010;64:357-372.
- [9] **Zimmerli W, Trampuz A, Ochsner PE**. Prosthetic-joint infections. N Engl J Med. 2004;**351**:1645-1654.
- [10] **Zimmerli W, Trampuz A**. Implant-Associated Infections. In: Bjarnsholt T, Moser C, Ostrup Jensen P, Hoiby N, eds. *Biofilm Infections*: Springer 2011.
- [11] **Zimmerli W, Moser C**. Pathogenesis and treatment concepts of orthopaedic biofilm infections. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol. 2012;**65**:158-168.
- [12] Arias CA, Murray BE. The rise of the *Enterococcus*: beyond vancomycin resistance. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2012;10:266-278.
- [13] **Baldassarri L, Creti R, Montanaro L, Orefici G, Arciola CR**. Pathogenesis of implant infections by enterococci. Int J Artif Organs. 2005;**28**:1101-1109.
- [14] Mohamed JA, Huang DB. Biofilm formation by enterococci. J Med Microbiol. 2007;56:1581-1588.
- [15] **Paganelli FL, Willems RJ, Leavis HL**. Optimizing future treatment of enterococcal infections: attacking the biofilm? Trends Microbiol. 2012;**20**:40-49.
- [16] **Budzik JM, Schneewind O**. Pili prove pertinent to enterococcal endocarditis. J Clin Invest. 2006;**116**:2582-2584.
- [17] **Holmberg A, Morgelin M, Rasmussen M**. Effectiveness of ciprofloxacin or linezolid in combination with rifampicin against *Enterococcus faecalis* in biofilms. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2012;**67**:433-439.
- [18] Minardi D, Cirioni O, Ghiselli R, Silvestri C, Mocchegiani F, Gabrielli E, d'Anzeo G, Conti A, Orlando F, Rimini M, Brescini L, Guerrieri M, Giacometti A, Muzzonigro G. Efficacy of tigecycline and rifampin alone and in combination against *Enterococcus faecalis* biofilm infection in a rat model of ureteral stent. J Surg Res. 2012;176:1-6.
- [19] Perry AL, Lambert PA. Propionibacterium acnes. Lett Appl Microbiol. 2006;42:185-188.
- [20] Zeller V, Ghorbani A, Strady C, Leonard P, Mamoudy P, Desplaces N. *Propionibacterium acnes*: an agent of prosthetic joint infection and colonization. J Infect. 2007;55:119-124.
- [21] Piper KE, Jacobson MJ, Cofield RH, Sperling JW, Sanchez-Sotelo J, Osmon DR, McDowell A, Patrick S, Steckelberg JM, Mandrekar JN, Fernandez SM, Patel R. Microbiologic diagnosis of prosthetic shoulder infection by use of implant sonication. J Clin Microbiol. 2009;47:1878-1884.
- [22] Sampedro MF, Huddleston PM, Piper KE, Karau MJ, Dekutoski MB, Yaszemski MJ, Currier BL, Mandrekar JN, Osmon DR, McDowell A, Patrick S, Steckelberg JM, Patel R. A biofilm approach to detect bacteria on removed spinal implants. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2010;35:1218-1224.
- Bayston R, Ashraf W, Barker-Davies R, Tucker E, Clement R, Clayton J, Freeman BJ, Nuradeen B. Biofilm formation by *Propionibacterium acnes* on biomaterials in vitro and in vivo: impact on diagnosis and treatment. J Biomed Mater Res A. 2007;81:705-709.
- [24] Yu JL, Mansson R, Flock JI, Ljungh A. Fibronectin binding by *Propionibacterium acnes*. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol. 1997;19:247-253.
- [25] Zappe B, Graf S, Ochsner PE, Zimmerli W, Sendi P. *Propionibacterium* spp. in prosthetic joint infections: a diagnostic challenge. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg. 2008;128:1039-1046.
- [26] Blomgren G, Lundquist H, Nord CE, Lindgren U. Late anaerobic haematogenous infection of experimental total joint replacement. A study in the rabbit using *Propionibacterium acnes*. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1981;63B:614-618.
- [27] **Hoeffler U, Ko HL, Pulverer G**. Antimicrobiol susceptibility of *Propionibacterium acnes* and related microbial species. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 1976;**10**:387-394.
- [28] **Eady EA, Gloor M, Leyden JJ**. *Propionibacterium acnes* resistance: a worldwide problem. Dermatology. 2003;**206**:54-56.

- [29] **Bayston R, Nuradeen B, Ashraf W, Freeman BJ**. Antibiotics for the eradication of *Propionibacterium acnes* biofilms in surgical infection. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2007;**60**:1298-1301.
- [30] Webster GF, Leyden JJ, Musson RA, Douglas SD. Susceptibility of *Propionibacterium acnes* to killing and degradation by human neutrophils and monocytes in vitro. Infect Immun. 1985;49:116-121.
- [31] Arciola CR, Montanaro L, Costerton JW. New trends in diagnosis and control strategies for implant infections. Int J Artif Organs. 2011;34:727-736.
- [32] Trampuz A, Piper KE, Jacobson MJ, Hanssen AD, Unni KK, Osmon DR, Mandrekar JN, Cockerill FR, Steckelberg JM, Greenleaf JF, Patel R. Sonication of removed hip and knee prostheses for diagnosis of infection. N Engl J Med. 2007;357:654-663.
- [33] Achermann Y, Vogt M, Leunig M, Wust J, Trampuz A. Improved diagnosis of periprosthetic joint infection by multiplex PCR of sonication fluid from removed implants. J Clin Microbiol. 2010;48:1208-1214.
- [34] **Zimmerli W, Frei R, Widmer AF, Rajacic Z**. Microbiological tests to predict treatment outcome in experimental device-related infections due to *Staphylococcus aureus*. J Antimicrob Chemother. 1994;**33**:959-967.
- [35] **Brook Peterson S, Yasuhiko I, Borlee B, Murakami K, Harrison J, Colvin K, Parsek R**. Different Methods for Culturing Biofilms In Vitro. In: Bjarnsholt T, Moser C, Ostrup Jensen P, Hoiby N, eds. *Biofilm Infections*: Springer 2011.
- [36] **Coraca-Huber DC, Fille M, Hausdorfer J, Pfaller K, Nogler M**. Evaluation of MBEC-HTP biofilm model for studies of implant associated infections. J Orthop Res. 2012;**30**:1176-1180.
- [37] **Ceri H, Olson ME, Stremick C, Read RR, Morck D, Buret A**. The Calgary Biofilm Device: New technology for rapid determination of antibiotic susceptibilities of bacterial Biofilms. J Clin Microbiol. 1999;**37**:1771-1776.
- [38] **Coenye T, Peeters E, Nelis HJ**. Biofilm formation by *Propionibacterium acnes* is associated with increased resistance to antimicrobial agents and increased production of putative virulence factors. Res Microbiol. 2007;**158**:386-392.
- [39] **Zimmerli W, Widmer AF, Blatter M, Frei R, Ochsner PE**. Role of rifampin for treatment of orthopedic implant-related staphylococcal infections: a randomized controlled trial. Foreign-Body Infection (FBI) Study Group. JAMA. 1998;**279**:1537-1541.
- [40] John AK, Baldoni D, Haschke M, Rentsch K, Schaerli P, Zimmerli W, Trampuz A. Efficacy of daptomycin in implant-associated infection due to methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*: importance of combination with rifampin. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2009;**53**:2719-2724.
- [41] **Forrest GN, Tamura K**. Rifampin combination therapy for nonmycobacterial infections. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2010;**23**:14-34.
- [42] **Campbell EA, Korzheva N, Mustaev A, Murakami K, Nair S, Goldfarb A, Darst SA**. Structural mechanism for rifampicin inhibition of bacterial rna polymerase. Cell. 2001;**104**:901-912.
- [43] **Aubry-Damon H, Soussy CJ, Courvalin P**. Characterization of mutations in the *rpoB* gene that confer rifampin resistance in *Staphylococcus aureus*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 1998;**42**:2590-2594.
- [44] **Jin DJ, Gross CA**. Mapping and sequencing of mutations in the *Escherichia coli rpoB* gene that lead to rifampicin resistance. J Mol Biol. 1988;**202**:45-58.
- [45] Aubry-Damon H, Galimand M, Gerbaud G, Courvalin P. rpoB mutation conferring rifampin resistance in *Streptococcus pyogenes*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2002;**46**:1571-1573.
- [46] Telenti A, Imboden P, Marchesi F, Lowrie D, Cole S, Colston MJ, Matter L, Schopfer K, Bodmer T. Detection of rifampicin-resistance mutations in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. Lancet. 1993;341:647-650.
- [47] **Tupin A, Gualtieri M, Roquet-Baneres F, Morichaud Z, Brodolin K, Leonetti JP**. Resistance to rifampicin: at the crossroads between ecological, genomic and medical concerns. Int J Antimicrob Agents. 2010;35:519-523.
- [48] Enoch DA, Bygott JM, Daly ML, Karas JA. Daptomycin. J Infect. 2007;55:205-213.
- [49] Silverman JA, Perlmutter NG, Shapiro HM. Correlation of daptomycin bactericidal activity and membrane depolarization in *Staphylococcus aureus*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2003;47:2538-2544.
- [50] **Steenbergen JN, Alder J, Thorne GM, Tally FP**. Daptomycin: a lipopeptide antibiotic for the treatment of serious Gram-positive infections. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2005;**55**:283-288.
- [51] Wu G, Abraham T, Rapp J, Vastey F, Saad N, Balmir E. Daptomycin: evaluation of a high-dose treatment strategy. Int J Antimicrob Agents. 2011;38:192-196.
- [52] Peleg AY, Miyakis S, Ward DV, Earl AM, Rubio A, Cameron DR, Pillai S, Moellering RC, Jr., Eliopoulos GM. Whole genome characterization of the mechanisms of daptomycin resistance in clinical and laboratory derived isolates of *Staphylococcus aureus*. PLoS One. 2012;7:e28316.

- [53] Arias CA, Panesso D, McGrath DM, Qin X, Mojica MF, Miller C, Diaz L, Tran TT, Rincon S, Barbu EM, Reyes J, Roh JH, Lobos E, Sodergren E, Pasqualini R, Arap W, Quinn JP, Shamoo Y, Murray BE, Weinstock GM. Genetic basis for in vivo daptomycin resistance in enterococci. N Engl J Med. 2011;365:892-900.
- [54] **Rumbaugh K, Carty L. In Vivo Models of Biofilm Infection**. In: Bjarnsholt T, Moser C, Ostrup Jensen P, Hoiby N, eds. *Bacterial Biofilms*: Springer 2011.
- [55] **Zimmerli W, Waldvogel FA, Vaudaux P, Nydegger UE**. Pathogenesis of foreign body infection: description and characteristics of an animal model. J Infect Dis. 1982;**146**:487-497.
- [56] **Zimmerli W**. Tissue Cage Infection Model. In: Zak OS, MA., ed. *Handbook of Animal Models of Infection*: Elsevier Ltd. 1999.
- [57] **Vaudaux P, Francois P, Lew DP, Waldvogel FA**. Host Factors Predisposing to and Influencing Therapy of Foreign Body Infections. In: Waldvogel FA, Bisno AL, eds. *Infections Associated with Indwelling Medical Devices*. Washington D.C.: ASM Press 2000.
- [58] Kristian SA, Lauth X, Nizet V, Goetz F, Neumeister B, Peschel A, Landmann R. Alanylation of teichoic acids protects Staphylococcus aureus against Toll-like receptor 2-dependent host defense in a mouse tissue cage infection model. J Infect Dis. 2003;188:414-423.
- [59] Lucet JC, Herrmann M, Rohner P, Auckenthaler R, Waldvogel FA, Lew DP. Treatment of experimental foreign body infection caused by methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 1990;34:2312-2317.

Chapter 2. Aim of the study.

The general aim of the study was investigate novel antimicrobial combinations for the eradication of biofilms of difficult-to-treat microorganisms *in vitro* and in a foreign-body infection model using guinea pigs.

The aim of the first part (chapter 3) was to investigate the activity of daptomycin and vancomycin, alone and in combination with gentamicin, against planktonic and adherent *E*. *faecalis in vitro* and *in vivo*.

The aim of the second part (chapter 4) was to investigate the activity of rifampin alone and in combination with other antimicrobials against *P. acnes* biofilm *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

Finally, in the last part (chapter 5) we investigated the *in vitro* emergence of rifampin resistance in *P. acnes*, and characterized the molecular background in resistant isolates.

Chapter 3.

Gentamicin improves the activities of daptomycin and vancomycin against *Enterococcus faecalis in vitro* and in an experimental foreignbody infection model.

Ulrika Furustrand Tafin, Ivana Majic, Cyrine Zalila Belkhodja, Bertrand Betrisey, Stéphane Corvec, Werner Zimmerli, Andrej Trampuz

Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, October 2011, Volume 5, Issue 10, Pages 4821-7

Gentamicin Improves the Activities of Daptomycin and Vancomycin against *Enterococcus faecalis In Vitro* and in an Experimental Foreign-Body Infection Model[⊽]

Ulrika Furustrand Tafin,¹ Ivana Majic,² Cyrine Belkhodja Zalila,¹ Bertrand Betrisey,¹ Stéphane Corvec,^{1,3} Werner Zimmerli,⁴ and Andrej Trampuz^{1,2*}

Infectious Diseases Service, Department of Medicine, University Hospital and University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland¹; Infectious Diseases Research Laboratory, Department of Biomedicine, University Hospital, Basel, Switzerland²; Institut de Biologie des Hôpitaux de Nantes, Service de Bactériologie-Hygiène, CHU de Nantes, Nantes, France³; and University Medical Clinic, Kantonsspital, Liestal, Switzerland⁴

Received 3 February 2011/Returned for modification 14 April 2011/Accepted 22 July 2011

For enterococcal implant-associated infections, the optimal treatment regimen has not been defined. We investigated the activity of daptomycin, vancomycin, and gentamicin (and their combinations) against Enterococcus faecalis in vitro and in a foreign-body infection model. Antimicrobial activity was investigated by time-kill and growth-related heat production studies (microcalorimetry) as well as with a guinea pig model using subcutaneonsly implanted cages. Infection was established by percutaneous injection of E. faecalis in the cage. Antibiotic treatment for 4 days was started 3 h after infection. Cages were removed 5 days after end of treatment to determine the cure rate. The MIC, the minimal bactericidal concentration (MBC) in the logarithmic phase, and the MBC in the stationary phase were 1.25, 5, and >20 µg/ml for daptomycin, 1, >64, and >64 µg/ml for vancomycin, and 16, 32, and 4 µg/ml for gentamicin, respectively. In vitro, gentamicin at subinhibitory concentrations improved the activity against E. faecalis when combined with daptomycin or vancomycin in the logarithmic and stationary phases. In the animal model, daptomycin cured 25%, vancomycin 17%, and gentamicin 50% of infected cages. Iu combination with geutamicin, the cnre rate for daptomycin increased to 55% and that of vancomycin increased to 33%. In conclusion, daptomycin was more active than vancomycin against adherent E. faecalis, and its activity was further improved by the addition of gentamicin. Despite a short duration of infection (3 h), the cure rates did not exceed 55%, highlighting the difficulty of eradicating E. faecalis from implants already in the early stage of implant-associated infection.

Implant-associated infections are caused by microorganisms growing attached on the device surface as biofilms (12, 31). The biofilm mode of growth represents a survival strategy through which microorganisms can attach and better resist antibiotics and the host defense system. In a biofilm, microorganisms can be up to 1,000-fold more resistant to antimicrobials than their planktonic counterparts (27). Therefore, infections in the presence of an implant are persistent and difficult to eradicate. Often, removal of all foreign-body material is performed, and it is replaced after several weeks, if needed. This approach causes considerable soft tissue damage and bone stock loss and requires repeated surgical interventions and a prolonged hospital stay (40). Therefore, new treatment options using antibiotics with increased activity against biofilms are being investigated, potentially allowing successful eradication of implant-associated infections without device removal.

Enterococci are increasingly recognized as the cause of health care-acquired infections, especially in immunocompromised hosts, such as critically ill patients and recipients of intravascular and extravascular implants (20, 25). Enterococci cause 3 to 10% of periprosthetic joint infections, and the treatment is challenging due to high failure rates and common relapses (22, 40). Reasons for the common treatment failure of enterococcal implant-associated infections are not entirely clear. They may include the low killing rate of enterococci by β -lactam antibiotics and glycopeptides, antimicrobial tolerance, persistence in host cells (potentially mediated by the enterococcal surface proteins), and unavailability of potent antibiofilm agents, such as rifampin, which is active against staphylococcal biofilms (15, 26, 40). In addition, enterococci may acquire genes encoding resistance against β -lactams, glycopeptides, aminoglycosides, and oxazolidinones, which further complicates the treatment of enterococcal infections (17, 23, 38).

Daptomycin may be a treatment option for enterococcal biofilms due to its mechanism of action, particularly its rapid killing and concentration-dependent activity (9). We investigated the activity of daptomycin and vancomycin, alone and in combination with gentamicin, against planktonic and adherent *Enterococcus faecalis in vitro* and in a foreign-body infection model using guinea pigs. This model was previously used to evaluate treatment regimens of implant-associated infections caused by staphylococci and *Escherichia coli* (1, 5, 16, 30, 36, 39) but has not yet been employed for enterococcal infections.

(Parts of the results of the present study were presented at the 19th European Congress of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases [ECCMID], Helsinki, Finland, 16 to 19 Sep-

^{*} Corresponding author. Mailing address: Infectious Diseases Service, Department of Medicine, University Hospital and University of Lausanne, Rue du Bugnon 46, CH-1011 Lausanne, Switzerland. Phone: 41 21 314 2392. Fax: 41 21 314 2876. E-mail: andrej.trampuz @chuv.ch.

⁷ Published ahead of print on 1 August 2011.

tember 2009, and at the 50th Interscience Conference on Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy [ICAAC], Boston, MA, 12 to 15 September 2010.)

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study organism. All experiments were performed with *E. faecalis* strain ATCC 19433. The strain has been shown to form hiofilms (7). Bacteria were stored at -70° C by using a cryovial bead preservation system (Microbank; Pro-Lab Diagnostics, Richmond Hill, Ontario, Canada). To prepare the inoculum, one bead was spread on a blood agar plate and incubated at 37°C. One colony was resuspended in 5 ml of tryptic soy broth (TSB) and incubated at 37°C. Overnight cultures were adjusted to a turbidity of McFarland 0.5 (corresponding to -5×10^{7} CFU/ml). The exact inoculum was determined by CFU counting. For the infection inoculum, the overnight culture of *E. faecalis* was washed twice with sterile pyrogen-free 0.9% saline.

Antimicrobial agents. Daptomycin for injection was supplied by Novartis Pharma Schweiz AG (Bern, Switzerland). A stock solution of 50 mg/ml was prepared in sterile and pyrogen-free 0.9% saline. Vancomycin was delivered by Teva Pharma AG (Aesch, Switzerland) as 10 mg of powder in ampoules. The stock solution of 50 mg/ml was prepared in sterile and pyrogen-free 0.9% saline. Gentamicin was purchased from Essex Chemie AG (Lucerne, Switzerland) as a 40-mg/ml solution.

Antimicrobial snsceptibility. The MICs and minimal bactericidal concentrations (MBCs) for daptomycin, vancomycin, and gentamicin were determined by the broth macrodilution method according to the Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI) guidelines (10). A standard inoculum of $\sim 3 \times 10^5$ CFU/ml was used. Serial 2-fold dilutions of the antimicrobials were prepared in cation-adjusted Mueller-Hinton broth (CAMHB) for the logarithmic growth phase. The MIC was defined as the lowest concentration of antibiotic that completely inhibited visible growth. The MBC_{tog} was defined as the lowest antimicrobial concentration which killed $\approx 99.9\%$ of the initial bacterial count (i.e., $\approx 3 \log_{10}$ CFU/ml) in 24 h (10). For stationary-growth-phase bacteria, MBC_{stat} was determined by using phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) supplemented with 0.1% TSB (34). Growth media for daptomycin studies were supplemented with 50 mg/liter Ca²⁺. All experiments were performed in triplicate.

Time-kill studies. The activities of daptomycin, vancomycin, and gentamicin were investigated by time-kill studies under logarithmic- and stationary-growthphase conditions. The initial inoculum was 5×10^{8} CFU/ml. Medium inoculated with bacteria only served as the growth control. CAMHB was used for the logarithmic growth phase. Growth media for daptomycin studies were supplemented with 50 mg/liter Ca²⁺. Tubes were incubated under static conditions at 37°C, and aliquots were taken after 0, 2, 4, 6, 8, and 24 h. To avoid antibiotic carry-over, samples were washed with sterile 0.9% saline and appropriate dilutions were spread on Muller-Hinton agar. The experiments were performed in triplicate, and means and standard deviations were plotted in a semilogarithmic graph. A bactericidal effect was defined as a $\approx 3-\log_{10}$ ($\approx 99.9\%$) reduction of the initial bacterial count in 24 h.

Microcalorimetry. To test the growth inhibition by antimicrobials and their combinations, measurements of bacterial heat production were performed with a 48-channel batch calorimeter (thermal activity monitor, model 3102 TAM III: TA Instruments, New Castle, DE). Microcalorimetry is a highly sensitive and accurate method for measurement of heat production generated by microbial growth. The effect of antibiotics on bacterial growth can be evaluated by the delay of heat flow and reduction of the heat flow peak compared to results with the growth control without the presence of antibiotics (2, 3, 6, 28, 29, 33). Calorimeter ampoules with 3 ml of CAMHB supplemented with Ca² containing daptomycin, vancomycin, or gentamicin at 0.125× MIC, 0.25× MIC, 0.5× MIC, and 1× MIC were inoculated with 3 \times 10⁵ CFU/ml. In combination studies, daptomycin and vancomycin at 0.25× MIC were combined with gentamicin in concentrations of 0.125× MIC, 0.25× MIC, and 0.5× MIC. The heat flow at 37°C was measured for 24 h. The results were plotted as heat flow over time

Animal model. Male albino guinea pigs (Charles River, Sulzfeld, Germany) were kept in the Animal Facility of the University Hospital Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland, and the experiments were performed according to the regulations of Swiss veterinary law. Guinea pigs were weighed daily to monitor their well-being during the experiment. Short-term studies (4-day treatment) were performed in a foreign-body cage model for guinea pigs developed by Zimmerli et al. (41). Four sterile polytetrafluorethylene (Teflon) cages with 130 regularly space perforations 1 mm in diameter (Angst-Pfister AG, Zürich, Switzerland) were

subcutaneously implanted in flanks of the guinea pigs (450 to 550 g) under aseptic conditions. After complete wound healing (approximately 2 weeks after implantation), the sterility of the cages was confirmed by culturing aspirated cage fluid on blood agar plates. The bacterial inoculation was performed only in initially sterile cages.

Pharmacokinetic studies. Pharmacokinetic studies for daptomycin and vancomycin were performed in previous studies (5, 16). For gentamicin pharmacokinetic studies, cage fluid was aspirated from noninfected animals over 24 h (2, 4, 6, 10, and 24 h) following intraperitoneal administration of a single dose of gentamicin at 10 mg/kg. Three guinea pigs were used; i.e., 12 cages. At each time point, 150-µl aliquots of cage fluid were aspirated from two cages from each animal (i.e., six replicates per time point). The collected fluid was centrifuged (2,100 × g for 7 min) at 4°C and the supernatant was stored at -20° C until further analysis. The means ± standard deviations (SD) of the peak concentration (C_{max}), the time to reach C_{max} (T_{max}), and the trough concentration at 24 h after dosing (C_{min}) were determined.

Determination of drug concentrations. Gentamicin concentrations in cage fluid were determined by an agar plate diffusion bioassay with *Bacillus subills* strain ATCC 6051 as the indicator organism. Mueller-Hinton agar (Difco, BD, Le Pont de Claix, France) was suspended in sterile pyrogen-free water, and the mixture was autoclaved. The medium was then cooled to 45° C, inoculated with the overnight culture of the indicator organism (100 µl per 165 ml of medium), and poured into large assay plates (30 cm by 30 cm). Calibration curves were plotted for the assay plate, and the regression-fitting equation was extrapolated. The standard solutions were prepared in 0.9% NaCl by preparing 2-fold serial dilutions. One hundred microliters of the cage fluid samples and duplicates of the gentamicin standard solutions were spotted into holes punched in the assay plates, and the plates were incubated overnight at room temperature, followed by incubation at 37°C for 24 h. The diameter of the inhibition zone was measured with calipers. The bioassay detection limit corresponded to the gentamicin 0.5× MIC of the indicator organism (i.e., 0.5 µg/ml).

Antimicrobial treatment. Cages were infected by percutaneous inoculation of 200 µl of *E. faecalis* containing 3×10^4 CFU. The exact infection inoculum was determined by colony counts. Three hours after infection, quantitative cultures of aspirated cage fluid were performed, followed by the start of antimicrobial treatment. In each of the following five treatment regimens, three animals were randomized, each having 4 cages (i.e., 12 cages per treatment regimen): control group (no antibiotic treatment); daptomycin, 40 mg/kg of body weight; daptomycin, 40 mg/kg plus gentamicin 10 mg/kg; vancomycin, 15 mg/kg; vancomycin, 15 mg/kg plus gentamicin 10 mg/kg; vancomycin, 10 mg/kg. All antimicrobial agents were given intraperitoncally twice daily, except daptomycin, which was given once daily. The duration of treatment was 4 days.

Antimicrobial efficacy on planktonic and adherent E. faecalis. Cage fluid was aspirated before the start of treatment, during treatment (immediately before the application of the last dose), and 5 days after completion of treatment. The bacterial counts were expressed as $\log_{10}{\rm CFU/ml}$ of cage fluid. The quantification limit for bacteria in the case fluid was set to 200 CFU/ml (>10 CFU in 50 µl of a 10-fold dilution). The clearance rate (as a percentage) was defined as the number of cage fluid cultures without growth of E. faecalis divided by the total number of cage fluid cultures in the individual treatment group. To determine the antimicrobial efficacy against adherent bacteria, animals were sacrificed 5 days after completion of treatment, and cages were explanted under aseptic conditions and incubated in 5 ml TSB. After a 48-h incubation of the cages in TSB, aliquots of 100 µl were spread on a blood agar plate and incubated at 37°C for additional 48 h. The treatment efficacy against adherent bacteria was expressed as the cure rate (as a percentage), defined as the number of cages without E. faecalis growth divided by the total number of cages in the individual treatment group.

Statistical calculations, Comparisons for continuous variables were performed by the Mann-Whitney U test. For all tests, differences were considered significant when P values were <0.05. The graphs in the figures were plotted with Prism (version 5.0a) software (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA).

RESULTS

In vitro antimicrobial susceptibility. Table 1 summarizes the *in vitro* susceptibility of *E. faecalis*. Daptomycin and vancomycin had low MIC values (1.25 and 1 μ g/ml, respectively) but did not kill the bacteria in the stationary growth phase. Daptomycin showed bactericidal activity in the logarithmic phase (MBC_{log}, 5 μ g/ml), and gentamicin was killing *E. faecalis* in

TABLE 1. In vitro susceptibility of E. faecalis strain ATCC 19433
against daptomycin, vancomycin, and gentamicin as
determined by broth macrodilution ^a

Antimicrobial	MIC (µg/ml)	$MBC_{log}\;(\mu g/ml)$	MBC _{stat} (µg/ml)
Daptomycin	1.25	5	>20
Vancomycin	1	>64	>64
Gentamicin	16	32	4

^a MBC_{log}, minimal bactericidal concentration in the logarithmic growth phase; MBC_{stat}, minimal bactericidal concentration in the stationary growth phase. The results are mean values from triplicate measurements.

both the logarithmic (MBC_{log}, 32 μ g/ml) and the stationary (MBC_{stat}, 4 μ g/ml) growth phases.

Time-kill studies. Figure 1 demonstrates killing of bacteria in the logarithmic growth phase. Daptomycin and gentamicin (Fig. 1A and C) show a dose-dependent activity at concentrations from $0.25 \times$ to $16 \times$ MIC, both being bactericidal (i.e., 3-log reduction) at $4 \times$ MIC. Vancomycin (Fig. 1B), on the other hand, showed no bactericidal effect at concentrations of up to $16 \times$ MIC. Figure 2 shows the antimicrobial activity against bacteria in the stationary phase. Daptomycin showed no bactericidal effect at up to $16 \times$ MIC (Fig. 2A), whereas vancomycin reduced bacterial counts by approximately 3-log at $1 \times$ to $16 \times$ MIC (Fig. 2B). Gentamicin was the most active antimicrobial agent, being bactericidal at 0.5× MIC (Fig. 2C). When combining daptomycin at $0.25 \times$ MIC with gentamicin at different subinhibitory concentrations, the antimicrobial activity was increased against E. faecalis in the logarithmic phase (Fig. 3A). This additive effect was less pronounced when combining vancomycin and gentamicin (Fig. 3B). In the stationary phase, gentamicin improved the killing of E. faecalis by daptomycin and vancomycin (Fig. 3C and D), with a time-kill curve resembling that of gentamicin alone.

In vitro activity on E. faecalis evaluated by microcalorimetry. The effect of daptomycin, vancomycin, and gentamicin at subinhibitory concentrations and $1 \times$ MIC on E. faecalis growthrelated heat production was investigated using a batch calorimeter. The drugs were tested alone (Fig. 4A to C) and in combination with gentamicin (Fig. 4D and E) at subinhibitory concentrations. Since bacteria in the stationary phase do not produce detectable heat, the experiment was performed only with logarithmic phase bacteria. A fixed concentration of daptomycin and vancomycin at $0.25 \times$ MIC was combined with gentamicin at $0.125 \times$, $0.25 \times$, and $0.5 \times$ MIC.

The growth control had a maximal heat flow peak of 315μ W at 5.6 h of incubation. The activity of the used antibiotics resulted in decreased and delayed peaks of the heat flow curves. At 1× MIC, heat production was completely inhibited for 24 h by all antibiotics. Daptomycin alone was more active in the suppression of growth-related heat production of *E. faecalis* than vancomycin and gentamicin alone using the same concentrations. Whereas a delay in the heat flow peak was observed for daptomycin already at 0.125× MIC (Fig. 4A), the inhibitory effect of vancomycin (Fig. 4B) and gentamicin (Fig. 4C) was present only at 0.5× MIC.

The addition of gentamicin at a low concentration $(0.125 \times MIC)$ enhanced the antienterococcal activity of both daptomycin and vancomycin (Fig. 4 D and E), whereas gentamicin alone showed a minimal antimicrobial effect at this concentra-

tion (Fig. 4C). The combination of daptomycin and gentamicin was more active in the suppression of growth-related heat production than the combination of vancomycin and gentamicin using the same fractional concentrations of the MIC.

Pharmacokinetics of gentamicin in the cage fluid. After an intraperitoneal application of gentamicin (10 mg/kg), a C_{max} (mean \pm SD) of 6.2 \pm 1.6 µg/ml was reached after 2 h (T_{max}).



FIG. 1. Time-kill studies for daptomycin (A), vancomycin (B), and gentamicin (C) in logarithmic growth phase. Values represent means and standard deviations (SD) of triplicate measurements. The limit of detection was 200 CFU/ml. The horizontal dashed line represents the reduction of $3 \log_{10}$ CFU/ml of the initial inoculum. The dashed line represents the growth control.



FIG. 2. Time-kill studies for daptomycin (A), vancomycin (B), and gentamicin (C) in stationary growth phase. Values represent means and standard deviations (SD) of triplicate measurements. The limit of detection was 200 CFU/ml. The horizontal dashed line represents the reduction of $3 \log_{10}$ CFU/ml of the initial inoculum.

The concentration of gentamicin in the cage fluid 24 h after application (C_{\min}) was 0 µg/ml.

In vivo activity on planktonic *E. faecalis.* Figure 5 shows the bacterial load in the cage fluid throughout the experiment. After 3 h of infection, before the start of treatment, the bacterial load in the aspirated cage fluid was $3.5 \log_{10}$. No spontaneous clearance of planktonic bacteria from the cage fluid in

the untreated group was observed, and the bacterial load remained unchanged during the experiment ($\sim 3.5 \log_{10}$). Five days after completion of therapy, the planktonic bacteria in the cage fluid had decreased by 1.9 \log_{10} with daptomycin, by 2.5 \log_{10} with vancomycin, and by 2.6 \log_{10} with gentamicin. The combination of gentamicin and daptomycin was the most efficient regimen in killing planktonic *E. faecalis*, with complete clearance of the cage fluid (Fig. 6A). When a combination of gentamicin with vancomycin was used, planktonic bacteria decreased by 1.8 \log_{10} and clearance of planktonic bacteria was achieved in 50% of cage fluid samples.

In vivo activity on adherent *E. faecalis.* Figure 6B shows the cure rates of different antibiotic regimes against adherent bacteria. Without antibiotics (control animals), the cure rate was 0%. Daptomycin, vancomycin, and gentamicin as monotherapy eradicated the adherent bacteria in 25%, 17%, and 50% of cages, respectively. In combination with gentamicin, the cure rate increased to 55% (daptomycin) and 33% (vancomycin).

DISCUSSION

The management of implant-associated infections is challenging, and clinical experience is limited, especially with retention of the infected device (40). Therefore, we compared the in vitro and in vivo activities of daptomycin and vancomycin, alone and in combination with gentamicin, against planktonic and adherent E. faecalis. The chosen E. faecalis strain is representative of the current epidemiological situation, with susceptibility to lipopeptides and glycopeptides, without demonstrating high-level resistance to gentamicin (MIC, 16 µg/ml). However, the prevalence of multiresistant enterococcal strains may increase in the future. Therefore, daptomycin was chosen as one of the treatment regimens. Daptomycin is a promising agent due to its mechanism of action, particularly its rapid killing and concentration-dependent activity (9). According to CLSI (11) and EUCAST (http://www.eucast.org/) guidelines, the majority of current clinical isolates of enterococci are susceptible to daptomycin (MIC, $\leq 4 \mu g/ml$). Moreover, daptomycin is not associated with cross-resistance to other antimicrobials and is also active against most resistant isolates, including vancomycin-resistant enterococci (VRE) (9). However, the risk of emergence of daptomycin resistance during treatment of enterococcal infections is of concern. The genetic basis for daptomycin resistance in enterococci was recently reviewed (21).

The *in vitro* experiments using time-kill studies and measurement of growth-related bacterial heat production (microcalorimetry) showed an improved antibacterial activity of daptomycin and vancomycin when in combination with gentamicin. This effect was observed in the logarithmic phase, whereas in the stationary phase, the killing effect of gentamicin combination represented mostly the pronounced killing effect of gentamicin alone. Based on these *in vitro* results, gentamicin was included in the treatment combination regimens in the experimental studies in the guinea pig model. The animal model was adapted from the previously described setting (1, 16, 30, 39) by reducing the infection inoculum to 3×10^4 CFU/cage and shortening the duration of infection to 3 h. Despite the fact that we have not demonstrated the formation of biofilm on explanted cages, we assume that adherent bacteria in biofilm



FIG. 3. Time-kill curves of *E. faecalis* in logarithmic (A and B) and stationary (C and D) growth phase with daptomycin (DAP; A and C) and vancomycin (VAN; B and D) combined with gentamicin (GEN) at different concentrations. Values represent means and standard deviations (SD) of triplicate measurements. The horizontal dashed line represents the reduction of 3 log₁₀ CFU/ml of the initial inoculum.

are responsible for frequent treatment failure. With the 24-h duration of infection, no cure of infected cages was observed (data not shown). Under adapted experimental conditions (using a short infection duration), cure rates did not exceed 55%.

This highlights the propensity of *E. faecalis* to rapidly cause persistent infections, which are difficult to eradicate despite a low MIC of all tested antimicrobial drugs. In staphylococcal infection, cure rates were significantly improved by combina-



FIG. 4. Calorimetric measurements of heat produced by *E. faecalis* during 24 h exposed to different concentration of daptomycin (DAP; A), vancomycin (VAN; B), gentamicin (GEN; C) and their combinations (D and E). All drugs were measured at concentrations of $0.125 \times$ MIC, $0.25 \times$ MIC, $0.5 \times$ MIC and $1 \times$ MIC. The combinations were tested with fixed concentrations of daptomycin ($0.25 \times$ MIC) with three concentrations of gentamicin ($0.125 \times$, $0.25 \times$, and $0.5 \times$ MIC). GC, growth control (dashed line).



FIG. 5. Bacterial load of planktonic bacteria in cage fluid during treatment (black bars) and 5 days after treatment (white bars). Values are means \pm standard errors of the means (SEM). DAP, daptomycin; VAN, vancomycin; GEN, gentamicin.

tion with rifampin, which acts against biofilms (1, 16, 31, 32, 35, 42). In addition, combination regimens may prevent the emergence of resistant strains.

In our animal studies, the injected dose of daptomycin in guinea pigs (40 mg/kg) corresponds to a dose of 8 mg/kg in humans (4, 13, 37), which is higher than that currently recommended for staphylococcal infection in clinical practice (19). The most efficient regimen for killing planktonic E. faecalis was the combination of daptomycin and gentamicin, followed by gentamicin alone, as observed in the in vitro experiments. When evaluating the activity against adherent bacteria, daptomycin with gentamicin showed the highest cure rate (55%), whereas vancomycin with gentamicin showed a lower cure rate (33%). Gentamicin alone was able to eradicate the biofilm in 50% of the cages. However, gentamicin monotherapy is not recommended in clinical use because of the risk of emergence of resistance. This was shown in a study by Lefort et al. (18), in which gentamicin alone showed a significant reduction of the number of E. faecalis bacteria in the vegetation in a rabbit model of endocarditis but selected gentamicin-resistant mutants.

The activity of gentamicin combination against enterococcal biofilms was investigated in several laboratory and clinical studies. In vitro enterococcal biofilms were inhibited by high concentrations of ampicillin, vancomycin, and linezolid. In combination with gentamicin, these agents significantly reduced the MIC, MBC, and minimal biofilm inhibition concentration (MBIC) against several tested enterococcal isolates (24). Furthermore, in a rabbit endocarditis model, improved activity of daptomycin was observed against Enterococcus faecalis when combined with gentamicin (8). However, in a retrospective clinical study, including enterococcal prosthetic joint infections, no benefit for the treatment outcome of infections of the addition of gentamicin to aminopenicillins or glycopeptides was observed (14). Whether daptomycin in combination with gentamicin is superior to other antimicrobial regimens against adherent enterococci, including vancomycinresistant enterococci (VRE), and whether the infected imANTIMICROB. AGENTS CHEMOTHER.



FIG. 6. Clearance rate of planktonic bacteria in cage fluid (A) and cure rate of adherent bacteria from explanted cages (B). DAP, daptomycin; VAN, vancomycin; GEN, gentamicin. The numbers above the columns indicate the clearance and cure rate, respectively.

plants can be retained with this combination, needs to be investigated in future clinical studies. The optimal regimen against strains with a high level of resistance to gentamicin remains to be determined.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation (K-32K1_120531) and by an educational grant from Novartis Pharma AG, Basel, Switzerland.

We thank Alain Bizzini for critical reviews of the manuscript, Anne-Katrin John for practical advice, and Zarko Rajacic for laboratory assistance.

REFERENCES

- Baldoni, D., M. Haschke, Z. Rajacic, W. Zimmerli, and A. Trampuz. 2009. Linezolid alone or combined with rifampin against methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus in experimental foreign-body infection. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 53:1142–1148.
- Baldoni, D., H. Hermann, R. Frei, A. Trampuz, and A. Steinhuber. 2009. Performance of microcalorimetry for early detection of methicillin resistance in clinical isolates of Staphylococcus aureus. J. Clin. Microbiol. 47:774–776.
- Baldoni, D., A. Steinhuber, W. Zimmerli, and A. Trampuz. 2010. In vitro activity of gallium maltolate against Staphylococci in logarithmic, stationary, and biofilm growth phases: comparison of conventional and calorimetric susceptibility testing methods. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 54:157–163.
- Benvenuto, M., D. P. Benziger, S. Yankelev, and G. Vigliani. 2006. Pharmacokinetics and tolerability of daptomycin at doses up to 12 milligrams per kilogram of body weight once daily in healthy volunteers. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 50:3245–3249.
Vol. 55, 2011

- 5. Blaser, J., P. Vergeres, A. F. Widmer, and W. Zimmerli. 1995. In vivo verification of in vitro model of antibiotic treatment of device-related infec-tion. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. **39**:1134–1139.
- 6. Braissant, O., D. Wirz, B. Gopfert, and A. U. Daniels. 2010. Use of isothermal microcalorimetry to monitor microbial activities. FEMS Microbiol, Lett. 303-1-8
- Bridier, A., F. Dubois-Brissonnet, A. Boubetra, V. Thomas, and R. Briandet. 2010. The biofilm architecture of sixty opportunistic pathogens deciphered using a high throughput CLSM method. J. Microbiol. Methods 82:64–70.
- 8. Bush, L. M., J. A. Boscia, and D. Kaye. 1988. Daptomycin (LY146032) treatment of experimental enterococcal endocarditis. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 32:877-881.
- 9. Canton, R., P. Ruiz-Garhajosa, R. L. Chaves, and A. P. Johnson. 2010. A potential role for daptomycin in enterococcal infections: what is the evi-dence? J. Antimicrob. Chemother. **65**:1126–1136.
- 10. Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute. 1999. Methods for determining bactericidal activity of antimicrobial agents; approved guideline, M26-A. Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute, Wayne, PA.
 11. Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute. 2008. Performance standards
- for antimicrobial susceptibility testing: eighteenth informational supplement, M100-S18. Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute, Wayne, PA.
- Costerton, J. W., P. S. Stewart, and E. P. Greenberg. 1999. Bacterial biofilms: a common cause of persistent infections. Science 284:1318–1322.
- Dvorchik, B. H., D. Brazier, M. F. DeBruin, and R. D. Arbeit. 2003. Dap-tomycin pharmacokinetics and safety following administration of escalating doses once daily to healthy subjects. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 47: 1318-1323
- 14. El Helou, O. C. et al. 2008. Outcome of enterococcal prosthetic joint infection: is combination systemic therapy superior to monotherapy? Clin. Infect. Dis 47:903-909
- 15. Fabretti, F., and J. Huebner. 2005. Implant infections due to enterococci: role of capsular polysaccharides and biofilm. Int. J. Artif. Organs 28:1079-1090
- 16. John, A. K. et al. 2009. Efficacy of daptomycin in implant-associated infection due to methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus: importance of combination with rifampin. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 53:2719–2724.
 17. Kristich, C. J., C. L. Wells, and G. M. Dunny. 2007. A eukaryotic-type
- Ser/Thr kinase in Enterococcus faecalis mediates antimicrobial resistant and intestinal persistence. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 104:3508-3513.
- Lefort, A. et al. 2000. Bactericidal activity of gentamicin against Enterocoe cus faecalis in vitro and in vivo. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother, 44:2077-2080
- 19. Liu, C. et al. 2011. Clinical practice guidelines by the Infectious Diseases Society of America for the treatment of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus infections in adults and children. Clin. Infect. Dis. 52:e18-e55.
- Mohamed, J. A., and D. B. Huang, 2007. Biofilm formation by enterococci. J. Med. Microbiol. 56:1581–1588.
- 21. Palmer, K. L., A. Daniel, C. Hardy, J. Silverman, and M. S. Gilmore. 2011. Genetic basis for daptomycin resistance in enterococci. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 55:3345-3356
- 22. Phillips, J. E., T. P. Crane, M. Nov, T. S. Elliott, and R. J. Grimer, 2006. The incidence of deep prosthetic infections in a specialist orthopaedic hospital: a 15-year prospective survey. J. Bone Joint Surg. Br. **88**:943–948.
- 23. Sandoe, J. A. et al. 2002. Enterococcal intravascular catheter-related bloodstream infection: management and outcome of 61 consecutive cases. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 50:577-582.

- 24. Sandoe, J. A., J. Wysome, A. P. West, J. Heritage, and M. H. Wilcox. 2006. Measurement of ampicillin, vancomycin, linezolid and gentamicin activity against enterococcal biofilms. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 57:767–770.
- Sava, I. G., E. Heikens, and J. Huebner. 2010. Pathogenesis and immunity in enterococcal infections. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. 16:533–540. Sava, I. G. et al. 2010. Enterococcal surface protein contributes to persis-
- tence in the host but is not a target of opsonic and protective antibodies in Enterococcus faecium infection. J. Med. Microbiol. **59**:1001–1004.
- Stewart, P. S., and J. W. Costerton. 2001. Antibiotic resistance of bacteria in biofilms. Lancet 358:135–138. 27.
- Trampnz, A., S. Sałzmann, J. Antheaume, and A. U. Daniels. 2007. Microcalorimetry: a novel method for detection of microbial contamination in platelet products. Transfusion 47:1643-1650.
- Trampuz, A., A. Steinhuber, M. Wittwer, and S. L. Leib. 2007. Rapid diagnosis of experimental meningitis by bacterial heat production in cerebrospinal fluid, BMC Infect, Dis. 7:116.
- Trampuz, A. et al. 2007. Efficacy of a novel rifamycin derivative, ABI-0043, Trampuz, A. et al. 2007. Encacy of a hover manyein derivative, AB1-004.3, against Staphylococcus aureus in an experimental model of foreign-body infection. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 51:2540–2545.
 Trampuz, A., and A. F. Widmer. 2006. Infections associated with orthopedic implants. Curr. Opin. Infect. Dis. 19:349–356.
- 31.
- Vergidis, P. et al. 2011. Treatment with linezolid or vancomycin in combination with rifampin is effective in an animal model of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus foreign body osteomyelitis. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother, 55:1182-1186.
- von Ah, U., D. Wirz, and A. U. Daniels. 2009. Isothermal micro calorimetry—a new method for MIC determinations: results for 12 antibiotics and reference strains of E. coli and S. aureus. BMC Microbiol. 9:106.
- Widmer, A. F., R. Frei, Z. Rajacic, and W. Zimmerli. 1990. Correlation between in vivo and in vitro efficacy of antimicrobial agents against foreign 34 body infections. J. Infect. Dis. 162:96-102. Widmer, A. F., A. Gaechter, P. E. Ochsner, and W. Zimmerli. 1992. Anti-
- microbial treatment of orthopedic implant-related infections with rifampin combinations. Clin. Infect. Dis. 14:1251-1253.
- Widmer, A. F., A. Wiestner, R. Frei, and W. Zimmerli. 1991. Killing of nongrowing and adherent Escherichia coli determines drug efficacy in de-vice-related infections. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 35:741–746.
- Wise, R., T. Gee, J. M. Andrews, B. Dvorchik, and G. Marshall. 2002. Pharmacokinetics and inflammatory fluid penetration of intravenous dapto-
- mycin in volunteers. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. **46**:31–33. Woodford, N. et al. 2002. Detection of oxazolidinone-resistant Enterococcus faecalis and Enterococcus faecium strains by real-time PCR and PCR-re-striction fragment length polymorphism analysis. J. Clin, Microbiol. 40:4298-4300.
- Zimmerli, W., R. Frei, A. F. Widmer, and Z. Rajacic, 1994. Microbiological 39 tests to predict treatment outcome in experimental device-related infections due to Staphylococcus aureus. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 33:959–967.
- Zimmerli, W., A. Trampuz, and P. E. Ochsuer. 2004. Prosthetic-joint infections. N. Engl. J. Med. 351:1645–1654. Zimmerli, W., F. A. Waldvogel, P. Vaudaux, and U. E. Nydegger. 1982.
- Pathogenesis of foreign body infection: description and characteristics of an animal model. J. Infect. Dis. 146:487-497.
- Zimmerli, W., A. F. Widmer, M. Blatter, R. Frei, P. E. Ochsner, et al. 1998. 42, Role of rifampin for treatment of orthopedic implant-related staphylococcal infections: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 279:1537-1541

Chapter 4.

Role of rifampin against *Propionibacterium acnes* biofilm *in vitro* and in an experimental foreign-body infection model.

Ulrika Furustrand Tafin, Stéphane Corvec, Bertrand Betrisey, Werner Zimmerli, Andrej Trampuz

Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, April 2012, Volume 56, Issue 4, Pages 1885-91

Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy	Role of Rifampin against Propionibacterium acnes Biofilm <i>In Vitro</i> and in an Experimental Foreign-Body Infection Model
	Ulrika Furustrand Tafin, Stéphane Corvec, Bertrand Betrisey, Werner Zimmerli and Andrej Trampuz <i>Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.</i> 2012, 56(4):1885. DOI: 10.1128/AAC.05552-11. Published Ahead of Print 17 January 2012.
	Updated information and services can be found at: http://aac.asm.org/content/56/4/1885
	These include:
REFERENCES	This article cites 44 articles, 22 of which can be accessed free at: http://aac.asm.org/content/56/4/1885#ref-list-1
CONTENT ALERTS	Receive: RSS Feeds, eTOCs, free email alerts (when new articles cite this article), more»

Information about commercial reprint orders: http://aac.asm.org/site/misc/reprints.xhtml To subscribe to to another ASM Journal go to: http://journals.asm.org/site/subscriptions/

Journals.ASM.org



Role of Rifampin against *Propionibacterium acnes* Biofilm *In Vitro* and in an Experimental Foreign-Body Infection Model

Ulrika Furustrand Tafin,^a Stéphane Corvec,^{a,b} Bertrand Betrisey,^a Werner Zimmerli,^c and Andrej Trampuz^a

Infectious Diseases Service, Department of Medicine, University Hospital and University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland^a; Institut de Biologie des Hôpitaux de Nantes, Service de Bactériologie-Hygiène, CHU de Nantes, Nantes, France¹⁵; and University Medical Clinic, Kantonsspital, Liestal, Switzerland^e

Propionibacterium acnes is an important cause of orthopedic-implant-associated infections, for which the optimal treatment has not yet been determined. We investigated the activity of rifampin, alone and in combination, against planktonic and biofilm *P. acnes in vitro* and in a foreign-body infection model. The MIC and the minimal bactericidal concentration (MBC) were 0.007 and 4 μ g/ml for rifampin, 1 and 4 μ g/ml for daptomycin, 1 and 8 μ g/ml for vancomycin, 1 and 2 μ g/ml for levofloxacin, 0.03 and 16 μ g/ml for penicillin G, 0.125 and 512 μ g/ml for clindamycin, and 0.25 and 32 μ g/ml for ceftriaxone. The *P. acnes* minimal biofilm eradication concentration (MBEC) was 16 μ g/ml for rifampin; 32 μ g/ml for penicillin G; 64 μ g/ml for daptomycin and ceftriaxone; and \geq 128 μ g/ml for levofloxacin, vancomycin, and clindamycin. In the animal model, implants were infected by injection of 10⁹ CFU *P. acnes* in cages. Antimicrobial activity on *P. acnes* was investigated in the cage fluid (planktonic form) and on explanted cages (biofilm form). The cure rates were 4% for daptomycin, 17% for vancomycin, 0% for levofloxacin, and 36% for rifampin. Rifampin cured 63% of the infected cages in combination with daptomycin, 46% with vancomycin, and 25% with levofloxacin. While all tested antimicrobials showed good activity against planktonic *P. acnes*, for eradication of biofilms, rifampin was needed. In combination with rifampin, daptomycin showed higher cure rates than with vancomycin in this foreign-body infection model.

Propionibacterium acnes is a facultative anaerobic Gram-positive branching rod physiologically residing in sebaceous glands of the skin (24). It is the major agent of inflammatory acne. In addition, in 2 to 14% of cases, it is identified as the cause of various implant-associated infections, including prosthetic-joint infections, particularly shoulder prosthesis (25, 40, 43); spine implant surgery (4, 14, 19, 29); breast implant surgery (11, 27); electrophysiological cardiac devices (28); and neurosurgery involving ventricular drains and ventriculoperitoneal shunts (10). The role of P. acnes in foreign-body infections is probably underestimated due to technical reasons. Detection of anaerobes requires rapid transport to the microbiology laboratory or special transport media and needs incubation for up to 14 days due to slow growth (7, 40). Late growth and/or growth in enrichment media only is often misinterpreted as contamination. Furthermore, although P. acnes is usually introduced during surgery, clinical symptoms of lowgrade infections often manifest only months to years after implantation. Therefore, the association between implant surgery and infection is not always obvious (14).

Recent studies showed that *P. acnes* forms biofilm on a wide range of materials (2, 26). However, little is known about the mechanisms involved in biofilm formation at the cellular and molecular levels. *P. acnes* is uniformly resistant to metronidazole but susceptible to several other antimicrobials, including penicillin G, ceftriaxone, vancomycin, and clindamycin (13, 16). However, the antimicrobial susceptibility is significantly reduced in biofilms, causing chronic and persistent infections that are difficult to cure without removal of the device. In addition, *P. acnes* can escape the immune response by resisting phagocytosis and surviving inside macrophages (37).

While the role of rifampin in eradication of staphylococcal biofilms was demonstrated in several experimental and clinical studies (1, 18, 33, 35, 39, 45), its role in *P. acnes* biofilm infections is less clear. The aim of this study was to investigate the activity of rifampin alone and in combination with other antimicrobials

against *P. acnes* biofilm *in vitro* and in a foreign-body guinea pig infection model. *In vivo* studies were performed to determine the most active treatment regimen for eradication of *P. acnes* biofilms from implants in the clinical setting.

(Parts of the results of the present study were presented at the 21st European Congress of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases [ECCMID], Milan, Italy, 7 to 10 May 2011, and at the 2nd European Congress on Microbial Biofilms, Copenhagen, Denmark, 6 to 8 July 2011.)

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study organism. All experiments were performed with P. acnes strain ATCC 11827. The bacteria were stored at -70°C using the cryovial bead preservation system (Microbank; Pro-Lab Diagnostics, Richmond Hill, Ontario, Canada). For inoculum preparation for in vitro studies, one bead was spread on a blood agar plate and incubated for 72 to 96 h at 37°C anaerobically using an Anaerogen system (Oxoid, Basingstoke, Hampshire, England). One distinct colony was resuspended in 10 ml reduced (cooked) brain heart infusion (rBHI) and incubated anaerobically at 37°C. Seventy-two-hour cultures were adjusted to a turbidity of 0.5 Mc-Farland standard (corresponding to $\sim 5 \times 10^7$ CFU/ml). For the inoculum for animal infection, a 72-h culture of P. acnes in rBHI was washed twice with sterile 0.9% saline before injection. The exact inoculum size was determined by CFU counting on blood agar plates incubated anaerobically. The ability of our test strain to form biofilm was confirmed by staining using Filmtracer (Invitrogen, Zug, Switzerland) and imaging with confocal microscopy.

Received 22 August 2011 Returned for modification 10 November 2011 Accepted 2 January 2012

Published ahead of print 17 January 2012

Address correspondence to Andrej Trampuz, andrej trampuz@chuv.ch. Copyright © 2012, American Society for Microbiology, All Rights Reserved. doi:10.1128/AAC.05552-11

0066-4804/12/\$12.00 Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy p. 1885-1891

Antimicrobial agents. Daptomycin powder for injection was supplied by Novartis Pharma AG (Bern, Switzerland). A stock solution of 50 mg/ml was prepared in sterile 0.9% saline. Vancomycin was purchased from Teva Pharma AG (Aesch, Switzerland) as 10-mg powder ampoules. The stock solution of 50 mg/ml was prepared in sterile 0.9% saline. Levofloxacin hemihydrate injectable solution (5 mg/ml; Sanofi Aventis Pharma AG, Zurich, Switzerland) and rifampin powder (prepared in sterile water; 60 mg/ml; Sandoz AG, Steinhausen, Switzerland) were purchased from the respective manufacturers. Clindamycin (1 g) powder was purchased from Sigma and dissolved in sterile water (2 g/ml), penicillin G (25 mg/ml) was purchased from Grünenthal Pharma AG (Mitlödi, Switzerland), and ceftriaxone injectable solution (100 mg/ml) was purchased from Roche Pharma AG (Reinach, Switzerland).

Antimicrobial susceptibility of planktonic *P. acnes.* The MIC and minimal bactericidal concentration (MBC) were determined by the broth macrodilution method, as described by Hall et al. (15). An inoculum of $\sim 1 \times 10^6$ CFU/ml was used. Serial 2-fold dilutions of the antimicrobials were prepared in rBHI. The MIC was defined as the lowest concentration of antibiotic that completely inhibited visible growth at 48 h. In addition, the MIC was determined by Etest (AB Biodisk, Solna, Sweden) according to the manufacturer's instructions. An inoculum of 1 McFarland standard ($\sim 1 \times 10^8$ CFU/ml) was used, and the plates were read after 48 h of anaerobic incubation at 37°C. The MBC was defined as the lowest antimicrobial concentration that killed $\geq 99.9\%$ of the initial bacterial count (i.e., $\geq 3 \log_{10}$ CFU/ml) in 48 h using rBHI (9). Growth media for daptomycin studies were supplemented with 50 mg/liter Ca²⁺. All experiments were performed in triplicate.

Biofilm formation on glass beads. *P. acnes* biofilms were investigated using sintered glass beads (Siran carrier; SiKUG 023/02/300/A; Schott-Schleiffer AG, Muttenz, Switzerland) using a protocol adapted from previous studies (22, 42). The diameters of the beads ranged from 2 to 3 mm, and the porosity was $0.2 \text{ m}^2/\text{g}$ with a pore size of 60 to 300 μ m. For biofilm formation, beads were placed in rBHI, inoculated with 2 to 3 CFU of *P. acnes*, and incubated anaerobically at 37°C under static conditions for 3 h, 24 h, or 72 h.

Killing of *P. acues* biofilm on glass beads. Biofilm was formed for 72 h as described above. Beads were then rinsed thrice with sterile 0.9% saline to remove planktonic bacteria, placed in rBH1 containing serial 2-fold dilutions of antimicrobials, and incubated anaerobically for 24 h. After antimicrobial challenge, the beads where rinsed thrice and placed in microcalorimetric ampoules containing 4 ml rBH1. Recovering bacteria were detected by measuring heat production at 37°C for 72 h, allowing the quantification of the remaining biofilm bacteria (see below). The minimal biofilm eradication concentration (MBEC) was defined as the lowest antimicrobial concentration killing biofilm bacteria on beads, leading to absence of regrowth after 72 h of incubation in the microcalorimeter, indicated by the absence of (growth-related) heat flow. All experiments were repeated three times.

Microcalorimetric assay for quantification of biofilm on glass beads. Replicating viable microorganisms produce heat, which can be detected with a microcalorimeter designed for precise real-time measurement (6). An isothermal microcalorimeter (TAM III; TA Instruments, New Castle, DE) was used. This instrument is equipped with 48 microcalorimetry channels, allowing independent parallel measurements. The instrumental detection limit of heat flow is 0.2 µW. The heat production is related to microbial metabolism and increases exponentially with their growth in appropriate medium (36). Microcalorimetry was recently used for investigation of staphylococcal biofilms on bone grafts and bone substitutes (8). Experiments were performed in 4-ml glass ampoules containing growth medium inoculated with sintered glass beads coated with P. acnes (with or without previous antimicrobial exposure). The ampoules were sealed and introduced first into the equilibration position for 15 min. In this time, the measuring temperature of 37.0000°C is reached, and heat disturbance by lowering the ampoule in the measuring position is minimized. The heat flow was then recorded at 10-s intervals for 72 h. The

detection limit was determined at 10 μ W to distinguish microbial heat production from the thermal background (e.g., nonspecific heat flow generated by degradation of the growth medium). The detection time was inversely proportional to the biofilm quantity, which allowed precise quantification of biofilm bacteria on the beads. Sterile beads (containing no bacterial biofilm) served as a negative control.

Animal model. A foreign-body infection model in guinea pigs was used, as previously described by Zimmerli et al. (44). Male albino guinea pigs (Charles River, Sulzfeld, Germany) were housed in the Animal Care Facility at the University Hospital Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland. Experiments were performed according to the regulations of Swiss veterinary law. The animals were regularly weighed and observed for behavioral changes to monitor their well-being during the whole experiment. After an adaptation phase of 1 to 2 weeks, four sterile polytetrafluorethylene (Teflon) cages with 130 regularly spaced perforations 1 mm in diameter (Angst-Pfister AG, Zürich, Switzerland) were subcutaneously implanted in the flanks of the guinea pigs (weight range, 450 to 550 g). The surgery was performed under aseptic conditions, and a single dose of vancomycin (25 mg/kg of body weight) was injected intraperitoneally 30 min before skin incision. The wound clips were removed after 7 days. The sterility of the cages was confirmed by cultures of aspirated cage fluid before cage infection. The inoculation of P. acnes was performed after complete wound healing (i.e., 10 to 14 days after cage implantation) in sterile cages. The establishment of infection was confirmed by aspiration of cage fluid. followed by quantitative cultures and CFU enumeration on blood agar plates under anaerobic conditions.

Infection profile of planktonic *P. acnes* and persistence of biofilm *P. acnes* in animals. Cages were infected by percutaneous inoculation of 200 μ l of *P. acnes* containing 5 × 10⁷ CFU/cage (low inoculum) or 1 × 10⁹ CFU/cage (high inoculum). To determine the infection profile of untreated animals, cage fluid was aspirated from animals every 3 to 5 days. Two animals (one with high inoculum and one with low inoculum) were sacrificed 16 days after infection, and an additional four animals (two each with high and low inocula) were sacrificed 50 days after infection. At sacrifice, the cages were removed under aseptic conditions, placed in 5 ml rBHI, and incubated anaerobically for 10 to 14 days. After incubation, 100 μ l of the medium was spread on a blood agar plate and incubated anaerobically at 37°C. A positive culture with *P. acnes* was defined as persistent infection.

Antimicrobial treatment of animals. For treatment studies, infection was established with a high inoculum $(1 \times 10^{\circ} \text{ CFU/cage})$. Three days after infection, quantitative cultures of aspirated cage fluid were performed, followed by starting the antimicrobial treatment. For each treatment regimen, at least three animals, each holding 4 cages, were randomized (i.e., 12 cages per treatment regimen): a control group (no antibiotic treatment), 40 mg/kg daptomycin, 10 mg/kg levofloxacin, 15 mg/kg vancomycin, 12.5 mg/kg rifampin, and the combination of rifampin with either daptomycin, levofloxacin, or vancomycin at the same doses mentioned above. All antimicrobials were injected intraperitoneally every 12 h, except daptomycin, which was given every 24 h. The duration of antimicrobial treatment was 4 days. The antimicrobial dose was determined based on pharmacokinetic studies in serum and cage fluid performed in previous studies in the same guinea pig model, mimicking antimicrobial concentrations achieved in humans (1, 5, 18, 31, 38).

Activity on planktonic and biofilm *P. acnes* in animals. To determine the activity against planktonic *P. acnes*, cage fluid was aspirated before the start of treatment, during treatment (before administration of the last dose), and 5 days after completion of treatment. The bacterial counts were expressed as \log_{10} CFU/ml cage fluid. To determine the activity against biofilm *P. acnes*, animals were sacrificed 5 days after completion of treatment, and the cages were explanted under aseptic conditions and incubated in 5 ml rBHI. After 10 days of incubation of the cages in BHI, aliquots of 100 μ l were spread on a blood agar plate and incubated at 37°C for an additional 72 h. The treatment efficacy against adherent bacteria was expressed as the cure rate (as a percentage) defined as the num-

Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy

	Value (µg/m	1)"					
Parameter	Rifampin	Daptomycin	Levofloxacin	Vancomycin	Clindamycin	Penicillin G	Ceftriaxone
MIC	0,007	1	1	1	0.125	0,03	0.25
MBC	4	4	2	8	512	16	32
MBC/MIC ratio	571	4	2	8	4,096	5,333	128
MBEC	16	64	512	512	128	32	64

TABLE 1 Antimicrobial susceptibility of planktonic and biofilm P. acnes

" The values are medians of triplicates. The MBC was determined by broth macrodilution at 48 h. The MBEC was determined by microcalorimetry.

ber of cages without *P. acnes* growth divided by the total number of cages in the individual treatment group.

P. acnes isolates recovered from animals receiving rifampin (alone or in combination) were tested for emergence of rifampin resistance using an Etest (AB Biodisk), as described above.

Statistics. Comparisons were performed by the Mann-Whitney U test for continuous variables and Fisher's exact test for categorical variables, as appropriate. For all tests, differences were considered significant when *P* values were <0.05. The graphs in the figures were plotted with Prism (version 5.04) software (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA).

RESULTS

Antimicrobial susceptibility of planktonic *P. acnes.* Table 1 summarizes the antimicrobial susceptibility of planktonic *P. acnes.* The MIC values were lowest for rifampin, clindamycin, and β -lactam antibiotics (<0.2 μ g/ml), whereas other antimicrobials all had an MIC of 1 μ g/ml. MIC values obtained by the broth macrodilution method were congruent with results obtained with the Etest assay (differences within one dilution). The MBCs were lower for levofloxacin, rifampin, and daptomycin ($\leq 4 \mu$ g/ml) than for vancomycin, penicillin G, and ceftriaxone (8 to 32 μ g/ml). Clindamycin was only bacteriostatic. The MBC/MIC ratio was ≤ 4 for daptomycin and levofloxacin, indicating their bactericidal activity. Rifampin had a higher MBC/MIC ratio, due to the extremely low MIC (0.007 μ g/ml) and not to a high MBC (2 μ g/ml). The bactericidal concentration is achievable *in vivo*.

Antimicrobial susceptibility of biofilm *P. acnes.* Figure 1 shows heat production by *P. acnes* biofilms of different ages. Young biofilms on glass beads (3 h old) were detected (e.g., heat flow exceeding 10 μ W) in \sim 30 h, whereas mature biofilms (72 h



FIG 1 Heat production of *P. acnes* in biofilm. Heat was produced by biofilm bacteria on sintered glass beads after 3 h, 24 h, and 72 h of biofilm formation (in duplicate). The dashed line marks the detection limit of 10 μ W. A sterile bead served as a negative control.

April 2012 Volume 56 Number 4

old) were detected in ~8 h. Beads without biofilm did not produce any detectable heat flow. Figure 2 shows heat produced by bacteria remaining on beads after a 24-h exposure to individual antimicrobials. The MBEC was considered the concentration inhibiting regrowth after 72 h of recovery, indicated by absence of detectable heat in the microcalorimeter. Rifampin (Fig. 2A) was the most active drug for eradicating biofilm *P. acnes in vitro* (MBEC, 16 μ g/ml), followed by daptomycin (Fig. 2B), penicillin G (Fig. 2F), and ceftriaxone (Fig. 2G), with an MBEC of \geq 32 μ g/ml. Clindamycin (Fig. 2E) showed activity only at 128 μ g/ml. Vancomycin (Fig. 2D) and levofloxacin (Fig. 2C) were even less active, inhibiting biofilm *P. acnes* only at 512 μ g/ml. Concentration-dependent antibiofilm activity was particularly observed with rifampin, daptomycin, and clindamycin.

Infection profile of planktonic *P. acnes* in animals. When both inocula were used, planktonic bacteria in the cage fluid decreased over time (Fig. 3). When the cages were explanted 16 days after infection, 25% of the implant-associated infections spontaneously healed after infection with the low inoculum. In contrast, after infection with the high inoculum, all infections persisted. When the infection was prolonged to 50 days, infection persisted in all 8 of the cages (100%) infected with the high inoculum, whereas 7 of the 8 cages (87.5%) infected with the low inoculum spontaneously cleared all bacteria.

In vitro activity on planktonic P. acnes. Figure 4 shows the bacterial density in aspirated cage fluid throughout the experiment. Three days after infection, before the start of treatment, the bacterial density in the cage fluid was \sim 6 log₁₀ CFU/ml. Spontaneous reduction of planktonic bacteria (-1.9 log₁₀ CFU/ml) was observed in the cage fluid of untreated control animals during the observation period (12 days). Compared to untreated animals (during and after therapy), a significantly greater reduction in planktonic bacteria was observed with all treatment regimens, except levofloxacin alone and levofloxacin plus rifampin.

In vivo activity on biofilm *P. acnes.* Figure 5 shows the cure rates of different antimicrobial regimens against biofilm *P. acnes.* No cure was observed in untreated animals (controls) and those receiving levofloxacin. Among single-drug therapies, rifampin was the most active antimicrobial, eradicating biofilms in 36% of infected cages, whereas daptomycin cured 4% and vancomycin 17% of cage infections. When combined with rifampin, the cure rate increased to 63% with daptomycin, 25% with levofloxacin, and 46% with vancomycin. No emergence of rifampin resistance was detected in animals receiving rifampin, either as a single drug or in combination treatment.

DISCUSSION

P. acnes is an emerging pathogen in implant-associated infections. The growing prevalence is at least partly an artifact. It can be

Furustrand Tafin et al.



FIG 2 MBECs determined by microcalorimetry. Shown is heat produced by recovering biofilm P_i *ucres* after a 24-h exposure to serial dilutions of rifampin (A), daptomycin (B), levofloxacin (C), vancomycin (D), clindamycin (E), penicillin G (F), and ceftriaxone (G). The MBECs are circled. The detection limit was 10 μ W.

explained by improved diagnostic tools, such as sonication of explanted material (25, 29, 32), optimized culture conditions for anaerobes (7), and implementation of various molecular assays (34). The optimal antimicrobial treatment for *P. acnes* infections associated with implants has not yet been determined. It is especially unknown whether rifampin plays a favorable role similar to that in implant-associated staphylococcal infection (1, 18, 33, 35, 39, 45). Therefore, we investigated the activity of antimicrobials against biofilms *in vitro* and *in vivo*, modifying a previously established animal model (44). Conventional antimicrobials commonly used against *P. acnes* (β -lactams, vancomycin, and clindamycin), antibiotics with bactericidal activity on planktonic bacteria (levofloxacin), and those showing antibiofilm activity (rifampin and daptomycin) (18) were tested.

A laboratory strain of *P. acnes* (ATCC 11827) was chosen, exhibiting a susceptibility pattern typically observed in clinical isolates (16). The MIC values of all tested drugs for this strain were low. In contrast, the MBCs of commonly used antimicrobials,

such as penicillin G (16 μ g/ml), ceftriaxone (32 μ g/ml), and clindamycin (512 μ g/ml), were high for *P. acnes* infections. Interestingly, rifampin, daptomycin, and levofloxacin demonstrated low MBCs ($\leq 4 \mu$ g/ml), suggesting superior killing of planktonic *P. acnes*.

In order to investigate the activities of antimicrobials against *P. acnes* biofilms *in vitro*, a microcalorimetry assay with glass beads was used. This assay allowed quantification of biofilm remaining on beads after previous exposure to the antimicrobial drug. Microcalorimetry was recently evaluated for testing antifungal activity on *Candida* sp. biofilms (E. Maiolo, U. Furustrand, D. Sanglard, and A. Trampuz, presented at the 51st Interscience Conference on Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, Chicago, IL, 17 to 20 September 2011). In this study, the microcalorimetric assay (as shown by the MBEC values in Table 1) demonstrated the highest activity against *P. acnes* biofilm by rifampin, followed by penicillin G. Levofloxacin was the least active antimicrobial against *P. acnes* biofilms, despite bactericidal activity

Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy



FIG 3 Infection profile of *P. acues* in a foreign-body guinea pig infection model. Shown are bacterial loads in aspirated cage fluid during 50 days of infection and the percentages of culture-positive explanted cages after 16 days and 50 days of infection using a low infection inoculum of 5×10^7 CFU/cage (A) and a high infection inoculum of 1×10^9 CFU/cage (B). The values are means \pm standard deviation.

against planktonic *P. acues.* Since guinea pigs do not tolerate β -lactams and clindamycin (showing gastrointestinal disturbance), these antimicrobials (and their combinations) could not be tested *in vivo* (reference 44 and unpublished observations).

When a high infection inoculum $(10^9 \text{ CFU}/\text{cage})$ was injected into the tissue cage fluid of guinea pigs, *P. acnes* persisted on implanted cages for 50 days, despite spontaneous clearance of planktonic *P. acnes* from aspirated cage fluid. This finding highlights the great ability of *P. acnes* to adhere to the implant surface and its change from the planktonic to the biofilm phenotype. Indeed, it is a clinical observation that *P. acnes* is not often detected in cerebrospinal fluid or synovial fluid aspirated from prosthetic joints.

For treatment studies, a high inoculum (10^9 CFU/cage) was chosen, and antimicrobial treatment was started 3 days after infection. These conditions were modified from previous studies using methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (1, 18) and *Enterococcus faecalis* (12) in order to mimic a delayed, low-grade infection by *P. acnes*. In the untreated group, the number of planktonic *P. acnes* cells decreased over time. All treatment regimens reduced planktonic *P. acnes* significantly more than the spontaneous reduction in the untreated group, except levofloxacin and levofloxacin plus rifampin. The most efficient regimen against *P. acnes* biofilms *in vivo* was the combination of daptomycin and rifampin, achieving a cure rate of 63%. In our study, rifampin was the most efficient single drug, with a cure rate of 36%.

Limited data exist about treatment outcomes in a clinical setting. Rifampin in various combinations has been used in the treatment of complicated *P. acnes* infections, often involving implants (17, 20, 21, 30, 41). Penicillin G, linezolid, and linezolid plus rifampin were investigated against *in vitro P. acnes* biofilms after 14 days of exposure (3); no regrowth was detected with penicillin G and linezolid plus rifampin. A case report described a successful treatment of *Propionbacterium* sp. skull osteomyelitis with daptomycin (13), suggesting that the antimicrobial may be used for *P. acnes* bone infections.

To our knowledge, emergence of rifampin resistance has not yet been reported in *Propionibacterium* species. Resistance was, however, described for antimicrobials used for treatment of acne



FIG 4 Treatment efficacy against planktonic *P. acnes.* Shown are the bacterial loads in cage fluid aspirated during treatment (white bars) and 5 days after treatment (black bars). The values are means and standard deviations (SD). DAP, daptomycin; VAN, vancomycin; LEVO, levofloxacin; RIF, rifampin. The treatment groups are compared to the control during treatment and after treatment. *, $P \le 0.05$; **, $P \le 0.01$; ***, $P \le 0.005$; ns, not significant.

April 2012 Volume 56 Number 4

aac.asm.org 1889

Furustrand Tafin et al.



FIG 5 Treatment activity against biofilm *P. acnes*. Shown are the cure rates of adherent bacteria from explanted cages. The percentages above the columns indicate the cure rates. *, *P* < 0.05; **, *P* < 0.01; ***, *P* < 0.005.

vulgaris, including MLS antibiotics (macrolides, lincosamides, and streptogramins), such as clarithromycin and clindamycin (23). No rifampin-resistant *P. acnes* isolate was observed in rifampin treatment failures in our animal model.

In summary, rifampin showed the highest activity against *P. acnes* biofilms as a single drug, both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. The combination of rifampin and daptomycin was the most active regimen against experimental *P. acnes* biofilms. Based on *in vitro* biofilm studies, the combination of rifampin and penicillin G or ceftriaxone may represent alternative options, but we were not able to investigate this in the animal model. The present study has important clinical implications, since it may initiate clinical studies with the above-mentioned antimicrobial regimens. This topic is also important because *P. acnes* implant-associated infections are expected to continue to increase in the future, and an optimal regimen needs to be defined.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation (K-32K1_120531).

We thank Alain Bizzini, Stefano Giulieri, and Ioana Raluca Mihailescu for critical review of the manuscript and Zarko Rajacic for practical advice.

REFERENCES

- Baldoni D, Haschke M, Rajacic Z, Zimmerli W, Trampuz A. 2009. Linezolid alone or combined with rifampin against methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* in experimental foreign-body infection. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 53:1142–1148.
- Bayston R, et al. 2007. Biofilm formation by *Propionibacterium acnes* on biomaterials in vitro and in vivo: impact on diagnosis and treatment. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A 81:705–709.
- Bayston R, Nuradeen B, Ashraf W, Freeman BJ. 2007. Antibiotics for the eradication of *Propionibacterium acnes* biofilms in surgical infection. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 60:1298–1301.
- Bemer P, et al. 2008. Significance of *Propionibacterium acnes*-positive samples in spinal instrumentation. Spine 33:E971–E976.
- Blaser J, Vergeres P, Widmer AF, Zimmerli W. 1995. In vivo verification of in vitro model of antibiotic treatment of device-related infection. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 39:1134–1139.
- Boling EA, Blanchard GC, Russell WJ. 1973. Bacterial identification by microcalorimetry. Nature 241:472–473.
- 7. Butler-Wu SM, et al. 2011. Optimization of periprosthetic culture for the

diagnosis of *Propionibacterium acnes* prosthetic joint infection. J. Clin. Microbiol. 49:2490-2495.

- Clauss M, Trampuz A, Borens O, Bohner M, and Illchmann T. 2010. Biofilm formation on bone grafts and bone graft substitutes: comparison of different materials by a standard in vitro test and by microcalorimetry. Acza Biomater. 6:3791–3797.
- Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute. 1999. Methods for determining bactericidal activity of antimicrobial agents; approved guideline M26-A. CLSI, Wayne, PA.
- Conen A, et al. 2008. Characteristics and treatment outcome of cerebrospinal fluid shunt-associated infections in adults: a retrospective analysis over an 11-year period. Clin. Infect. Dis. 47:73–82.
- Del Pozo JL, et al. 2009. Pilot study of association of bacteria on breast implants with capsular contracture. J. Clin. Microbiol. 47:1333–1337.
- Furustrand Tafin U, et al. 2011. Gentamicin improves the activities of daptomycin and vancomycin against *Enterococcus faecalis in vitro* and in an experimental foreign-body infection model. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 55:4821–4827.
- Ghosh M, Talwani R, Gilliam BL. 2009. Propionibacterium skull osteomyelitis treated with daptomycin. Clin. Neurol. Neurosurg. 111:610–612.
- Haidar R, Najjar M, Der BA, Tabbarah Z. 2010. Propionibacterium acnes causing delayed postoperative spine infection: review, Scand. J. Infect. Dis. 42:405–411.
- Hall GS, et al. 1995. Minimum bactericidal concentrations of *Propionibacterium acnes* isolates from cases of chronic endophthalmitis. Diagn. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 21:187–190.
- Hoeffler U, Ko HL, Pulverer G. 1976. Antimicrobiol. susceptibility of *Propinibacterium acnes* and related microbial species. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother, 10:387–394.
- Jakab E, et al. 1996. Severe infections caused by *Propionibacterium acnes*: an underestimated pathogen in late postoperative infections. Yale J. Biol. Med. 69:477–482.
- John AK, et al. 2009. Efficacy of daptomycin in implant-associated infection due to methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*: importance of combination with rifampin. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 53:2719– 2724.
- Kowalski TJ, et al. 2007. The management and outcome of spinal implant infections: contemporary retrospective cohort study. Clin. Infect. Dis. 44: 913–920.
- Levy PY, et al. 2008. Propionibacterium acnes postoperative shoulder arthritis: an emerging clinical entity. Clin. Infect. Dis. 46:1884–1886.
- Lutz MF, et al. 2005. Arthroplastic and osteosynthetic infections due to *Propionibacterium acnes*: a retrospective study of 52 cases, 1995–2002. Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 24:739–744.
- Mathur T, Bhateja P, Pandya M, Fatma T, Rattan A. 2004. In vitro activity of RBx 7644 (ranbezolid) on biofilm producing bacteria. Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents 24:369–373.

Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy

- Nord CE, Oprica C. 2006. Antibiotic resistance in Propionibacterium acnes. Microbiological and clinical aspects. Anaerobe 12:207–210.
- Perry AL, Lambert PA. 2006. Propionibacterium acnes. Lett. Appl. Microbiol. 42:185–188.
- Piper KE, et al. 2009. Microbiologic diagnosis of prosthetic shoulder infection by use of implant sonication. J. Clin. Microbiol. 47:1878–1884.
 Ramage G, Tunney MM, Patrick S, Gorman SP, Nixon JR. 2003.
- Ramage G, Tunney MM, Patrick S, Gorman SP, Nixon JR. 2003. Formation of *Propionibacterium acnes* biofilms on orthopaedic biomaterials and their susceptibility to antimicrobials. Biomaterials 24:3221–3227.
- Rieger UM, Pierer G, Luscher NJ, Trampuz A. 2009. Sonication of removed breast implants for improved detection of subclinical infection. Aesthetic Plast Surg. 33:404–408.
- Rohacek M, et al. 2010. Bacterial colonization and infection of electrophysiological cardiac devices detected with sonication and swab culture. Circulation 121:1691–1697.
- Sampedro MF, et al. 2010. A biofilm approach to detect bacteria on removed spinal implants. Spine 35:1218–1224.
- Soderquist B, Holmberg A, Unemo M. 2010. Propionibacterium acnes as an etiological agent of arthroplastic and osteosynthetic infections—two cases with specific clinical presentation including formation of draining fistulae. Anaerobe 16:304–306.
- Trampuz A, et al. 2007. Efficacy of a novel rifamycin derivative, ABI-0043, against Staphylococcus aureus in an experimental model of foreignbody infection. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 51:2540–2545.
- Trampuz A, et al. 2007. Sonication of removed hip and knee prostheses for diagnosis of infection. N. Engl. J. Med. 357:654–663.
- Trampuz A, Widmer AF. 2006. Infections associated with orthopedic implants. Curr. Opin. Infect. Dis. 19:349–356.
- Tunney MM, et al. 1999. Detection of prosthetic hip infection at revision arthroplasty by immunofluorescence microscopy and PCR amplification of the bacterial 16S rRNA gene, J. Clin. Microbiol. 37:3281–3290.
- 35. Vergidis P, et al. 2011. Treatment with linezolid or vancomycin in com-

bination with rifampin is effective in an animal model of methicillinresistant *Staphylococcus aureus* foreign body osteomyelitis. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother, **55**:1182–1186.

- Wadsö I. 2001. Isothermal microcalorimety: current problems and prospects. J. Therm Anal. Calorim. 64:75–84.
- Webster GF, Leyden JJ, Musson RA, Douglas SD. 1985. Susceptibility of Propionibacterium acnes to killing and degradation by human neutrophils and monocytes in vitro. Infect. Immun. 49:116–121.
- Widmer AF, Frei R, Rajacic Z, Zimmerli W. 1990. Correlation between in vivo and in vitro efficacy of antimicrobial agents against foreign body infections. J. Infect. Dis. 162:96–102.
- Widmer AF, Gaechter A, Ochsner PE, Zimmerli W. 1992. Antimicrobial treatment of orthopedic implant-related infections with rifampin combinations. Clin. Infect. Dis. 14:1251–1253.
- Zappe B, Graf S, Ochsner PE, Zimmerli W, Sendi P. 2008. Propionibacterium spp. in prosthetic joint infections: a diagnostic challenge. Arch. Orthop. Trauma Surg. 128:1039–1046.
- Orthop, Trauma Surg. 128:1039–1046. 41. Zeller V, et al. 2007. Propionibacterium acnes: an agent of prosthetic joint infection and colonization. J. Infect. 55:119–124.
- Zimmerli W, Frei R, Widmer AF, Rajacic Z. 1994. Microbiological tests to predict treatment outcome in experimental device-related infections due to Staphylococcus aureus. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 33:959–967.
- Zimmerli W, Trampuz A, Ochsner PE. 2004. Prosthetic-joint infections. N. Engl. J. Med. 351:1645–1654.
- Zimmerli W, Waldvogel FA, Vaudaux P, Nydegger UE. 1982. Pathogenesis of foreign body infection: description and characteristics of an animal model. J. Infect. Dis. 146:487–497.
- Zimmerli W, Widmer AF, Blatter M, Frei R, Ochsner PE. 1998. Role of rifampin for treatment of orthopedic implant-related staphylococcal infections: a randomized controlled trial. Foreign-Body Infection (FBI) Study Group. JAMA 279:1537–1541.

April 2012 Volume 56 Number 4

aac.asm.org 1891

Chapter 5.

In vitro emergence of rifampicin resistance in *Propionibacterium acnes* and molecular characterization of mutations in the *rpoB* gene.

Ulrika Furustrand Tafin, Andrej Trampuz, Stéphane Corvec

Accepted for publication in Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy, 29 September 2012

Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy Advance Access published October 31, 2012

J Antimicrob Chemother doi:10.1093/jac/dks428

In vitro emergence of rifampicin resistance in Propionibacterium acnes and molecular characterization of mutations in the rpoB gene

Ulrika Furustrand Tafin¹, Andrej Trampuz^{1*} and Stéphane Corvec²

¹Infectious Diseases Service, Department of Medicine, Lausanne University Hospital, Lausanne, Switzerland; ²Institut de Biologie des Hôpitaux de Nantes, Service de Bactériologie-Hygiène, CHU de Nantes, Nantes, France

*Corresponding author. Tel: +41-21-314-3992; Fax: +41-21-314-2876; E-mail: andrej.trampuz@chuv.ch

Received 30 August 2012; returned 22 September 2012; revised 27 September 2012; accepted 29 September 2012

Objectives: Activity of rifampicin against *Propianibacterium acnes* biofilms was recently demonstrated, but rifampicin resistance has not yet been described in this organism. We investigated the *in vitro* emergence of rifampicin resistance in *P. acnes* and characterized its molecular background.

Methods: *P. acnes* ATCC 11827 was used (MIC 0.007 mg/L). The mutation rate was determined by inoculation of 10⁹ cfu of *P. acnes* on rifampicin-containing agar plates incubated anaerobically for 7 days. Progressive emergence of resistance was studied by serial exposure to increasing concentrations of rifampicin in 72 h cycles using a low (10⁶ cfu/mL) and high (10⁸ cfu/mL) inoculum. The stability of resistance was determined ofter three subcultures of rifampicin-resistant isolates on rifampicin-free agar. For resistant mutants, the whole *rpoB* gene was amplified, sequenced and compared with a *P. acnes* reference sequence (NC006085).

Results: *P. acnes* growth was observed on rifampicin-containing plates with mutation rates of $2 \pm 1 \text{ cfu} \times 10^{-9}$ (4096× MIC) and $12\pm5 \text{ cfu} \times 10^{-9}$ (4× MIC). High-level rifampicin resistance emerged progressively after 4 (high inoculum) and 13 (low inoculum) cycles. In rifampicin-resistant isolates, the MIC remained >32 mg/L after three subcultures. Mutations were detected in clusters I (amino acids 418–444) and II (amino acids 471–486) of the *rpoB* gene after sequence alignment with a *Staphylococcus aureus* reference sequence (CAA45512). The five following substitutions were found: His-437 → Tyr, Ser-442 → Leu, Leu-444 → Ser, Ile-483 → Vol and Ser-485 → Leu.

Conclusion: The rifompicin MIC increased from highly susceptible to highly resistant values. The resistance remained stable and was associated with mutations in the *rpoB* gene. To our knowledge, this is the first report of the emergence of rifompicin resistance in *P. acnes.*

Keywords: biofilm, implant-related infections, combinations

Introduction

Propionibacterium acnes is increasingly recognized as the cause of foreign-body infections, including those involving prosthetic joints, spine hardware and ventriculo peritoneal shunts.¹⁻³ *P. acnes* is highly susceptible to a wide range of antimicrobials, including clindamycin, β -lactams and quinolones.⁴ However, the optimal treatment regimen of *P. acnes* biofilm infections has not been defined. The efficiency of rifampicin for the eradication of *P. acnes* biofilms has been demonstrated *in vitra*⁵ and, recently, *in vivo* in an animal model of foreign-body infection.⁶

Rifompicin acts by interacting with the B-subunit of the bacterial RNA polymerase encoded by the *rpoB* gene.⁷ Alignment of the *rpoB* gene sequence from different species has confirmed conserved domains among the sequences.⁸ Resistance to rifampicin has been described in several bacterial species, such as *Staphylococcus aureus*,⁹ *Escherichia coli*,¹⁰ *Streptococcus pyogenes*¹¹ and *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*,¹² Resistance is generally due to point mutations in the *rpoB* gene leading to a reduced binding between the antibiotic and the enzyme. Mutations particularly occur in the conserved domains of cluster I (amino acids 507–533), cluster II (amino acids 563–572) and cluster III (amino acids 684–690), according to *E. coli* numbering,¹³

Journal of Antimicrobial

Chemotherapy

The aim of this study was to investigate the emergence of rifampicin resistance in *P. acnes in vitro* and whether combination with an additional antimicrobial agent can prevent the emergence of rifompicin resistance. In addition, the molecular background of rifompicin resistance in *P. acnes* isolates was characterized.

© The Author 2012, Published by Oxford University Press on behalf of the British Society for Antimicrobial Chemotherapy. All rights reserved. For Permissions, please e-mail: journals.permissions@oup.com

1 of 6

Materials and methods

Study organism

All experiments were performed with *P.* acres strain AICC 11827. The MICs of rifampicin, clindamycin, penicillin G, daptomycin and levofloxacinwere 0.007, 0.125, 0.03, 1 and 1 mg/L, respectively.⁶ Bacteria were stared at -70° C by using the cryovial bead preservation system (Microbank; Pro-Lab Diagnostics, Richmond Hill, Ontario, Canado). For inaculum preparation, one bead was spread an a blaad agar plate and incubated for 72 h. One distinct colony was resuspended in 10 mL of reduced brain heart infusion (BHI) and incubated at 37°C for another 72 h. All incubations were performed in anaerobic conditions using an AnaeroGenTM system (Oxoid, Basingstoke, Hampshire, UK) at 37°C.

Antimicrobial agents

Rifampicin powder (prepared in sterile water, 60 mg/mL; Sandoz AG, Steinhausen, Switzerland), clindamycin powder (prepared in sterile water 200 mg/mL; Sigma), levofloxacin solution (5 mg/mL; Sanafi Aventis Pharma AG, Zurich, Switzerland) and pencillin G (25 mg/mL; Grünenthal Pharma AG, Mitlödi, Switzerland) were purchased from the respective manufacturers. Daptomycin powder was supplied by Novartis Pharma AG (Bern, Switzerland). A stock solution of 50 mg/mL was prepared in sterile 0.9% soline.

Rifampicin resistance studies

For the analysis of spontaneous rifampicin resistance, agar-based singlestep mutation studies were performed, as previously described.¹⁴ Brucella agar supplemented with vitamin K, haemin and horse blood prepared according to CLSI M1-A7 guidelines was used.¹⁵ Briefly, a large inaculum (10⁹ cfu) of the bacteria was spread on Brucella agar plates containing rifampicin concentrations of 4x and 4096x MIC, corresponding to 0.03 and 32 mg/L, respectively. The lower concentration corresponded to an increased MIC that is still in the susceptible range (0.03 mg/L) and the higher concentration corresponded to full resistance (32 mg/L). The plates were incubated for 5–7 days before the colonies were enumerated. The spontaneous resistance rate was colculated from the number of colonies that grew on plates containing drug versus the number of colonies that grew on drug-free agar.

Table 1.	. Frimers designed to amplify and sequence the rpd	oB gene of
P. ocnes		

Primer	Primer sequence $(5' \rightarrow 3')$	Location®
PARI-1	CCATAGCGTTGTCGGCAC	+3472 to 3455
PARI-2	GGTGTCAACGAGCATCTCG	+2975 to 2958
PARI-3	CCGGTTTGCTGCAGTACG	+2912 to 2930
PARI-4	CCTTCGGAGTGACCTTGC	+2386 to 2369
PARI-5	GGCATCGTGCGTATCGGT	+2320 to +2337
PARI-6	GCTGCATATTCGCGCCCA.	+1805 to +1788
PARI-7	CCATTCCTCGAGCACGAC	+1751 to 1770
PARI-8	GGCCICAATGTCCTGCGT	+1191 to +1174
PARI-9	CCAGAACCAGTIGCGIACC	+1113 to +1132
PARI-10	CGACGGGATCACCTTACAG	+582 to 564
PARI-11	1GGTGTCCCAGTTGG1GC	+484 to +502
PARI-12	GCGTACCGCGTCGAAGAA	+12 to +29

⁸According to the P. acnes rpoB gene reference sequence.

2 of 6

For progressive rifampicin resistance selection, a protocol adapted from Entenza et al.^{36,12} was used. Briefly, bacteria were exposed to serial 2-fold increasing concentrations of rifampicin in BHI for a total of 10 cycles, each cycle being 72 h. A series of tubes containing 2-fold increasing concentrations of rifampicin were inoculated with either 10° or 10° cfu/mL (final concentration). Following incubation, the MIC of rifampicin was read and 1 mL (for 10° cfu/mL) or 0.1 mL (for 10° cfu/mL) samples from the tubes containing the highest antibiotic concentration, and still showing turbidity, were used to inoculate a new series of tubes containing antibiotic dilutions. The experiments were performed twice.

To investigate whether a secondary agent could prevent the emergence of rifampicin resistance, experiments were performed as described above in the presence of 0.25× MIC of daptomycin, clindamycin, levoflaxacin or pericillin G, for a total of 10 cycles using an inactilum of 10° cfu/mL. A subinhibitary concentration of the second drug was used to allow bacterial growth. The MIC of rifampicin was read after each cycle. After the last cycle, the MICs of the combination drugs were determined by macrobroth dilution, as previously described.⁶ For combination studies including daptomycin, growth media were supplemented with 50 mg/L Ca^{2+} .

The stability of all rifompicin-resistant isolates was confirmed by subculture on rifompicin-free agar three times. The MIC of rifompicin was then retested by Etest (bioMerieux SA, Marcy l'Etoile, France) using an inoculum of 1 McFarland and anaerabic includation for 48 h. All resistant isolates were identified by biochemical tests and confirmed by matrixassisted laser desarption/ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry with a Bruker Daltonic mass spectrometer.

Detection of mutations in the rpoB gene in rifampicin-resistant P. acnes isolates

Total DNA from P. acres ATCC 11827 and isogenic resistant isolates was extracted using the InstaGene Matrix method (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA). The procedure was performed according to the monufacturer's instructions. After centrifugation, the supernatant was used as DNA template for PCR analysis.

The whole page gene, including the rifampicin resistance-determining region in the pag gene of E. $coll^{10}$ and S. aureus,¹⁸ was amplified by PCR. Different sets of primers were designed according to the sequence alignment of four strains (GenBank accession numbers CP002815, CP002409, NC006085 and CP001977) and are presented in Table 1. Six overlapping regions of the rpoB gene from P. aches were amplified: a 571 bp fragment from nucleotide positions +12 to +582; a 708 bp fragment from nucleotide positions +484 to +1191; a 593 bp fragment from nucleotide positions +1113 to +1805; a 636 bp fragment from nucleotide positions +1751 to +2386; a 656 bp fragment from nucleotide positions +2320 to +2975; and a 561 bp fragment from nucleotide positions +2912 to +3472, corresponding to the whole genome (P. acnes coordinates using P. acnes KPA171202; GenBank accession number NC006085). PCR was performed in a final volume of 50 µL containing 10 mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.3), 50 mM KCl, 2.5 mM MgCl₂, 200 µM of each nucleotide, 0.5 µM of each primer and 2.5 U of Tag DNA polymerase (Phusion® High-Fidelity DNA Polymerase; Finnzymes, Illkirch, France). The PCR conditions were as follows: a 90 s first step of denaturation at 94°C, 30 cycles with 60 s of denaturation at 94°C, 60 s of hybridization at 55°C and 60 s of extension at 72°C, with a final extension step of 7 min at 72°C.

The PCR fragments were purified and sequenced using the ABI PRISM BigDye Terminator VI.1 Cycle Sequencing Ready Reaction Kit (Applied Biosystems, Courtaboeuf, France). Sequence analysis was performed an a 3130XL Genetic Analyzer DNA sequencer (Applied Biosystems, Courtaboeuf, France). The sequence of the *poB* gene was compared with that of the *poB* gene of the *P* acres reference strain (GenBank accession number NC006085) using different free software available on the



Figure 1. Progressive emergence of rifampicin (RIF) resistance in *P. acnes* using two different inocula (a) and in combination with 0.25× MIC of daptomycin (DAP), levofloxacin (LVX), clindamycin (CLI) or penicillin G (PEN) using an inoculum of 10⁶ cfu/mL (b).

3 of 6

Internet (http://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi, http://www.genome.jp/ tools/clustalw/ and http://web.expasy.org/translate/).

Results

Resistance studies

To determine the rate of spontaneous emergence of resistance, bacteria were exposed to rifompicin concentrations equal to $4\times$ and $4096\times$ MIC (0.03 and 32 mg/L). The mutation rate was $12\pm5\times10^{-9}$ and $2\pm1\times10^{-9}$ cfu for the low and high rifompicin concentrations, respectively. After three subcultures on rifompicinfree agar plates, the MIC remained 0.03 and >32 mg/L, as determined by Etest for the *P. acnes* derived from plates containing $4\times$ and $4096\times$ MIC of rifompicin, respectively.

Figure 1(a) demonstrates the results of rifampicin resistance selection during continuous exposure of bacteria to 2-fold increasing concentrations of rifampicin using two different inocula, 10^8 and 10^6 cfu/mL. An increase in the MIC was rapidly observed when using a high bacterial concentration, with an MIC of 32 mg/L being observed after four cycles. With a lower inoculum, the MIC increased gradually, with full resistance (MIC 32 mg/L) being observed after 13 cycles.

The addition of a secondary agent did not prevent resistance development when using a high inoculum (data not shown). Figure 1(b) shows the selection of rifampicin resistance, alone and in combination with $0.25 \times$ MIC of clindamycin, penicillin G, levofloxacin and daptomycin, using an inoculum of 10^6 cfu/mL. The addition of clindamycin, levofloxacin and penicillin G to the cultures prevented the selection of highly resistant isolates during 10 cycles and the MIC remained <0.06 mg/L. Daptomycin delayed the increase in the MIC of rifampicin, but did not prevent the emergence of resistance. No increase in the MICs of the secondary antimicrobials used in the combination studies was observed.

Molecular characterization of the rpoB gene in rifampicin-resistant isolates

The *rpoB* gene of rifampicin-resistant *P. acnes* isolates, deriving from plates containing 0.03 mg/L (named PARif1–2, exhibiting reduced susceptibility) and 32 mg/L (named PARif3–5, expressing resistance), and from cycle 10 in the cycling experiment using a high inoculum (named PARif6, expressing resistance), was sequenced. The five different amino substitutions detected in the isolates are summarized in Toble 2. Figure 2 shows the alignment of the *rpoB* gene sequences, including clusters I and II, of *E. coli* (GenBank accession number L27989),²¹ *S. aureus* (GenBank accession number L27989),²¹ *S. aureus* (GenBank accession number NC006085)¹⁹ reference strains. The amino acid substitutions found in *P. acnes* are indicated by arrows, and previously described mutations in other species are underlined and in bold.

Sequencing of isolates deriving from previous cycles (cycles 3-10) in the cycling experiment revealed that the amino acid substitutions in PARif6 Ser-442 \rightarrow Leu (cluster I) and Ile-483 \rightarrow Val (cluster II) had occurred after four and nine cycles of exposure, respectively.

Table 2. Amino acid substitutions found in rifampicin-resistant ${\ensuremath{\mathbb R}}$ acres isolates

Isolate	Rifampicin MIC (mg/L) ^a	Amino acid substitution	GenBank accessio number						
PARif1	0.03	Ser-485→Leu	JX501524						
PARif2	0.03	Leu-444-> Ser	JX501525						
PARif3	>32	His 437 → Tyr	JX501526						
PARif4	>32	His-437 → Tyr	JX501526						
PARifs	>32	Ser-442→Leu	JX501527						
PARif6	>256	Ser-442 \rightarrow Leu Ile-483 \rightarrow Val	JX501528						

^oThe MIC was determined by Etest, except for PARif6, where microbroth dilution was used.

Discussion

We describe, for the first time to our knowledge, the amino acid substitutions conferring rifompicin resistance in P. ocnes. Three substitutions were detected in cluster I of the rpoB gene associated with either high- or low-level resistance. Interestingly, the position of the amino acid change His-437 -> Tyr found in PARif3 and PARif4 (MIC 32 mg/L) corresponded to the position of the His-481 → Tyr substitution conferring high-level rifampicin resistance in 5. aureus.9,18 In M. tuberculosis, mutations conferring rifampicin resistance are mainly located in an 81 bp hot-spot region of cluster L12 Sequence alignment of the rpoB gene of M. tuberculosis and P. acnes revealed that the substitutions Ser-442 \rightarrow Leu (PARif6) and Leu-444 \rightarrow Ser (PARif2), associated with high and low resistance, respectively, were located within this conserved region. Two amino acid changes were detected in cluster II: Ile-483 \rightarrow Val and Ser-485 \rightarrow Leu, of which the first was a secondary mutation in the already resistant P. acnes isolate, PARif6, and the second was detected in an isolate exhibiting only low-level resistance. These codons (483 and 485) correspond to codons previously described to confer rifampicin resistance in S. aureus (527 and 529)¹⁸ and E. coli (572 and 574).¹⁰ During progressive exposure to rifompicin, a double-mutant

During progressive exposure to rifompicin, a double-mutant was obtained and sequencing demonstrated that the first mutation (Ser-442 \rightarrow Leu) accurred in cluster I after four cycles of exposure, leading to a major increase in the rifompicin MIC, whereas the second mutation (Ile-483 \rightarrow Val) accurred in cluster II after nine cycles of exposure and did not increase the MIC further. The frequency of the Ile-483 \rightarrow Val mutation is presumably lower and could imply there is a fitness cost associated with the drug resistance.²⁴

We observed that rifampicin resistance emerged rapidly, if the bacterial load was high, expressing a mutation rate of $2\pm1\times10^{-9}$. Compared with rifompicin resistance mutation rates of $10^{-7}-10^{-9}$ in *S. aureus* and *E. coli*,^{9,25} the low mutation rate in *P. acnes* may reflect its slow growth rate. Mutation rates in high-density *P. acnes* biofilms have not yet been investigated. The emergence of rifampicin resistance in *P. acnes* biofilms needs further investigation, since this risk has important consequences in the treatment of implant-associated infections, such as prosthetic valve endocarditis, neurosurgical shunt and prosthetic joint infections.

507

E. coli

														57	ic
2															
te	rI														-11
P	Ŧ	5	E	I	T	Ŧ	ĸ	R	R	I	\$	ž	Ŧ		533
1	1			7	-	1					1.				1.1

ΙΛΙ

M. tuberculosis	432	1	T	2	2	2	:	*	\$:	1	*	*	2	•	1	\$	G	L	*	-	*	*	•	L	-	*	1	45
S. aureus	462	•	•	2	•	*		1	•	*	2	*	A	•		•	Ā	*	L	•	:	•	*	2	L	*	•		48
			-	-	-			_	-	-		-	-			-	-	-	-	-	¥	1		-		+	1	¥	
P. acnes	418		т		*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	A	*	M	*	*	*	*	*	L		*	*	44
			-	_												-	-		-		Y				1	L		s	
														Ch	ster	п										_			
E. coli	560						P	1	E	I	P	E	G	P	N	I	G	L	I	N	ş	L							575
M. tuberculosis	485		_			-		*	*	•	*		. *	*	*	*	*	*	*	G	*	*		_	_				500
S. aureus	515						*	.*	*		*	*			*	•	*	*	-		2	*	-	_					530
			-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	¥		¥		-	-	-	_	_	_	
P. acnes	471		_				*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	•	G	*	*	2						486
							_	-										-	v		L	1							

Cin

GSSQLSQFMDQNN

Figure 2. Amino acid sequence comparison of clusters I and II of the rpo8 gene of E. coli, M. tuberculosis, S. aureus and P. acnes. Identical amino acids are indicated by an asterisk. Downward-pointing arrows indicate amino acid substitutions detected in rifomplein-resistant P. acnes isolates. Positions involved in rifomplein resistance in E. coli, M. tuberculosis and S. aureus are underlined and in bold.

To prevent the emergence of resistance, rifampicin is administered in combination with another antimicrobial agent. In an animal model of foreign-body infection, the emergence of rifampicin resistance in methicillin-resistant 5. aureus was prevented when the drug was administered in combination with levolloxa-cin or daptomycin.²⁶ In this study, we investigated the potential of levofloxacin and daptomycin, as well as two other antimicrobials commonly used in the treatment of P. acnes infections (clindamycin and penicillin G), for preventing the emergence of rifampicin resistance in vitro. High-level rifampicin resistance was prevented by the addition of clindamycin, levofloxacin and penicillin G when the bocterial inoculum was in the range of 10⁶ cfu/mL, whereas none of the antimicrobials tested was able to prevent resistance if the bacterial concentration was elevoted (10⁸ cfu/mL). Daptomycin was not able to completely prevent rifampicin resistance; however, no increase in the MIC of doptomycin was observed despite continuous exposure to a subinhibitory concentration of the drug.

The impact of rifampicin resistance in *P. acnes* in clinical practice is unknown. Importantly, the rifampicin resistance in our experimental setting was stable when the antibiotic pressure was removed, both for low-level and high-level resistance. In future studies, testing of the stable isolates in a foreign-body infection animal model, which was adapted for *P. acnes*,⁶ will allow investigation of the influence of low- and high-level rifampicin resistance on the treatment outcome. In addition, the use of rifampicin combinations, especially with clindamycin, levofloxacin and penicillin G, needs to be evaluated *in viva* to determine the potential of these antimicrobials for the prevention of resistance.

In conclusion, we demonstrated that rifompicin resistance in *P. acnes* can easily be selected *in vitro* and can be prevented by combination with levofloxacin, clindamycin and penicillin G. Rifompicin resistance was associated with point mutations concentrated in clusters I and II of the *rpoB* gene and occurred in codons conferring rifompicin resistance in other bacterial species.

Acknowledgements

We are very grateful to Guillaume Aubin (Masters student) and the laboratory technicians Chloe Chaillou and Sandie Delanou for their technical assistance at Nantes University Hospital with the molecular techniques.

Funding

This study was supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation (K-32K1_120531) and Stanley Thomas Johnson Foundation.

Transparency declaration

None to declare.

References

1 Achermann Y, Vogt M, Leunig M *et al*. Improved diagnosis of periprosthetic joint infection by multiplex PCR of sonication fluid from removed implants. *J Clin Microbiol* 2010; **48**: 1208–14.

2 Piper KE, Jacobson MJ, Cofield RH *et al.* Microbiologic diagnosis of prosthetic shoulder infection by use of implant sonication. *J Clin Microbiol* 2009; **47**: 1878–84.

3 Butler-Wu SM, Burns EM, Pottinger PS *et al*. Optimization of periprosthetic culture for the diagnosis of *Propionibacterium acnes* prosthetic joint infection. *J Clin Microbiol* 2011; **49**: 2490–5.

4 Hoeffler U, Ko HL, Pulverer G. Antimicrobial susceptibility of *Propionibacterium acnes* and related microbial species. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* **1976**; **10**: 387–94.

5 Bayston R, Nuradeen B, Ashraf W *et al*. Antibiotics for the eradication of *Propionibacterium acnes biofilms in surgical infection*. *J Antimicrob Chemother* 2007; **60**: 1298–301.

6 Furustrand Tafin U, Corvec S, Betrisey B *et al*. Role of rifampin against *Propionibacterium acnes* biofilm *in vitro* and in an experimental foreign-body infection model. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2012; **56**: 1885–91.

7 Campbell EA, Korzheva N, Mustaev A *et al*. Structural mechanism for rifampicin inhibition of bacterial RNA polymerase. *Cell* 2001; **104**: 901–12.

8 Adekambi T, Drancourt M, Raoult D. The *rpoB* gene as a tool for clinical microbiologists. *Trends Microbiol* 2009; **17**: 37–45.

9 Aubry-Damon H, Soussy CJ, Courvalin P. Characterization of mutations in the *rpoB* gene that confer rifampin resistance in *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 1998; **42**: 2590–4.

10 Jin DJ, Gross CA. Mapping and sequencing of mutations in the *Escherichia coli rpoB* gene that lead to rifampicin resistance. *J Mol Biol* 1988; **202**: 45–58.

11 Aubry-Damon H, Galimand M, Gerbaud G *et al. rpoB* mutation conferring rifampin resistance in *Streptococcus pyogenes*. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2002; **46**: 1571–3.

12 Telenti A, Imboden P, Marchesi F et al. Detection of rifampicinresistance mutations in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. Lancet 1993; **341**: 647–50.

13 Tupin A, Gualtieri M, Roquet-Baneres F *et al.* Resistance to rifampicin: at the crossroads between ecological, genomic and medical concerns. *Int J Antimicrob Agents* 2010; **35**: 519–23.

14 Pannu J, McCarthy A, Martin A *et al*. In vitro antibacterial activity of NB-003 against *Propionibacterium acnes*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2011; **55**: 4211–7.

15 Clinical Laboratory Standards Institute. *Methods for Susceptibility Testing of Anaerobic Bacteria*—Seventh Edition: Approved Standard M11-A7. CLSI, Wayne, PA, USA, 2007.

16 Cottagnoud P, Entenza JM, Cottagnoud M *et al.* Sub-inhibitory concentrations of vancomycin prevent quinolone-resistance in a penicillin-resistant isolate of *Streptococcus pneumoniae. BMC Microbiol* 2001; **1**: 9.

17 Entenza JM, Giddey M, Vouillamoz J *et al. In vitro* prevention of the emergence of daptomycin resistance in *Staphylococcus aureus* and enterococci following combination with amoxicillin/clavulanic acid or ampicillin. *Int J Antimicrob Agents* 2010; **35**: 451–6.

18 Wichelhaus TA, Schafer V, Brade V *et al*. Molecular characterization of *rpoB* mutations conferring cross-resistance to rifamycins on methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* **1999**; **43**: 2813–6.

19 Bruggemann H, Henne A, Hoster F et al. The complete genome sequence of *Propionibacterium acnes*, a commensal of human skin. *Science* 2004; **305**: 671–3.

20 Blattner FR, Plunkett G III, Bloch CA et al. The complete genome sequence of Escherichia coli K-12. Science 1997; 277: 1453–62.

21 Miller LP, Crawford JT, Shinnick TM. The rpoB gene of Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 1994; **38**: 805–11.

22 Aboshkiwa M, Rowland G, Coleman G. Nucleotide sequence of the *Staphylococcus aureus* RNA polymerase *rpoB* gene and comparison of its predicted amino acid sequence with those of other bacteria. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1995; **1262**: 73–8.

23 Aboshkiwa M, al-Ani B, Coleman G *et al*. Cloning and physical mapping of the *Staphylococcus aureus rplL*, *rpoB* and *rpoC* genes, encoding ribosomal protein L7/L12 and RNA polymerase subunits β and β' . *J Gen Microbiol* 1992; **138**: 1875–80.

24 Guo B, Abdelraouf K, Ledesma KR *et al.* Predicting bacterial fitness cost associated with drug resistance. *J Antimicrob Chemother* 2012; **67**: 928–32.

25 Baquero MR, Nilsson AI, Turrientes Mdel C et al. Polymorphic mutation frequencies in *Escherichia coli*: emergence of weak mutators in clinical isolates. J Bacteriol 2004; **186**: 5538-42.

26 John AK, Baldoni D, Haschke M et al. Efficacy of daptomycin in implant-associated infection due to methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus* aureus: importance of combination with rifampin. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2009; **53**: 2719–24.

Chapter 6. General conclusions and outlook.

Implants are increasingly used in modern medicine to improve the quality of life of a continuously ageing population. Infections of implants rarely occur but the treatment is challenging, and includes intensive antimicrobial therapy for eradication of the biofilm growing on the implant surface. Staphylococci cause majority of infections and antimicrobial treatment concepts have been optimized with the help of animal and clinical studies. However, less prevalent organisms, such as enterococci and fungi, are currently considered as difficult to treat, and the optimal treatment is to be defined. Additionally, thanks to improved diagnostic tools, microorganisms previously difficult to detect, such as *P. acnes*, are more frequently confirmed as the cause of infection, for which the optimal antimicrobial therapy neither not yet has been determined.

Conventional susceptibility tests may be misleading for guiding the treatment of biofilm infections, as they are using metabolically active bacteria for determination of antimicrobial susceptibility. In chapter 3, we applied a previously described method using bacteria in stationary growth phase, for determination of antimicrobial susceptibility of non-dividing, metabolically inactive *E. faecalis*. We demonstrated an excellent *in vitro* activity of gentamicin against stationary-phase *E. faecalis*, with an MBC_{stat} of 4 μ g/ml. The addition of gentamicin at subinhibitory concentrations improved the *in vitro* activity of vancomycin and daptomycin against *E. faecalis*, both in stationary and logarithmic growth phase. In chapter 4, we established an *in vitro* assay for the assessment of anti-biofilm activity of different antimicrobial agents by microcalorimetry. The assay allowed an indirect quantification of biofilm bacteria. We demonstrated a superior activity of rifampin for eradication of *P. acnes* biofilm (MBEC 16 μ g/ml) in comparison with other antimicrobials tested, as was previously

shown for staphylococci. The MBECs of penicillin G, daptomycin and ceftriaxone were between 32 and 64 μ g/ml, whereas clindamycin, levofloxacin and vancomycin only showed limited activity against *P. acnes* biofilms *in vitro*.

Based on *in vitro* results, we investigated the different treatment regimens in a guinea-pig model for foreign-body infections. Before initiating treatment studies, the experimental conditions were optimized for two organisms of interest. A low infective dose and a short duration (3 h) of infection were used for *E. faecalis*, as treatment failure occurred with all treatment regimens when the duration of infection exceeded 24 h. This observation highlights the difficulty in treating enterococcal infections and the ability of these bacteria to rapidly form persistent biofilms. In contrast to other bacteria, a high infective dose for *P. acnes* was needed to induce a persistent infection without spontaneous decrease in planktonic bacteria in cage fluid, possibly due to the effect of immune system and a switch from the planktonic into a biofilm growth mode. Despite culture-negative tissue-cage fluid, bacteria were present in biofilm on the explanted tissue-cages. This finding was in agreement with the fact that *P. acnes* is often undetectable by culture of cerebrospinal or synovial fluid, despite infection.

We were able to confirm our *in vitro* findings *in vivo* by performing treatment studies. Gentamicin alone showed good activity against *in vivo* biofilm of *E. faecalis* (cure rate 50 %) and improved the cure rate of vancomycin and daptomycin, from 17 % to 33%, and from 25% to 55%, respectively. However, the overall cure rates were low, in particular when considering the short duration of infection. Despite using a penicillin-susceptible strain, we were unfortunately not able to compare our results with regimens containing β -lactams, such as penicillin G, ampicillin and amoxicillin, due to restricted antimicrobial tolerance of the guinea pigs. The daptomycin combination was the most active antimicrobial regimen and could be a potential treatment option for biofilm infections caused by penicillin-resistant and vancomycin-resistant enterococci, since there is no daptomycin cross-resistance observed

with glycopeptides or β -lactams. Considering the reported emergence of daptomycin resistance in enterococci, it should be preferably given at high-dose (8-12 mg/kg in humans) and in combination with an aminoglycoside. The dose of 40 mg/kg used in our study corresponds to a dose of 8 mg/kg in humans.

Moreover, we were able to prove the anti-biofilm activity of rifampin against P. acnes in vivo (cure rate 36%), and also in this study, a combination with daptomycin showed the highest cure rate (63%). As predicted based on *in vitro* studies, vancomycin and levofloxacin showed lower cure rates, both alone (17% and 0%) and in combination with rifampin (46% and 25%). We were not able to test penicillin G and ceftriaxone in the animal model, but based on their in vitro anti-biofilm activity, these antimicrobials could present potential treatment options in combination with rifampin. A rapid emergence of rifampin resistance has been observed in several bacterial species, especially if the antimicrobial is administered as monotherapy. In our animal studies, rifampin resistant P. acnes isolates were not detected, or proven as the cause for treatment failure. If prolonging the duration of treatment, resistance could potentially have emerged in the slow-growing *P. acnes*, but due to limited antimicrobial tolerance of the guinea pigs, we were only able to perform a short-term therapy. For long-term therapy, a tissue-cage rat model could be used. However, whether a stable P. acnes infection could be established in this animal is not certain, as a high infection inoculum already was required in the guinea pigs. Nevertheless, in chapter 5, we demonstrated that *in vitro* rifampin resistance can emerge in *P. acnes* during progressive exposure to the drug, or spontaneously if the bacterial concentration is high with a mutation frequency of 10^{-9} . Mutations in the coding region for the rifampin target, rpoB, were associated with an increase in MIC, as previously described in other bacterial species. In total five different mutations were found, in cluster I and II of the *rpoB* gene. Interestingly, none of the mutations detected in cluster II conferred to high-level resistance, whereas of the mutations found in cluster I, two mutations were

associated with high-level resistance and one with low-level resistance. By combination with clindamycin, penicillin G or levofloxacin, an emergence of high-level resistance could be prevented *in vitro*. The impact of rifampin resistance in a clinical practice is currently clear, but could be predicted by animal studies using our already established model.

In view of the growing number of implant-associated infections, in combination with an increasing prevalence of antimicrobial resistance, new alternative treatment strategies for biofilm infections are needed. One approach is to prevent the bacterial attachment to the surface by rendering the implant surface antimicrobial but without influencing the host biocompatibility. Promising preventive strategies include antimicrobial coating of the device, and the use of surface coatings favoring the adhesion of host cells while preventing the adhesion of bacterial cells. Another approach, already widely used, is the addition of antimicrobial substances within cement used for fixation of prosthetic joints. However, there are still unsolved problems regarding the release kinetics of the antimicrobials *in vivo*, in particular the impact of the local and systemic presence of sub-inhibitory drug concentrations for the emergence of antimicrobial resistance. When a mature biofilm already is established, interference with the cell-to-cell communication by quorum-sensing inhibitors, or degradation of the extracellular matrix by biofilm-dispersing enzymes, may improve the eradication of the infection.

PART II.

Antifungal susceptibility of molds by isothermal microcalorimetry.

Chapter 7. General introduction.

Invasive mold infections.

The innate immune system protects effectively against pathogenic fungi and infections are in general mild and non-invasive. However, when mold spores are present in large quantities, they constitute a health risk, causing allergic reactions and respiratory problems [1]. In contrast, immunocompromised patients are at high risk for life-threatening infection caused by growth of opportunistic molds. The usual patients are neutropenic cancer patients, solid organ or hematopoetic stem cell transplant recipients, and patients receiving immunosuppressive therapy [2]. Invasive fungal infections are increasingly reported in these patient groups, and are associated with high morbidity and mortality rates often above 50 %, depending on disease and pathogen [3]. Invasive mold infections occur when fungal conidia (figure 1) are inhaled and, in the absence of an immune response, invade the pulmonary tissue or sinus through infiltration of hyphae (figure 1), causing an often aggressive disease course. Through dissemination of fungal conidia from the initial infection site or through hyphal invasion, the mold can spread via blood vessels, eventually causing hemorrhage, necrotic skin lesions and brain abscess [2].



Figure 1. Asexual life cycle of *Aspergillus* spp. including conidia formation, germination, hyphal formation and branching, and formation of a conidiophore. From: edscience.net

Microbiology.

While *Candida* and *Aspergillus* species are the predominant pathogens accounting for approximately 80% and 15% of infections, respectively [4], the incidence of non-*Aspergillus* molds is continuously rising [5, 6]. The changing epidemiology may reflect the increased use of antifungals for prophylaxis and the introduction of new antifungal agents in clinical use [7]. In addition, progress in the field of fungal species identification by the use of molecular tools and nucleic-acid sequencing, has allowed identification of species belonging to the same class or genus, but exhibiting distinctive susceptibility patterns [8, 9].

A. fumigatus is the most prevalent species, isolated in up to 90% of patients with invasive aspergillosis[10], followed by *A. flavus* and *A. niger* [11]. Nevertheless, increased prevalence of rare Aspergilli exhibiting antifungal resistance, such as *A. terreus* and *A. lentulus* [12] challenges the already difficult treatment. Infections due to non-*Aspergillus* molds, such as species from the Mucorales order, *Fusarium* spp. and *Scedosporium* spp., are particularly difficult to treat, because of rapid tissue invasion and their intrinsic resistance to most first-line antifungal agents [13, 14]. The most prevalent species in the order of Mucorales include *Rhizopus arrhizus*, *Rhizomucor pusillus* and *Lichtheimia corymbifera* [15], whereas *F. solani* is the principal pathogen among *Fusarium* species [16]. The genus *Scedosporium* includes at least two medically important members *Pseudallescheria apiosperma* and *S. prolificans* [17], which may colonize the respiratory tract and disseminate locally or systemically. *S. prolificans*, in particular, is highly resistant to most antifungal agents [9].

Diagnosis.

Due to the high mortality associated with invasive mold infections, a rapid diagnosis is crucial for the treatment outcome and an immediate start of appropriate antifungal therapy[18]. Conventional diagnostic methods include tissue culture and histology, bronchoalveolar lavage

(BAL), chest X-ray and computed tomography scan. These methods are invasive, not sufficiently sensitive or specific, and results are often not available in time to be clinically useful [18]. During the past decades, newer less invasive and non-culture-based diagnostic assays, such as the galactomannan test and the 1,3- β -D-glucan assay, have been developed. Galactomannan is a polysaccharide component, specific to the cell wall *Aspergillus* spp., which is released in the serum during hyphal formation and growth [11]. 1,3- β -D-glucan is another component of the fungal cell wall present in a wide range of species, except the Mucorales, and can thus be used as a panfungal marker [11]. Molecular-based diagnostics can detect fungi with high sensitivity providing results rapidly. Nucleic-acid based diagnostic techniques, such as polymerase chain reaction (PCR), represent the currently fastest growing diagnostic segment, but are not yet commercial due to lack of standardization [18].

Antifungals.

The three major classes of antifungals currently used for treatment of invasive mold infections, summarized in figure 2 [19], owe their antifungal activities to a direct interaction with, or synthesis inhibition of, ergosterol (amphotericin B and triazoles) or 1,3- β -D-glucan (echinocandins). Ergosterol is the main component of the fungal cell membranes, equivalent to cholesterol in mammalian cells. 1,3- β -D-glucan, on the other hand, composes together with α -glucan, mannan and chitin the fungal cell wall [20].



Figure 2. Overview of the mechanisms of action of the three major antifungal classes, amphotericin B, the azoles, including the triazoles, and the echinocandins, used for treatment of invasive mold infections. From (52).

Amphotericin B.

The polyene amphotericin B was for a long time considered as the "gold standard" for antifungal therapy. The compound was originally extracted from *Streptomyces nodosus* and was used as an antifungal agent already in 1959 [21]. The polyenes act by binding to ergosterol in the fungal cell membrane, leading to formation of membrane-spanning channels that cause leakage of cellular components and osmotic cellular lysis, and eventual cell death [20]. The second mechanism of action known, primarly for killing of *Candida* spp., involves oxidative damage of the cell [20].

The antifungal spectrum of amphotericin B is particularly broad and several fungal species are susceptible to low concentrations of the drug. Amphotericin B is commonly used in patients with suspected invasive fungal disease, but without documentation of *Aspergillus* as the causative agent [10], and as the first choice for treatment of mucormycosis [22]. Due to the toxicity of conventional amphotericin B [11], lipid formulations, including liposomal amphotericin B, amphotericin B lipid complex and amphotericin B colloid dispersion, were developed in the late 1990s [21]. Several studies have demonstrated that the lipid formulations of amphotericin B are consistently less toxic and may be even more effective than the conventional drug [21].

Triazoles.

The triazoles are the largest class of antifungal compounds and include fluconazole, itraconazole, voriconazole and posaconazole, as well as isavuconazole which is still in development. All compounds, except fluconazole, show activity against molds and are relatively well tolerated [23]. Voriconazole is a synthetic azole derivative of fluconazole, which has been shown to be superior to amphotericin B for the primary treatment of invasive aspergillosis [24], and is additionally active against *Fusarium* and *Scedosporium* spp. [14].

Posaconazole is the most recent azole in clinical use with a wide antifungal spectrum, also showing activity against Mucorales spp. [23]. Posaconazole is primarly used for salvage therapy in patients with invasive aspergillosis, and as prophylaxis for neutropenic patients or hematopoietic stem cell transplant recipients [23]. The oral bioavailability of posaconzole is highly variable and therapeutic drug monitoring is recommended [25].

The triazoles inhibit the synthesis of ergosterol from lanosterol, targeting the the cytochrome P450 dependent 14- α -demethylase (CYP51), which catalyses the reaction [23]. Consequently, it leads to the substitution of methylated sterols and ergosterol depletion in the fungal membrane, as well as accumulation of toxic sterol intermediates finally causing inhibition of fungal growth [19]. Triazoles are in general fungistatic, with the exception of voriconazole and itraconazole exhibiting fungicidal activity against *Aspergillus* spp. [23].

Azole resistance.

Besides intrinsic antifungal resistance, acquired resistance in molds is rare. Nevertheless, clinical and laboratory studies have revealed that *A. fumigatus* can develop azole resistance, generally due to mutations in the *cyp51A* gene, encoding the target CYP51[19]. In *A. fumigatus*, different substitutions at codons 54, 98, 138, 220 and 448, and a 34-bp tandem repeat in the promoter region, are associated to resistance to one or more azoles [19]. Azole resistance can develop during azole therapy and clinical data suggests that reduced *in vitro* susceptibility is associated with increased probability of failure to azole therapy [19]. Additionally, a possible fungicide-driven route of resistance has been described proving a link between the use of azole fungicides in the environment and resistance development to medical azoles [26].

Echinocandins.

The newest class of antifungal agents is the echinocandins, including caspofungin, anidulafungin and micafungin. The echinocandins are large lipopeptides that act by inhibiting the fungal 1,3- β -D-glucan synthase, responsible for the biosynthesis of 1,3- β -D-glucan. The precise interaction between the drug and its target enzyme on a molecular level is not yet elucidated [27]. The echinocandins show concentration-dependent fungicidal activity against *Candida* spp. but only fungistatic activity against *Aspergillus* spp., where they introduce abnormal hyphal morphology (figure 3), lysis of rapidly growing bud tips and a reduced growth rate.



Figure 3. Abnormal hyphal growth of *A. fumigatus*, characterized by short abundant branching, in the presence of anidulafungin at a concentration of $0.03 \mu \text{g/ml}$. Magnification x 40.

Echinocandins are not recommended as initial treatment of aspergillosis, due to their fungistatic activity but can be used in combination with amphotericin B and voriconazole [28]. Against other non-*Aspergillus* molds echinocandins show limited or no activity [29].

Antifungal combinations.

The availability of new antifungal agents, with novel modes of action, has raised the interest for combination therapy, when investigating new treatment options. Synergistic drug interactions could increase antifungal efficacy, prevent the emergence of resistance, and provide broader-spectrum antifungal activity than monotherapy regimens [30]. On the other hand, in case of antagonistic interactions, combination therapy may decrease the antifungal efficacy and increase toxicity [30]. In addition, if two or more antifungals are administered simultaneously, the cost of the therapy will be greater and the risk for drug interactions increases [31]. Several antifungal combinations appear to have an improved activity *in vitro* and in animal models, but no appropriate clinical trials have so far been conducted [31]. Based on *in vitro* assays, potential antifungal combinations against *Aspergillus* spp include amphotericin B plus caspofungin or voriconazole, and voriconazole plus caspofungin, micafungin or itraconazole [31].

Antifungal susceptibility testing.

Different methods, including broth- and agar-based assays, exist for determination of *in vitro* antifungal susceptibility of molds. Both the Clinical Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI) [32] and the Antifungal Susceptibility Testing Subcommittee of EUCAST (EUCAST-AFST) [33] guidelines recommend a microbroth dilution assay for the determination of the minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC). The guidelines recommend RPMI 1640 (CLSI) or RPMI 1640 supplemented with 2% glucose (EUCAST) as test culture media. Moreover, CLSI recommend an inoculum of $0.4 - 5 \times 10^4$ conidia/ml adjusted by spectrophotometry, whereas EUCAST use an inoculum of $1 - 2.5 \times 10^5$ conidia/ml determined by counting using a hemocytometer chamber. Both tests are interpreted by visual examination at 24 h for Mucorales species and at 48 h for other species and the MIC is defined as the lowest concentration causing 100% of growth inhibition.

Due to the different mechanism of action of the echinocandins, the minimal effective concentration (MEC) was introduced to evaluate the antifungal activity, and is proposed as endpoint by both guidelines. The MEC is defined as the lowest concentration of drug causing abnormal growth, characterized by short abundant branching as observed by microscopy (figure 3) [34]. CLSI and EUCAST define the MEC as the lowest concentration resulting in macroscopic small compact rounded hyphal forms or microcolonies. Determination of the

MEC represents a subjective assessment of the appearance of growth, requiring experienced personnel for accurate interpretation.

Microbroth dilution assays are labor-intensive and need experienced personnel for interpretation. Therefore, several commercial test assays have been developed to facilitate the antifungal susceptibility testing. Sensititre Yeast One is a colorimetric microdilution method based on the CLSI guidelines for susceptibility testing of yeast [35]. The assay includes Alamar-blue that converts into pink in the presence of growth, which facilitates the test interpretation. Sensititre Yeast One showed good correlation with standard susceptibility testing of molds for amphotericin B and triazoles, whereas further evaluation is needed for echinocandins [36-38]. Agar-based methods, including disk diffusion testing and Etest, are easy-to-perform and cost efficient. Currently, there are no standardized conditions for the use of disk diffusion testing of molds but test parameters have been evaluated for different mold species, including optimization of culture conditions and correlation of the inhibition zone with MIC and MEC values obtained by the conventional method [39]. However, the disk diffusion method does not allow differentiation between susceptible, intermediate and resistant values for all species and antifungals [39]. Etest has shown good correlation with the microbroth dilution method for testing amphotericin B and triazoles against molds, but its utility for testing echinocandins is not fully evaluated [40, 41].

Susceptibility assays for evaluating antifungal combinations.

Microdilution broth checkerboard is the most commonly technique used to study antifungal combinations *in vitro*. The interaction is assessed based on the fractional inhibitory concentration (FIC) index [42]. The FIC is determined for each drug by dividing the MIC of the drug in combination by the MIC of the drug alone. A FIC index of < 0.5 indicates synergy and an index above 4 indicates antagonism. Majority of *in vitro* combination studies report results with FIC indices within the range of 0.5 to 4 concluding indifference or additivity [31].

The validity of this FIC range has been questioned, as it was chosen without *in vivo* or clinical correlation studies [43]. There are only few studies that have been using other methods, such as time-kill studies, for assessing antifungal combinations against molds. However, the utility of conidia in time-kill studies is not clear as conidia generally are absent in infected tissues and the fungicidal activity against actively growing hyphae would be more predictable for the treatment outcome [44, 45].

Clinical relevance of antifungal susceptibility testing.

Due to the often complex status of the host, it is difficult to confirm a correlation between *in vitro* susceptibility and treatment outcome, and establishing clinical breakpoints for molds is challenging. In addition, *in vitro* tests do not consider the dynamic biology of the molds *in vivo*, such as hyphal formation and infiltration, the pharmacokinetics at the site of infection and the host immune response [46]. Most often a poor outcome is related to the status of the host, a late diagnosis or a lack of appropriate antifungal therapy. The disagreement between *in vitro* and *in vivo* data is described by the "90-60 rule", according to which infections caused by susceptible strains respond to treatment in 90% of the cases, whereas in the case of resistant strains, the treatment response is 60 % [47].

The two standard methods for antifungal susceptibility testing (CLSI and EUCAST) differ in inoculum size and culture media, which influence the MIC and MEC values obtained. Breakpoints suggested by the CLSI can thus not be extrapolated to the EUCAST method and vice versa [48]. In addition, invasive mold isolates are often not identified at species level, despite that variability in susceptibility within genus has been reported [9, 12]. Nevertheless, the antifungal susceptibility subcommittee of EUCAST recently published breakpoints for amphotericin B, itraconazole and posaconazole for *Aspergillus* spp. based on epidemiological cut-off MIC values and clinical experience, but without a direct correlation between MIC and

clinical outcome [25]. For posaconazole, pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic data were also included. For *A. fumigatus* breakpoints of $\leq 1 \ \mu g/ml$ and $> 2 \ \mu g/ml$, corresponding to susceptible and resistant, respectively, were determined for amphotericin B and itraconazole. MIC values of $\leq 0.12 \ \mu g/ml$ and $> 0.25 \ \mu g/ml$, were the breakpoints for posaconazole. There are currently not sufficient data for assigning breakpoints for other *Aspergillus* spp.. Besides for optimization of antifungal therapy, performance of antifungal susceptibility testing is highly important for a continued surveillance of resistance as the current number of antifungal agents is limited.

Use of isothermal microcalorimetry in microbiology.

Microcalorimetry is a highly sensitive method, which enables measurement of microbial heat production in the range of microwatt. Replicating microbes produce heat proportionally to their metabolism and growth rate [49]. By isothermal microcalorimetry, variations in heat are measured under constant temperature and pressure [50]. A bacterial or fungal culture constitutes a close thermodynamic system, which will exchange heat with its surrounding proportionally to the number of replicating organisms. The heat produced can be recorded in real time, and plotted as heat flow (Watt) versus time (figure 4). The slope of the heat flow curve at each time point depends on the replication rate, whereas the total heat (Joule) (the area under the heat flow curve) is proportional to the final number of cells (figure 4) [49]. Currently, most of the isothermal microcalorimeters used for microbiological measurements are multi-channel batch calorimeters of heat-conduction type, such as "The Thermal Activity Monitor" (TAM 48, TA Instruments, New Castle, DE, USA), shown in figure 5A [50].



Figure 4. Relation between the microcalorimetric measurements and their biological equivalents. The heat flow represents the activity (growth rate) of a microbial culture. The area under the heat-flow curve gives the total amount of heat produced, representing the products resulting from microbial activity (total number of cells, biomass). Adapted from [49].



Heat-conduction calorimeters continuously measure difference in temperature between the sample and the heat sink (figure 5B). The heat sink functions like a thermally inert reference, and is generally made of aluminium [49]. The heat between the sample and the heat sink is transferred through a thermopile, which allows monitoring of consumed or produced heat by converting minor temperature differences into electrical signals [51]. The sensitivity of the TAM 48 is 0.2μ W, which corresponds to approximately 100 000 bacteria assuming that a bacterial cell produces ~2pW [49]. The reaction vessel, including the sample and the heat sink, is positioned in a liquid (water or oil) thermostat, ensuring a temperature stability of 10⁻⁵ °C [50]. The temperature of the thermostat is adjustable in the range of 15-150 °C, and is in a microbiological setting normally set at 37°C.

An advantage of microcalorimetry for a microbiological assay, besides the sensitive growth detection, is that samples do not require specific preparation and they can still be used for further analysis after the microcalorimetric measurement. On the other hand, a major drawback is the measurement of non-specific signals, related to all chemical and physical reactions taking place in the sample [49]. Moreover, to perform an isothermal measurement a closed system is required, thus the sample is placed in a hermetically sealed ampoule (figure 5B). Chemical factors, such as oxygen depletion and accumulation of metabolic waste products, might influence the microbial growth and need to be taken into account [51].

Potential applications of isothermal microcalorimetry in clinical microbiology include primarily early growth detection and determination of antimicrobial susceptibility. A microcalorimeter measures all the growth-related heat originating from the sample and identification down to species level may be difficult, particularly in the case of mixed cultures. However, the use of selective growth media could allow the recovery and detection of specific microbes. During the last years, there have been several reports on the utility of isothermal microcalorimetry for growth detection of different pathogens, including urinary tract pathogens [52] and mycobacteria [53], and detection of bacterial growth in donated blood platelets [54] and in cerebrospinal fluid from a rat model of bacterial meningitis [55]. Determination of antimicrobial susceptibility can be performed by incubation of the isolated pathogen with the antimicrobial of interest. Growth of susceptible microorganisms is inhibited and heat will not be produced, whereas resistant microbes are not inhibited and heat is produced also in the presence of the antimicrobial agent. The use of isothermal microcalorimetry for this application was reported for a rapid (5 h) differentiation between methicillin-susceptible and methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* [56], and determination of antimicrobial susceptibility of *Escherichia coli*, *S. aureus* [57], mycobacteria [58] and *Borrelia burgdorferi* (Achermann Y, Steinhuber A, Seiler E, Vogt M, and Trampuz A, presented at the 49th Interscience Conference on Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy (ICAAC) in Washington, DC, 12-15 September 2009, poster Nr. 198). Isothermal microcalorimetry was also shown to be a promising tool for evalutation of anti-parastic drugs against *Schistosoma mansoni* [59], *Trypanosoma brucei* and *Plasmodium falciparum* [60].

In order to render the currently available microcalorimeters suitable for routine microbiologic procedures, an input from the technical side is needed to make the instrument more user-friendly and enable automated high-throughput screening. In addition, the current cost of multichannel calorimeters is too high for a cost efficient clinical laboratory, taking into account the hands-on time and consumables. However, for experimental microbiology, an isothermal multichannel microcalorimeter is a valuable tool for evaluation of antimicrobial inhibitory profiles, including dose and time dependency and evaluation of drug-drug interactions.

References

- [1] **Bush RK, Portnoy JM, Saxon A, Terr AI, Wood RA**. The medical effects of mold exposure. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2006;**117**:326-333.
- [2] **Kauffman CA**. Opportunistic Fungal Infections. In: Engleberg C, DiRita V, Dermody TS, eds. *Mechanisms of Microbial Disease*: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins 2007.
- [3] **Kontoyiannis DP**. Invasive mycoses: strategies for effective management. Am J Med. 2012;**125**:S25-38.
- [4] **Bille J, Marchetti O, Calandra T**. Changing face of health-care associated fungal infections. Curr Opin Infect Dis. 2005;**18**:314-319.
- [5] **Pfaller MA, Diekema DJ**. Epidemiology of invasive mycoses in North America. Crit Rev Microbiol. 2010;**36**:1-53.
- [6] **Lass-Florl C**. The changing face of epidemiology of invasive fungal disease in Europe. Mycoses. 2009;**52**:197-205.
- [7] **Maschmeyer G**. The changing epidemiology of invasive fungal infections: new threats. Int J Antimicrob Agents. 2006;**27 Suppl 1**:3-6.
- [8] **Balajee SA, Gribskov JL, Hanley E, Nickle D, Marr KA**. *Aspergillus lentulus* sp. nov., a new sibling species of A. fumigatus. Eukaryot Cell. 2005;4:625-632.
- [9] Lackner M, de Hoog GS, Verweij PE, Najafzadeh MJ, Curfs-Breuker I, Klaassen CH, Meis JF. Species-specific antifungal susceptibility patterns of *Scedosporium* and *Pseudallescheria* species. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2012:56:2635-42
- [10] Fluckiger U, Marchetti O, Bille J, Eggimann P, Zimmerli S, Imhof A, Garbino J, Ruef C, Pittet D, Tauber M, Glauser M, Calandra T, Fungal Infection Network of S. Treatment options of invasive fungal infections in adults. Swiss Med Wkly. 2006;136:447-463.
- [11] **Chandrasekar P**. Invasive mold infections: recent advances in management approaches. Leuk Lymphoma. 2009;**50**:703-715.
- [12] **Van Der Linden JW, Warris A, Verweij PE**. *Aspergillus* species intrinsically resistant to antifungal agents. Med Mycol. 2011;**49 Suppl 1**:S82-89.
- [13] Park BJ, Pappas PG, Wannemuehler KA, Alexander BD, Anaissie EJ, Andes DR, Baddley JW, Brown JM, Brumble LM, Freifeld AG, Hadley S, Herwaldt L, Ito JI, Kauffman CA, Lyon GM, Marr KA, Morrison VA, Papanicolaou G, Patterson TF, Perl TM, Schuster MG, Walker R, Wingard JR, Walsh TJ, Kontoyiannis DP. Invasive non-Aspergillus mold infections in transplant recipients, United States, 2001-2006. Emerg Infect Dis. 2011;17:1855-1864.
- [14] **Nucci M**. Emerging moulds: *Fusarium*, *Scedosporium* and Zygomycetes in transplant recipients. Curr Opin Infect Dis. 2003;**16**:607-612.
- [15] **Chayakulkeeree M, Ghannoum MA, Perfect JR**. Zygomycosis: the re-emerging fungal infection. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 2006;**25**:215-229.
- [16] **Nucci M, Anaissie E**. *Fusarium* infections in immunocompromised patients. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2007;**20**:695-704.
- [17] Cortez KJ, Roilides E, Quiroz-Telles F, Meletiadis J, Antachopoulos C, Knudsen T, Buchanan W, Milanovich J, Sutton DA, Fothergill A, Rinaldi MG, Shea YR, Zaoutis T, Kottilil S, Walsh TJ. Infections caused by *Scedosporium* spp. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2008;21:157-197.
- [18] Ostrosky-Zeichner L. Invasive mycoses: diagnostic challenges. Am J Med. 2012;125:S14-24.
- [19] **Snelders E, Melchers WJ, Verweij PE**. Azole resistance in *Aspergillus fumigatus*: a new challenge in the management of invasive aspergillosis? Future Microbiol. 2011;6:335-347.
- [20] **Ghannoum MA, Rice LB**. Antifungal agents: mode of action, mechanisms of resistance, and correlation of these mechanisms with bacterial resistance. Clin Microbiol Rev. 1999;**12**:501-517.
- [21] Ostrosky-Zeichner L, Marr KA, Rex JH, Cohen SH. Amphotericin B: time for a new "gold standard". Clin Infect Dis. 2003;37:415-425.
- [22] **Dannaoui E, Meis JF, Mouton JW, Verweij PE**. In vitro susceptibilities of Zygomycota to polyenes. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2002;**49**:741-744.
- [23] Lass-Florl C. Triazole antifungal agents in invasive fungal infections: a comparative review. Drugs. 2011;71:2405-2419.
- [24] Herbrecht R, Denning DW, Patterson TF, Bennett JE, Greene RE, Oestmann JW, Kern WV, Marr KA, Ribaud P, Lortholary O, Sylvester R, Rubin RH, Wingard JR, Stark P, Durand C, Caillot D, Thiel E, Chandrasekar PH, Hodges MR, Schlamm HT, Troke PF, de Pauw B, Invasive Fungal Infections Group of the European Organisation for R, Treatment of C, the Global Aspergillus Study G. Voriconazole versus amphotericin B for primary therapy of invasive aspergillosis. N Engl J Med. 2002;347:408-415.
- [25] Arendrup MC, Cuenca-Estrella M, Lass-Florl C, Hope WW, The European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing Subcommittee on Antifungal Susceptibility T. EUCAST Technical Note on Aspergillus and amphotericin B, itraconazole, and posaconazole. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2012;18:E248-E250.
- [26] Snelders E, Camps SM, Karawajczyk A, Schaftenaar G, Kema GH, van der Lee HA, Klaassen CH, Melchers WJ, Verweij PE. Triazole fungicides can induce cross-resistance to medical triazoles in Aspergillus fumigatus. PLoS One. 2012;7:e31801.
- [27] Perlin DS. Current perspectives on echinocandin class drugs. Future Microbiol. 2011;6:441-457.
- [28] Walsh TJ, Anaissie EJ, Denning DW, Herbrecht R, Kontoyiannis DP, Marr KA, Morrison VA, Segal BH, Steinbach WJ, Stevens DA, van Burik JA, Wingard JR, Patterson TF, Infectious Diseases Society of A. Treatment of aspergillosis: clinical practice guidelines of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. Clin Infect Dis. 2008;46:327-360.
- [29] **Miceli MH, Lee SA**. Emerging moulds: epidemiological trends and antifungal resistance. Mycoses. 2011;**54**:e666-678.
- [30] Johnson MD, MacDougall C, Ostrosky-Zeichner L, Perfect JR, Rex JH. Combination antifungal therapy. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2004;48:693-715.
- [31] **Vazquez JA**. Clinical practice: combination antifungal therapy for mold infections: much ado about nothing? Clin Infect Dis. 2008;**46**:1889-1901.
- [32] **CLSI**. Reference method for broth dilution antifungal susceptibility testing of filamentous fungi, Second Edition: Approved Standard. CLSI document M38-A2: Wayne PA 2008.
- [33] **EUCAST**. EUCAST Technical Note on the method for the determination of broth dilution minimum inhibitory concentrations of antifungal agents for conidia-forming moulds. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2008;**14**:982-984.
- [34] Kurtz MB, Heath IB, Marrinan J, Dreikorn S, Onishi J, Douglas C. Morphological effects of lipopeptides against *Aspergillus fumigatus* correlate with activities against (1,3)-beta-D-glucan synthase. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 1994;**38**:1480-1489.
- [35] **Davey KG, Szekely A, Johnson EM, Warnock DW**. Comparison of a new commercial colorimetric microdilution method with a standard method for in-vitro susceptibility testing of *Candida* spp. and *Cryptococcus neoformans*. J Antimicrob Chemother. 1998;42:439-444.
- [36] Linares MJ, Charriel G, Solis F, Rodriguez F, Ibarra A, Casal M. Susceptibility of filamentous fungi to voriconazole tested by two microdilution methods. J Clin Microbiol. 2005;43:250-253.
- [37] Carrillo-Munoz AJ, Quindos G, Ruesga M, del VO, Peman J, Canton E, Hernandez-Molina JM, Santos P. In vitro antifungal susceptibility testing of filamentous fungi with Sensititre Yeast One. Mycoses. 2006;49:293-297.
- [38] **Guinea J, Pelaez T, Alcala L, Bouza E**. Comparison of Sensititre YeastOne with the NCCLS M38-A microdilution method to determine the activity of amphotericin B, voriconazole, and itraconazole against clinical isolates of *Aspergillus fumigatus*. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis. 2006;**56**:53-55.
- [39] Espinel-Ingroff A, Arthington-Skaggs B, Iqbal N, Ellis D, Pfaller MA, Messer S, Rinaldi M, Fothergill A, Gibbs DL, Wang A. Multicenter evaluation of a new disk agar diffusion method for susceptibility testing of filamentous fungi with voriconazole, posaconazole, itraconazole, amphotericin B, and caspofungin. J Clin Microbiol. 2007;45:1811-1820.
- [40] **Espinel-Ingroff A**. Comparison of the E-test with the NCCLS M38-P method for antifungal susceptibility testing of common and emerging pathogenic filamentous fungi. J Clin Microbiol. 2001;**39**:1360-1367.
- [41] **Perkhofer S, Mrazek C, Hartl L, Lass-Florl C**. *In vitro* susceptibility testing in fungi: What is its role in clinical practice? Curr Infect Dis Rep. 2010;**12**:401-408.
- [42] Pillai SK, Moellering RC, Eliopoulos GM. Antimicrobial Combinations. In: Lorian V, ed. Antibiotics in Laboratory Medicine. Fifth ed: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins 2005.
- [43] **Meletiadis J, Pournaras S, Roilides E, Walsh TJ**. Defining fractional inhibitory concentration index cutoffs for additive interactions based on self-drug additive combinations, Monte Carlo simulation analysis, and in vitro-in vivo correlation data for antifungal drug combinations against *Aspergillus* fumigatus. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2010;**54**:602-609.
- [44] **Pfaller MA, Sheehan DJ, Rex JH**. Determination of fungicidal activities against yeasts and molds: lessons learned from bactericidal testing and the need for standardization. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2004;**17**:268-280.
- [45] Krishnan S, Manavathu EK, Chandrasekar PH. A comparative study of fungicidal activities of voriconazole and amphotericin B against hyphae of *Aspergillus fumigatus*. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2005;55:914-920.
- [46] Espinel-Ingroff A. Utility of mould susceptibility testing. Curr Opin Infect Dis. 2003;16:527-532.

- [47] **Kanafani ZA, Perfect JR**. Antimicrobial resistance: resistance to antifungal agents: mechanisms and clinical impact. Clin Infect Dis. 2008;**46**:120-128.
- [48] **Lass-Florl C, Perkhofer S, Mayr A**. *In vitro* susceptibility testing in fungi: a global perspective on a variety of methods. Mycoses. 2010;**53**:1-11.
- [49] **Braissant O, Wirz D, Gopfert B, Daniels AU**. Use of isothermal microcalorimetry to monitor microbial activities. FEMS Microbiol Lett. 2009.
- [50] Wadsö I. Isothermal microcalorimetry in applied biology. Thermochimica Acta. 2002;394:305-311.
- [51] **Braissant O, Wirz D, Gopfert B, Daniels AU**. Biomedical use of isothermal microcalorimeters. Sensors (Basel). 2010;**10**:9369-9383.
- [52] Bonkat G, Braissant O, Widmer AF, Frei R, Rieken M, Wyler S, Gasser TC, Wirz D, Daniels AU, Bachmann A. Rapid detection of urinary tract pathogens using microcalorimetry: principle, technique and first results. BJU Int. 2012.
- [53] **Braissant O, Wirz D, Gopfert B, Daniels AU**. "The heat is on": rapid microcalorimetric detection of mycobacteria in culture. Tuberculosis (Edinb). 2010;**90**:57-59.
- [54] **Trampuz A, Salzmann S, Antheaume J, Daniels AU**. Microcalorimetry: a novel method for detection of microbial contamination in platelet products. Transfusion. 2007;**47**:1643-1650.
- [55] **Trampuz A, Steinhuber A, Wittwer M, Leib SL**. Rapid diagnosis of experimental meningitis by bacterial heat production in cerebrospinal fluid. BMC Infect Dis. 2007;**7**:116.
- [56] **Baldoni D, Hermann H, Frei R, Trampuz A, Steinhuber A**. Performance of microcalorimetry for early detection of methicillin resistance in clinical isolates of *Staphylococcus aureus*. J Clin Microbiol. 2009;**47**:774-776.
- [57] **von Ah U, Wirz D, Daniels AU**. Isothermal micro calorimetry--a new method for MIC determinations: results for 12 antibiotics and reference strains of *E. coli* and *S. aureus*. BMC Microbiol. 2009;**9**:106.
- [58] Howell M, Wirz D, Daniels AU, Braissant O. Application of a microcalorimetric method for determining drug susceptibility in Mycobacterium species. J Clin Microbiol. 2011.
- [59] **Manneck T, Braissant O, Haggenmuller Y, Keiser J**. Isothermal microcalorimetry to study drugs against *Schistosoma mansoni*. J Clin Microbiol. 2011;**49**:1217-1225.
- [60] Wenzler T, Steinhuber A, Wittlin S, Scheurer C, Brun R, Trampuz A. Isothermal Microcalorimetry, a New Tool to Monitor Drug Action against *Trypanosoma brucei* and *Plasmodium falciparum*. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2012;6:e1668.

Chapter 8. Aim of the study.

The general aim of the study was to investigate the growth-related heat production of medically important molds and the effect of antifungal agents on the heat production by isothermal microcalorimetry. The microcalorimetric results were compared with conventional methods for susceptibility testing.

The first specific aim (chapter 9) was to evaluate microcalorimetry for antifungal susceptibility testing of *Aspergillus* species, including non-*fumigatus* species.

The second specific aim (chapter 10) was to validate the first study by testing other molds, such as species from the Mucorales order, *Fusarium* and *Scedosporium* species.

Finally (chapter 11), we used microcalorimetry for evalutation of antifungal combinations against *A. fumigatus* and *A. terreus*.

Chapter 9.

Isothermal microcalorimetry: a novel method for real-time determination of antifungal susceptibility of *Aspergillus* species.

Ulrika Furustrand Tafin, Martin Clauss, Philippe M Hauser, Jacques Bille, Jacques F Meis, Andrej Trampuz

Clinical Microbiology and Infection, July 2012, Volume 18, Issue 7, Pages E241-5

RESEARCH NOTE

Isothermal microcalorimetry: a novel method for real-time determination of antifungal susceptibility of *Aspergillus* species

U. Furustrand Tafin¹, M. Clauss¹*, P. M. Hauser², J. Bille², J. F. Meis^{3,4} and A. Trampuz¹

Infectious Diseases Service, Department of Medicine, Lausanne University Hospital, Lausanne, 2) Institute of Microbiology, Lausanne University Hospital, Lausanne, Switzerland, 3) Department of Medical Microbiology, Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Centre, Nijmegen and
 Department of Medical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases, Canisius-Wilhelmina Hospital, Nijmegen, the Netherlands

Abstract

We evaluated microcalorimetry for real-time susceptibility testing of Aspergillus spp. based on growth-related heat production. The minimal heat inhibitory concentration (MHIC) for A. fumigatus ATCC 204305 was I mg/L for amphotericin B, 0.25 mg/L for voriconazole, 0.06 mg/L for posaconazole, 0.125 mg/L for caspofungin and 0.03 mg/L for anidulafungin. Agreement within two 2fold dilutions between MHIC (determined by microcalorimetry) and MIC or MEC (determined by CLSI M38A) was 90% for amphotericin B, 100% for voriconazole, 90% for posaconazole and 70% for caspofungin. This proof-of-concept study demonstrated the potential of isothermal microcalorimetry for growth evaluation of Aspergillus spp. and real-time antifungal susceptibility testing.

Keywords: Antifungals, Aspergillus spp., heat production, microcalorimetry, susceptibility testing

Original Submission: 15 December 2011; Revised Submission: 8 March 2012; Accepted: 19 March 2012 Editor: E. Roilides

Article published online: 27 March 2012 Clin Microbiol Infect 2012; 18: E241–E245 10.1111/j.1469-0691.2012.03854.x

Corresponding author: A. Trampuz, Infectious Diseases Service, Department of Medicine, Lausanne University Hospital, Rue du Bugnon 46, CH-1011 Lausanne, Switzerland E-mail: andrej.trampuz@chuv.ch

*Present address: Cantonal Hospital Liestal, Liestal, Switzerland.

MYCOLOGY

The prevalence of less susceptible Aspergillus strains is continuously rising, including non-fumigatus species [1], highlighting the need for antifungal susceptibility testing. Conditions for susceptibility testing of moulds by microbroth dilution have been defined by the CLSI [2] and the Antifungal Susceptibility Testing Subcommittee of EUCAST [3]. Broth-dilution assays are labour-intensive, variably reproducible and require experienced personnel. Sensititre Yeast One is a colorimetric microdilution method adapted from the susceptibility testing of yeast by the CLSI guidelines [4]. While Sensititre Yeast One showed good correlation with standard susceptibility of moulds for amphotericin B and triazoles, further evaluation is needed for echinocandins [5,6].

The principle of microcalorimetry relies on the measure of microbial heat production based on their growth and metabolism [7]. Recently, the potential of isothermal microcalorimetry was studied in the microbiology setting, including the differentiation between methicillin-susceptible and methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* within 5 h [8], the susceptibility testing of *Escherichia coli* and S. *aureus* [9] and the evaluation of drugs against *Schistosoma mansoni* [10]. In this study, we investigated the potential of microcalorimetry for antifungal susceptibility testing of medically important *Aspergillus* species, including defined resistant mutants.

Ten Aspergillus strains were investigated (Table I). They were subcultured on Sabouraud dextrose agar and identified on the basis of macroscopic and microscopic morphological features. Amphotericin B (Sigma, St Louis, MO, USA), voriconazole and posaconazole (TRC, North York, ON, Canada), caspofungin (Merck & Co., Inc., Whitehouse Station, NJ, USA) and anidulafungin (Pfizer Pharma AG, Zürich, Switzerland) were tested. Microbroth dilution was performed as described in the CLSI document M38-A2 [2]. The minimal effective concentration (MEC) was determined only for caspofungin, defined as the lowest drug concentration at which short and branched hyphae were observed [11]. Antifungal susceptibility testing was additionally performed with the commercial Sensititre YeastOne panel (Trek Diagnostic System Ltd, East Grinstead, UK) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Colorimetric MEC was defined as the lowest concentration visibly reducing growth (despite presence of red or purple colour). We added the colorimetric Sensititre YeastOne assay for comparison of susceptibility testing because several routine microbiology laboratories are using this method rather than the CLSI-reference microbroth dilution.

For microcalorimetric evaluation of growth characteristics, Sabouraud dextrose broth (SDB) (Oxoid CM0147; Basingstoke, Hampshire, UK) was used (3 mL medium and 1 mL air in the headspace of the ampoule). An inoculum of c. 2.5×10^4 conidia/mL was used, determined by microscopic

©2012 The Authors

Clinical Microbiology and Infection ©2012 European Society of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases

.1	5	
ens	P	
Ś	tea	
, i	nsi	
Jet	P	
rin.	rte	
00	bo	
8	re	
þ	e	
b	a	
S	S	
,u	ų,	
le	£	
ini	ns	
	tio.	
S	tra	
0	ent	
ţ	no	
50	8	
P	ve	
8	Ċ;	
ac	ffe	
U	e	
iti,	na	
lip	nir	
÷	i.	
p	e	
qo	뷳	
Ū	ns,	
Ē	ip	
à	an	
P	õ	
ne	ių.	
ä	ec	
er	or	
det	Ш,	
Š	2	
Ű	etr	
Σ	3	
as	o	
Pa	ca	
SS	ro	
Pre	ic	
Xa	-	
÷	ma	
1	eri	
Ē	th	
.5	iso	
~	à	
dd	P	
5	ne	
ii.	Έ	
00	er	
sp	det	
A	5	
0	Ŭ	
ing.	I	
st	2	
ţ	Duc	
lity	.) a	
ibi	say	
pt	as	
sce	Je	
Su	ō	
2	ast	
щ	Ye	
8	e	ŝ
A	itr	Ĭ

		Amphoteri	cin B		Voriconazo	e		Posaconazo	ole		Caspofungin			Anidulafung	u	
ecies	Strain description	MIC-CLSI	MIC-Color	MHIC	MIC-CLSI	MIC-Color	MHIC	MIC-CLSI	MIC-Color	MHIC	MEC-CLSI	MEC-Color	MHIC	MEC-CLSI	MEC-Color	MHIC
fumigatus	ATCC 204305	0.5	2	-	0.5	0.25	0.25	0.06	0.125	0.06	0.5	0.125	0.125	ī	1	0.03
umigatus	Wild-type CM-237	0.5	1	+	0.5	0.25	0.5	0.06	0.125	0.25	0.5	0.06	0.5	1	i	0.03
fumigatus	Mutant CM-2097	0.5	-	+	0.5	0.125	0.25	16	2	8~	0.5	0.016	0.06	4	1	2
furnigatus	Mutant CM-796	0.5	1	-	-	0.25	0.5	16	1	2	0.5	0.03	0.03	1	ĩ	0.03
flavus	ATCC 204305	-	2	2	0.5	0.5	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.5	-	0.125	0.25	1	1	0.03
terreus	ATCC 10690	4	1	4	0.5	0.25	0.25	0.125	0.125	0.03	0.5	0.03	0.5	ĩ	i	0.03
entulus	CBS117.885	4	4	2	4	2	2	0.25	0.5	0.25	80	>16	8		1	_
onyzae	Clinical isolate	-1	1	1	-	0.5	0.5	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.5	0.016	0.06	ĩ	1	0.03
niger	Clinical isolate	0.06	-	0.5	-	0.5	-1	0.125	0.25	0.125	0.25	0.03	0.25	1	1	0.125
nidulans	Clinical isolate	1	1	0.5	0.25	0.25	0.5	0.25	0.25	0.125	2	4	0.5	Ŧ	1	0.03

enumeration using a Neubauer haematocytometer. Air-tightly sealed ampoules were introduced into the isothermal microcalorimeter (TAM III; TA Instruments, Newcastle, DE, USA) and measurements were performed at 37°C every 10 s. The detection threshold was determined at 5 μ W to distinguish fungal heat production from the thermal background noise (i.e. growth media without moulds). The detection time (in h), heat-flow peak (in μW), the time to peak (h) and total heat produced (in Joules, represented by the area under the heat-flow curve) at 24, 48 and 72 h were determined. For testing antifungal agents, two-fold dilutions of antifungal agents were added to SDB. The minimal heat inhibitory concentration (MHIC) of amphotericin B and triazoles was defined as the lowest antifungal concentration inhibiting 50% of the total heat produced by the growth control at 48 h. For echinocandins, the MHIC was defined as the lowest concentration reducing the heat-flow peak by 50%. Susceptibility testing experiments were performed in duplicate. Data analysis was carried out with the manufacturer's software (TAM Assistant; TA Instruments) and GraphPad Prism 5.0 (Graph-Pad Software, La Jolla, CA, USA).

The thermokinetic characteristics of the Aspergillus strains tested in the absence of antifungals are presented in Table S1. The median heat detection time was <5 h, except for A. *fumigatus* CM-2097 and A. *niger*, which required 14 and 7.7 h, respectively. The total heat produced ranged between 4.4–8.3 J after 48 h and 4.7–10 J after 72 h. The median time to reach the heat-flow peak was 22 h. The heat production stopped completely after the peak was reached (i.e. the heat-flow curve returned to baseline), except for A. *flavus* and A. *oryzae*, which continuously produced heat of c. 20 μ W up to 72 h. Among different growth media tested (data not shown), SDB showed a larger heat production (and shorter detection time) than RPMI 1640. Therefore, SDB was used in subsequent antifungal susceptibility experiments. Similar observations using growth curves were reported by Meletiadis *et al.* [12].

Table I summarizes the MHIC values obtained by microcalorimetry, and the MIC and MEC values obtained by the CLSI microbroth dilution and by Sensititre YeastOne. Fig. I shows the effect of antifungals tested on the heat production of *A. fumigatus* ATCC 204305. Amphotericin B (Fig. Ia) delayed the heat production in a concentration-dependent manner without significant change of the heat-flow curve profile, indicating its fungicidal activity. A similar killing effect of bactericidal antibiotics was previously described for bacteria [13]. Voriconazole and posaconazole (Fig. Ib,c) showed a fungistatic effect at low concentrations, reflected by a reduced initial heat-flow slope, but delayed the fungal heat production at higher concentrations (fungicidal activity). A similar fungistatic effect of various alcohols was previously reported on yeasts [14].

©2012 The Authors

Clinical Microbiology and Infection @2012 European Society of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases, CMI, 18, E241-E245





FIG. 1. Determination of the minimal heat inhibitory concentration (MHIC) by microcalorimetry for A. fumigatus ATCC 204305. Heat flow (left panel) and total heat (right panel) of A. fumigatus in the presence of amphotericin B (a), voriconazole (b), posaconazole (c), caspofungin (d) and anidulafungin (e) in SDB medium using an inoculum of 2.5×10^4 conidia/ mL. Numbers indicate the antifungal concentration (in mg/L); GC denotes growth control without antifungals. The dotted horizontal line indicates 50% of inhibition of total heat produced by the growth control after 48 h (for amphotericin B and triazoles) or a 50% decrease in the heat-flow peak (for echinocandins). The MHIC value is circled.

Teat 100



0.25

32 40 42

24 Time (h)

16

Triazoles in addition decreased the heat-flow peak, whereas this effect was not observed with amphotericin B. While echinocandins are fungicidal against Candida species, they are only fungistatic against Aspergillus species [15]. This difference was also observed by microcalorimetry, where caspofungin and anidulafungin (Fig. Id,e) changed the initial slope of the heatflow and lowered the peak, but were not able to completely inhibit heat production. This effect could be explained by the interference of antifungals in Aspergillus metabolic activity, changing their growth mode from filamentous to granular. With the conventional susceptibility method, the change of growth mode is determined by visual inspection; the determination of MEC requires experienced personnel and the interpretation can be subjective. A concentration-dependent activity of echinocandins on Aspergillus spp. was observed by microcalorimetry, which is in agreement with other reports [16]. In order to systematically evaluate the antifungal activity on non-fumigatus Aspergillus species, one drug from each antifungal class was investigated on each test strain (Figs S1-S6).

We challenged the microcalorimetry susceptibility assay by testing azole-resistant mutants of A. *fumigatus* [17,18] (Table I and Fig. S7). While no breakpoints have been determined for triazoles, an epidemiological cut-off value for posaconazole in A. *fumigatus* was determined at 0.25 mg/L and a resistance breakpoint of >0.5 mg/L was proposed [19]. Using this breakpoint value, all three methods were able to detect resistance, although variability in MIC/MHIC values was observed.

The percentage of agreement (within two 2-fold dilutions) between the MHIC and MIC (or MEC) by CLSI was 90%, 100%, 90% and 70% for amphotericin B, voriconazole, posa-conazole and caspofungin, respectively. Of note, the Sensititre YeastOne assay has not been fully evaluated for echinocandins and the interpretation of MEC by this colorimetric method is challenging. For anidulafungin, lower MEC values against *Aspergillus* species were reported than for caspofungin [20], as was observed also in our microcalorimetry assay.

In summary, this proof-of-concept study demonstrated the potential of isothermal microcalorimetry for growth evaluation of Aspergillus spp. and the determination of its antifungal susceptibility in real time. This method might be used for testing new antifungal agents, including investigation of their mode-of-action, growth-phase specific activity and interactions between antifungals.

Acknowledgements

Some clinical strains were kindly provided by Reno Frei from the University Hospital Basel, Switzerland. A. fumigatus CM-237 and its isogenic mutants (CM-2097-AFI237 Acyp51 and CM-796 *d*cyp51) were kindly provided by Dr Emilia Mellado from Centro Nacional de Microbiologia, Instituto de Salud Carlos III, Madrid, Spain. We thank Doris Hohler for laboratory assistance and practical advice and Sophie Chevalley-Richard for performing the Sensititre YeastOne. Part of the results was presented at the 20th European Congress of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases (ECCMID) in Vienna, Austria, 10–13 April 2010, at the 50th Interscience Conference on Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy (ICAAC) in Boston, USA, 12–15 September 2010 and at the 51st Interscience Conference on Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy (ICAAC) in Chicago, USA, 16–21 September 2011.

Funding

This study was supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation (CR32I3_30676), Stanely Thomas Johnson Foundation, Pfizer AG (Zurich, Switzerland) and Gilead Sciences (Zug, Switzerland).

Transparency Declaration

J.F.M. received grants from Astellas, Merck, Basilea and Schering-Plough. He has been a consultant to Basilea and Merck, and received speaker's fees from Merck, Pfizer, Schering-Plough, Gilead and Janssen Pharmaceutica. A.T. received grants from Pfizer and Gilead. All other authors: no potential conflicts of interest.

Supporting Information

Additional Supporting Information may be found in the online version of this article:

Figure S1. Heat flow (left panel) and total heat (right panel) of Aspergillus terreus in the presence of amphotericin B (a), voriconazole (b) and anidulafungin (c) in SDB medium using an inoculum of c. 10^4 conidia/mL.

Figure S2. Heat flow (left panel) and total heat (right panel) of Aspergillus flavus in the presence of amphotericin B (a), voriconazole (b) and caspofungin (c).

Figure S3. Heat flow (left panel) and total heat (right panel) of Aspergillus niger in the presence of amphotericin B (a), posaconazole (b) and caspofungin (c).

Figure S4. Heat flow (left panel) and total heat (right panel) of *Aspergillus oryzae* in the presence of amphotericin B (a), posaconazole (b) and anidulafungin (c).

©2012 The Authors

Clinical Microbiology and Infection @2012 European Society of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases, CMI, 18, E241-E245

Figure S5. Heat flow (left panel) and total heat (right panel) of *Aspergillus lentulus* in the presence of amphotericin B (a), voriconazole (b) and anidulafungin (c).

Figure S6. Heat flow (left panel) and total heat (right panel) of *Aspergillus nidulans* in the presence of amphotericin B (a), posaconazole (b) and caspofungin (c).

Figure S7. Heat flow (left panel) and total heat (right panel) of Aspergillus fumigatus CM-237 (wild type) MIC 0.06 (a), CM-796 (Δ cyp51a/b) MIC 16 (b) and CM-2097 (Δ cyp51a) MIC 16 (c) in the presence of posaconazole.

Table S1. Calorimetric characteristics of Aspergillus species in SDB at 37°C. The inoculum was c. 10⁴ conidia/mL.

Please note: Wiley-Blackwell are not responsible for the content or functionality of any supporting materials supplied by the authors. Any queries (other than missing material) should be directed to the corresponding author for the article.

References

- Lass-FlorI C. The changing face of epidemiology of invasive fungal disease in Europe. Mycoses 2009; 52: 197–205.
- Clinical Laboratory Standards Institute. Reference method for broth dilution antifungal susceptibility testing of filamentous fungi, 2nd edn. Approved Standard. CLSI document M38-A2: Wayne, PA: CLSI, 2008.
- Subcommittee on Antifungal Susceptibility Testing of the E, European Committee for Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing. EUCAST Technical Note on the method for the determination of broth dilution minimum inhibitory concentrations of antifungal agents for conidiaforming moulds. *Clin Microbiol Infect* 2008;14:982–984.
- Davey KG, Szekely A, Johnson EM, Warnock DW. Comparison of a new commercial colorimetric microdilution method with a standard method for in-vitro susceptibility testing of *Candida* spp. and *Cryptococcus neoformans. J Antimicrob Chemother* 1998; 42: 439–444.
- Guinea J, Pelaez T, Alcala L, Bouza E. Comparison of Sensititre YeastOne with the NCCLS M38-A microdilution method to determine the activity of amphotericin B, voriconazole, and itraconazole against clinical isolates of Aspergillus fumigatus. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis 2006; 56: 53–55.
- Patel R, Mendrick C, Knapp CC, Grist R, McNicholas PM. Clinical evaluation of the Sensititre YeastOne plate for testing susceptibility

of filamentous fungi to posaconazole. J Clin Microbiol 2007; 45: 2000-2001.

- Wadsö I. Isothermal microcalorimety: current problems and prospects. J Therm Anal Calorim 2001; 64: 75–84.
- Baldoni D, Hermann H, Frei R, Trampuz A, Steinhuber A. Performance of microcalorimetry for early detection of methicillin resistance in clinical isolates of *Staphylococcus aureus*. J Clin Microbiol 2009; 47: 774–776.
- von AhU, Wirz D, Daniels AU. Isothermal micro calorimetry—a new method for MIC determinations: results for 12 antibiotics and reference strains of *E. coli* and *S. aureus. BMC Microbiol* 2009; 9: 106.
- Manneck T, Braissant O, Haggenmuller Y, Keiser J. Isothermal microcalorimetry to study drugs against Schistosoma mansoni. J Clin Microbiol 2011; 49: 1217–1225.
- Kurtz MB, Heath IB, Marrinan J, Dreikorn S, Onishi J, Douglas C. Morphological effects of lipopeptides against Aspergillus fumigatus correlate with activities against (1,3)-beta-D-glucan synthase. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 1994; 38: 1480–1489.
- Meletiadis J, Meis JF, Mouton JW, Verweij PE. Analysis of growth characteristics of filamentous fungi in different nutrient media. J Clin Microbiol 2001; 39: 478–484.
- Katarao AOH, Takahashi K. Calorimetric analysis of the effects of penicillin G, ampicillin and polymyxin B on the growth of *Escherichia coli. Agric Biol Chem* 1988; 52: 2279–2285.
- 14. Antoce OA, Antoce V, Takahashi K, Yoshizako F. Quantitative study of yeast growth in the presence of added ethanol and methanol using a calorimetric approach. *Biosci Biotechnol Biochem* 1997; 61: 664–669.
- Mikulska M, Viscoli C. Current role of echinocandins in the management of invasive aspergillosis. Curr Infect Dis Rep 2011; 13: 517–527.
- Lewis JS. Echinocandin activity against Aspergillus spp. and the importance of pharmacodynamics. *Med Mycol* 2009; 47 (suppl 1): S376– S381.
- 17. Garcia-Effron G, Mellado E, Gomez-Lopez A, Alcazar-Fuoli L, Cuenca-Estrella M, Rodriguez-Tudela JL. Differences in interactions between azole drugs related to modifications in the 14-alpha sterol demethylase gene (cyp51A) of Aspergillus fumigatus. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2005; 49: 2119–2121.
- Mellado E, Garcia-Effron G, Buitrago MJ, Alcazar-Fuoli L, Cuenca-Estrella M, Rodriguez-Tudela JL. Targeted gene disruption of the 14alpha sterol demethylase (cyp51A) in Aspergillus fumigatus and its role in azole drug susceptibility. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2005; 49: 2536–2538.
- Verweij PE, Howard SJ, Melchers WJ, Denning DW. Azole-resistance in Aspergillus: proposed nomenclature and breakpoints. Drug Resist Updat 2009; 12: 141–147.
- Pfaller MA, Boyken L, Hollis RJ et al. In vitro susceptibility of clinical isolates of Aspergillus spp. to anidulafungin, caspofungin, and micafungin: a head-to-head comparison using the CLSI M38-A2 broth microdilution method. J Clin Microbiol 2009; 47: 3323–3325.

Supporting information

Figure S1. Heat flow (left panel) and total heat (right panel) of *Aspergillus terreus* in the presence of amphotericin B (A), voriconazole (B) and anidulafungin (C) in SDB medium using an inoculum of $\sim 10^4$ conidia/ml. Numbers indicate the antifungal concentration (in mg/L); GC denotes growth control without antifungals.





Figure S2. Heat flow (left panel) and total heat (right panel) of *Aspergillus flavus* in the presence of amphotericin B (A), voriconazole (B) and caspofungin (C). For details see legend to Figure S1.



Figure S3. Heat flow(left panel) and total heat (right panel) of *Aspergillus niger* in the presence of amphotericin B (A) posaconazole (B) and caspofungin (C). For details see legend to Figure S1.



Figure S4. Heat flow (left panel) and total heat (right panel) of *Aspergillus oryzae* in the presence of amphotericin B (A) posaconazole (B) and anidulafungin (C). For details see legend to Figure S1.

Figure S5. Heat flow (left panel) and total heat (right panel) of *Aspergillus lentulus* in the presence of amphotericin B (A) voriconazole (B) and anidulafungin (C). For details see legend to Figure S1.



Figure S6. Heat flow (left panel) and total heat (right panel) of *Aspergillus nidulans* in the presence of amphotericin B (A) posaconazole (B) caspofungin(C). For details see legend to Figure S1.



Figure S7. Heat flow (left panel) and total heat (right panel) of *Aspergillus* fumigatus CM-237 (wild type) MIC 0.06 (A), CM-796 (Δ cyp51a/b) MIC 16 (B) and CM-2097 (Δ cyp51a) MIC 16 (C) in the presence of posaconazole. For details see legend to Figure S1.



Species	TTD (h)	Peak (µw)	TTP (h)	TH 24h (J)	TH 48h (J)	TH 72h (J)
A. fumigatus ATCC 204305	4.5 (3.0-5.8)	250 (203-277)	16.4 (11.0-18.6)	4.5 (4.3-4.8)	4.7 (4.3-5.1)	4.8 (4.4-5.2)
A. fumigatus CM-237	3.6 (3.3-3.9)	219 (212-220)	14.5 (14.5-18)	4.5 (4.4-4.7)	4.6 (4.5-4.9)	4.7 (4.6-4.9)
A. fumigatus CM-796	4 (3.7-4.5)	212 (202-232)	19.7 (16-20.9)	4.6 (4.4-4.7)	4.7 (4.5-4.9)	4.7 (4.6-4.8)
A. fumigatus CM-2097	14 (12.5-15.4)	129 (123-134)	30.5 (27.6-33.4)	1.2 (0.65-1.8)	4.8 (4.7-4.9)	4.9 (4.8-5)
A. terreus ATCC 10690	5.5 (5-6.7)	143 (139-150)	30.2 (29.7-30.8)	1.4 (1.4-1.7)	5.6 (5.5-6)	5.6 (5.5-6)
A. flavus ATCC 204304	3.8 (1.7-6.1)	162 (114-164)	25 (15.9-25.5)	5.8 (3.3-5.8)	8.3 (6-8.3)	10 (10-10.1)
A. lentulus CBS117.885	4.7 (4.3-4.7)	180 (170-190)	22.9 (15-22.9)	4.5 (4.4-4.6)	5 (4.7-5.1)	5.1 (4.7-5.2)
A. niger Clinical isolate	7.7 (3.7-12.7)	103 (62-129)	23.3 (21-32.5)	2.9 (1.9-4)	4.4 (3.6-4.7)	4.9 (4.8-4.9)
A. nidulans Clinical isolate	4.4 (4.4-9.6)	176 (165-205)	24.2 (18-24.5)	3.3 (3.1-4.8)	5.2 (5-5.4)	5.5 (5.4-5.6)
A. oryzae Clinical isolate	4.3 (2.1-6.3)	152 (146-157)	18.4 (13.3-26.8)	5 (3-6.6)	7.9 (6.8-8.7)	8.6 (8.1-9)

Table S1. Calorimetric characteristics of *Aspergillus* species in SDB at 37°C. The inoculum was $\sim 10^4$ conidia/ml.

NOTE. Detection time was defined as exponential increase of the heat flow until 5 µW. TTD; time to detection, TTP; time to peak, TH; total heat.

* Values are median values from the \geq 3 replicates tested.

Chapter 10.

Isothermal microcalorimetry for antifungal susceptibility testing of Mucorales, *Fusarium* spp., and *Scedosporium* spp..

Ulrika Furustrand Tafin, Jacques F Meis, Andrej Trampuz

Diagnostic Microbiology and Infectious Disease

August 2012, Volume 73, Issue 4, Pages 330-7

Diagnostic Microbiology and Infectious Disease 73 (2012) 330-337

Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect



Diagnostic Microbiology and Infectious Disease

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/diagmicrobio

Mycology

Isothermal microcalorimetry for antifungal susceptibility testing of Mucorales, *Fusarium* spp., and *Scedosporium* spp.☆☆☆,★

Ulrika Furustrand Tafin^{a,*}, Jacques F. Meis^{b,c}, Andrej Trampuz^a

* Infectious Diseases Service, Department of Medicine, Lausanne University Hospital, Lausanne, Switzerland

¹⁶ Department of Medical Microbiology, Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Center, Nijmegen, Netherlands

^c Department of Medical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases, Canisius-Wilhelmina Hospital, Nijmegen, Netherlands

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 4 April 2012 Accepted 8 May 2012 Available online 12 June 2012

Keywords: Molds Microcalorimetry Susceptibility testing

ABSTRACT

We evaluated isothermal microcalorimetry for real-time susceptibility testing of non-*Aspergillus* molds. MIC and minimal effective concentration (MEC) values of Mucorales (n = 4), *Fusarium* spp. (n = 4), and *Scedosporium* spp. (n = 4) were determined by microbroth dilution according to the Clinical Laboratory Standard Institute M38-A2 guidelines. Heat production of molds was measured at 37 °C in Sabouraud dextrose broth inoculated with 2.5 × 10⁴ spores/mL in the presence of amphotericin B, voriconazole, posaconazole, caspofungin, and anidulafungin. As determined by microcalorimetry, amphotericin B was the most active agent against Mucorales (MHIC 0.06–0.125 µg/mL) and *Fusarium* spp. (MHIC 1–4 µg/mL), whereas voriconazole was the most active agent against *Scedosporium* spp. (MHIC 0.25 to 8 µg/mL). The percentage of agreement (within one 2 fold dilution) between the MHIC and MIC (or MEC) was 67%, 92%, 75%, and 83% for amphotericin B, voriconazole, nad caspfungin, respectively. Microcalorimetry provides additional information on timing of antifungal activity, enabling further investigation of drug-mold and drug-drug interaction, and optimization of antifungal treatment.

© 2012 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Invasive mold infections are increasingly reported in the clinical setting, particularly in immunocompromized patients. While *Aspergillus* remains the principal pathogen, other mold genera are emerging (Hsiue et al., 2010; Lass-Florí, 2009; Maschmeyer et al., 2009; Park et al., 2011). Infections due to non-*Aspergillus* species, such as those from the Mucorales order, *Fusarium* spp., and *Scedosporium* spp., are usually difficult to treat because of rapid tissue invasion and their intrinsic resistance to most first-line antifungal agents (Nucci, 2003; Park et al., 2011).

0732-8893/\$ – see front matter © 2012 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.diagmicrobio.2012.05.009

The most common species in the order of Mucorales include Rhizopus arrhizus, Rhizomucor pusillus, and Lichtheimia corymbifera (Chayakulkeeree et al., 2006), whereas F, solani is the principal pathogen among Fusarium species (Nucci and Anaissie, 2007). In vitro antifungal susceptibility profiles of Mucorales and Fusarium spp. (Azor et al., 2009a,b; Venturini et al., 2011) exhibit intermediate or full resistance against several antifungals, including triazoles and echinocandins (Castanheira et al., 2012; Espinel-Ingroff, 2003; Nucci and Anaissie, 2007; Torres-Narbona et al., 2007). However, amphotericin B and posaconazole show activity against most Mucorales with MIC₅₀ values of 0.125 and 0.25 µg/mL, respectively (Dannaoui et al., 2003; Vitale et al., 2012). The genus Scedosporium includes at least 2 medically important members, Pseudallesheria apiosperma and S. prolificans (Cortez et al., 2008), which may colonize the respiratory tract and disseminate locally or systemically. Particularly S. prolificans is highly resistant to most antifungal agents, with MICs and MECs above 8 µg/mL for most drugs (Lackner et al., 2012). Micafungin, anidulafungin, and voriconazole demonstrated activity against P. apiosperma with MEC50 and MIC50 values of 0.125, 0.5, and 1 µg/mL respectively (Lackner et al., 2012).

For susceptibility testing of conidia forming fungi, microbroth dilution is recommended by the Clinical Laboratory Standard Institute (CLSI, 2008) and the Antifungal Susceptibility Testing Subcommittee of EUCAST (EUCAST, 2008) as the standard method with defined inoculum preparation and culture conditions. However, with fast-growing Mucorales species it is often difficult to get accurate and

^A Funding: This study was supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation (CR3213.30676). Stanely Thomas Johnson Foundation, Pfizer (Zurich, Switzerland), and MSD (Lucerne, Switzerland). ^A Transparency declaration: LEM. received grants form Astellas, Merck, Basilea, and ^A Transparency actionation: Section 2018 (Science Science Science) (Science Science) (Science Science) (Science Science) (Science) (Science Science) (Science) (Science Science) (Science) (Sci

⁴²¹⁴ Transparency declaration: J.F.M. received grants form Astellas, Merck, Basilea, and Schering. Plough. He has been a consultant to Basilea and Merck, and received speaker's fees from Merck, Pfizer, Schering-Plough, Gilead, and Janssen Pharmaceutica. A.T. received grants from Pfizer, MSD, and Gilead. The other author (U.F.T) has no potential conflicts of interest.

 $[\]bigstar$ Part of the results was presented at the 50th Interscience Conference on Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy (ICAAC) in Boston, USA, 12–15 September 2010 and at the 5th Trends in Medical Mycology (TIMM) in Valencia, Spain, 2–5 October 2011.

^c Corresponding author. Tel.: +41 21 314 28 72; fax: +41 21 314 28 76. E-mail address: hanna.furustrand@chuv.ch (U. Furustrand Tafin).

consistent end points (Dannaoui et al., 2003). CLSI recommends 24 h of incubation for *Mucorales* spp., but Dannaoui et al. (2003) demonstrated that most Mucorales strains tested showed sufficient growth to determine MICs after 16 h of incubation. Moreover, interpretive MIC breakpoints have not been defined for non-*Aspergillus* molds (Chayakulkeeree et al., 2006; Nucci and Anaissie, 2007) and the antifungal susceptibility testing is currently recommended only for *Aspergillus* spp. Because of nonavailability of validated susceptibility testing method and missing interpretive MIC breakpoints, the optimal antifungal treatment (either as single or combination regime) is difficult to determine.

Isothermal microcalorimetry enables highly sensitive, precise, and real-time measurement of microbial heat production, related to their growth and metabolism (Braissant et al., 2010a; Wadsö, 2001). The heat flow rate (in watts) is proportional to the growth rate of the microorganism at any time point, whereas the total heat (in joules) represents the cumulative heat produced by microbes until a determined time. The potential application of isothermal microcalorimetry in clinical microbiology was recently demonstrated for susceptibility testing of Aspergilllus spp. (Furustrand Tafin et al., 2012) and Escherichia coli and Staphylococcus aureus (von Ah et al., 2009), the differentiation between methicillin-susceptible and methicillin-resistant S. aureus within 5 h (Baldoni et al., 2009), and for growth detection and susceptibility testing of mycobacteria (Braissant et al., 2010b; Howell et al., 2012). An advantage of microcalorimetry is measurement of growth-related heat instead of increase in optical quantity (e.g., visual inspection, absorbance, or fluorescence). This facilitates evaluation of growth of heterogeneously growing microorganisms, such as molds. Moreover, data are collected continuously over time allowing evaluation of subinhibitory concentrations, which is particularly interesting for studying concentration dependency and the activity of drug combinations.

In this study, we investigated the potential of isothermal microcalorimetry for determination of susceptibility testing of 3 medically important non-*Aspergillus* mold genera, including those with rapid (Mucorales), intermediate (*Fusarium* spp.), and slow growth characteristics (*Scedosporium* spp.). The microcalorimetry results were compared with conventional microbroth dilution testing. An accurate and reproducible susceptibility testing method for non-*Aspergillus* molds may help in guiding the choice of optimal antifungal treatment (alone or in combination) with potential improved clinical outcome.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Test organisms

Strains used in this study were obtained from the Centraal Bureau voor Schimmelcultures (CBS), Utrecht, The Netherlands; the German Collection of Microorganisms (DSM); and from strain collections at the clinical microbiology laboratories at University Hospital Lausanne and University Hospital Basel, Switzerland. Among Mucorales, Rhizopus arrhizus (DSM 906), Rhizomucor pusillus (CBS 294.63), and 2 clinical strains of Lichtheimia corymbifera (L09186003, L09304177) were tested. Among Fusarium spp., 4 strains of F. solani (B1779, L2111, L10291190, L10450902) were tested. Among Scedosporium spp., the following strains were tested: S. prolificans (I. 2121) and 3 strains of P. apiosperma (B6211, L09443001, L10361407). For quality control, Aspergillus fumigatus (ATCC 204305) and A. flavus (ATCC 204304) were used. Molds were subcultured on Sabouraud dextrose agar (SDA) for 3-7 days at 37 °C and identified on the basis of macroscopic and microscopic morphologic features, and by 26S rDNA sequencing. Stocks of each strain were maintained in water at 4 °C for short-time storage and in Sabouraud dextrose broth (SDB) with 20% glycerol at -80 °C for long-term storage.

2.2. Inoculum preparation

The inoculum size of the fungal suspension used for microcalorimetry was determined by microscopic enumeration of spores with a cell-counting haematocytometer (Neubauer chamber; Assistent, Sondheim, Germany). For the microbroth dilution, inoculum was defined according to the CLSI M38A2 guidelines (CLSI, 2008).



Fig. 1. Determination of the minimal heat inhibitory concentration (MHIC) by microcalorimetry using *L* corymbifera (L0918 6003) as example and 3 classes of antifungals. The dotted horizontal lines indicate the total heat and a 50% of inhibition of total heat produced by the growth control after 24 h for amphotericin B (A) and vonconazole (B), respectively: In panel C, the dotted line indicates a 50% decrease in the heat-flow peak (for caspofungin). GC denotes growth control without antifungals.

332 Table 1 U. Furnistrand Tafin et al. / Diagnostic Microbiology and Infectious Disease 73 (2012) 330-337

	Detection	Heat-flow	Time to	Total heat (J)		
	time (h)"	peak (µW)	peak (h)	24 h	48 h	72 h
Mucorales	4.1 (1.3-7.3)	235 (79-348)	23 (17-24)	4.6 (2.7-11)	4.8 (4.5-18.5)	4.8 (4.7-20.5
Fasarium spp.	7.1 (3.1-21.4)	27 (16 56)	64 (59 >72)	0.6 (0.2 0.9)	1.8 (0.8 3.3)	3.8 (2-6.8)
Scedosporium spp.	17.05 (6.7-26.8)	53 (25-102)	53 (43 ->72)	0.2 (0.2-0.4)	1.2 (0.6-4.4)	3.7 (1.8-4.8)

The inoculum was ~10^a conidia/mL incubated under static conditions without aeration at 37 °C. Numbers represent median (range) values.

The detection time was defined as the time until heat flow reached 5 µW (for details see Materials and Methods).

2.3. Antifungal agents

Amphotericin B (Sigma, St. Louis, MO, USA), voriconazole, and posaconazole (TRC, North York, ON, Canada) were obtained in powder form and dissolved according to the manufacturer's instruction. Caspofungin was received from Merck (Whitehouse Station, NJ, USA). Anidulafungin was kindly provided by Pfizer Pharma (Zürich, Switzerland).

2.4. Susceptibility testing by microbroth dilution

Microbroth dilution was performed as described in the CLSI M38-A2 document (CLSI, 2008) by using RPMI 1640 medium with 0.2% glucose, round-bottom microdilution trays, inoculum of 0.4×10^4 to 5×10^4 spores/mL, and incubation at 35 °C for 24 h (Mucorales) or 48 h (for other molds); due to slower growth, the MIC for Scedosporium spp. was determined in addition after 72 h. The minimal effective concentration (MEC) values were determined for caspofungin and anidulafungin and defined as the lowest drug concentration at which short, stubby, and highly branched hyphae were observed (Kurtz et al., 1994).

2.5. Microcalorimetry measurements

An isothermal microcalorimeter (TAM III, TA Instruments, Newcastle, DE, USA), equipped with 48 calorimeters and a detection limit for heat production of 0.2 uW, was used. The inoculum was adjusted to a final concentration of 2.5×10^4 conidia/mL of growth medium by adding 0.05 mL of fungal suspension to 2.95 mL of medium (without aeration). For evaluation of growth characteristics, 3 mL of SDB (Oxoid CM0147; Basingstoke, Hampshire, UK) was used. In addition to the growth media, 1 ml of air was present in the headspace of the ampoule. The ampoules were air-tightly sealed and introduced into the microcalorimeter, first in

the equilibration position for 15 min to reach 37 °C and avoid heat disturbance in the measuring position. Heat flow was recorded with a 10-s interval up to 72 h. The detection limit was determined at 5 µW in order to discard background noise. The negative control never exceeded this limit. The detection time (in hours), peak heat flow (in microwatts, the time to peak (in hours), and total heat produced (in joules, represented by the area under the heat-flow curve) at 24, 48, and 72 h were determined. Growth media without molds served as negative control. Experiments were repeated at least 3 times.

2.6. Susceptibility testing by microcalorimetry

For testing antifungal agents, 2-fold dilutions of antifungal agents were added to 3 mL of SDB. The minimal heat inhibitory concentration (MHIC) for amphotericin B and triazoles was defined as the lowest antifungal concentration inhibiting 50% of the total heat produced by the growth control (containing no antifungals) at 24 h for Mucorales, at 48 h for Fusarium spp., and at 48 and 72 h for Scedosporium spp. For echinocandins, the MHIC was defined as the lowest concentration reducing the heat-flow peak by 50% accompanied by a change in the initial slope of the heat flow curve. These changes are reflecting the distinct activity of echinocandins on the growth and represent the analogous parameter to the MEC (Kurtz et al., 1994). The parameters of antifungal susceptibility determined by microcalorimetry are illustrated in Fig. 1.

2.7. Data analysis

Data analysis was accomplished using the manufacturer's software (TAM Assistant, TA Instruments). Figures were plotted using GraphPad Prism 5.0 (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA, USA).

Table 2

Comparison of minimal inhibitory/effective concentration (MIC/MEC) values [obtained by the microbroth dilution assay according to CLSI (2008)] and the minimal heat inhibition concentration (MHIC) values (obtained by microcalorimetry).

Mold species	Strain	Amphoto	ericin B	Voriconaz	ole	Posaconazo	de	Caspofi	ingin	Anidulat	ungin
1		MIC	MHIC	MIC	MHIC	MIC	MHIC	MEC	MHIC	MEC	MHIC
Order Mucorales											
R. arrhizus	DSM 906	0.06	0.125	8	8	0.125	0.125	>8	>16		> 8
R. pusillus	CBS 294.63	0.06	0.06	16	4	0.5	0.25	0.5	16	4-8	>8
L. corymbifera	L0918 6003	0.06	0.06	16	8	0.125	0.03	8	8	2 8	4
L corymbifera	LI 0930 4177	0.06	0.125	8	8	0.06	0.06	8	8	2-8"	4
Fusarium spp.											
F. solani	B1779	2	4	16	16	>16	>8	>8	8	>8**	>16
F. solani	L 2131	0.5	2	16	>16	>16	2	>8	16	>8**	>16
F. solani	L 10291190	1	2	16	8	>16	>8	>8	>16	>8"**	>16
E solani	L 1045 0902	2	1	16	8	>16	8	>8	>8	>8**	>16
Scedosporium spp.***											
S. prolificans	L2121	4/>16	8/8	16/>16	8/8	>16/>16	8/>8	4/>8	2/2	2-4**	1/1
P. apiosperma	B 6211	4/8	1/4	1/1	0.25/0.5	1/2	0.25/1	4/4	1/1	1 4**	1/1
P. apiosperma	L0944 3001	1/8	1/1	0.5/0.5	0.5/0.5	0.25/2	0.25/0.25	1/2	0.06/0.06	1-4**	0.25/0.25
P. apiospermo	1.1036 1407	4/4	4/2	0.5/0.5	1/0.25	3/1	4/1	2/2.	4/2	1-4**	4/4

The MIC/MEC and MHIC values were determined at 24 h for Mucorales, at 48 h for Fusarium spp., and at 48 and 72 h for Scedosporium spp.

Odabasi et al. (2004).

** Castanheira et al. (2012)

*** The values for Scedosporium spp. are obtained after incubation of 48 h/72 h.

3. Results

3.1. Growth characteristics of molds by microcalorimetry

The heat-flow characteristics of the tested mold species are summarized in Table 1. While a similar pattern of heat-flow curves

exist within each genus, distinct heat-flow profiles were observed

between genera. Different growth characteristics influenced the heat

detection time. For example, in fast-growing Mucorales, the detection time was <5 h, whereas the detection time for *Fusarium* spp. and *Scedosporium* spp. ranged between 7 and 17 h. Time to heat-flow peak, reflecting the time to reach the end of the exponential growth phase, was <24 h for Mucorales and ranged from 48 to >72 h for *Fusarium* and *Scedosporium* spp. Among the Mucorales species, *Rhizopus arrhizus* continuously produced heat, despite the heat flow reaching the peak at 20 h; the cumulative

A Amphotericin B (µg/ml) Amphotericin B (µg/ml) 300 0.03 250 G 0.03 Heat flow (µW) 200 Heat (J) 3 150 100 0.06 50 0.06 0.125 0 0.25 0 Ó 20 12 16 20 24 8 12 16 2 Ó 4 Time (h) Time (h) в Posaconazole (µg/ml) Posaconazole (µg/ml) 300 GC 0.03 GC 250 0.06 0.03 0.06 Heat flow (µW) 200 Heat (J) 150 0.125 0.125 100 0.25 0.25 50 0 0 12 16 20 16 20 24 ó 12 Time (h) Time (h) С Anidulafungin (µg/ml) Anidulafungin (µg/ml) 250-200 Heat flow (µW) 8 150 Heat (J) 3 100 2 5(12 16 20 12 16 20 24 24 0 8 0 4 Time (h) Time (h)





Fig. 3. Heat flow (left panel) and total heat (right panel) of *F. solani* (B1779) in the presence of amphotericin B (A), voriconazole (B), and anidulafungin (C). The dotted vertical line indicates the time point (48 h) at which the MHIC was read. For details see the legend to Fig. 2.

(total) heat increased from 9.3 J (at 24 h) to 16.8 J (at 48 h) and 19.6 J (at 72 h).

3.2. Susceptibility determined by microculorimetry

334

Table 2 summarizes the MHIC values for tested molds and antifungals in comparison to MIC values determined according to the CLSI guidelines (CLSI, 2008). In Figs. 2-4, the activity of tested antifungals on 1 representative strain from each genus is shown. Fig. 2 shows the activity of one antifungal from each drug class on the heat production of *R. pusillus*. Amphotericin B (Fig. 2A) was the most active antifungal with an MHIC of 0.06 μ g/mL, followed by posaconazole (Fig. 2B) with an MHIC of 0.25 μ g/mL. Voriconazole and the echinocandins showed activity only at high concentrations. Fig. 3 shows the heat produced by *F. solani* up to 72 h to illustrate the continuous heat flow, but the end point for the MHIC was set at 48 h.

Amphotericin B was the most active antifungal agent against *F. solani* (Fig. 3A), whereas other antifungals showed no detectable activity against tested *Fusarium* strains (Fig. 3B and C, Table 2). While *S. prolificans* showed high MHICs for all antifungals (Table 2), good activity of triazoles was observed against *P. apiosperma* (Fig. 4B). The effect of anidulafungin (MHIC 1 µg/mL) on the change of the heat-flow curve of *P. apiosperma* is shown in Fig. 4C.

3.3. Correlation between MHIC (microcalorimetry) and MIC (microbroth dilution)

The percentage of agreement (within one 2-fold dilution) between the MHIC and MIC (or MEC) by CLSI was 67%, 92%, 75%, and 83% for amphotericin B, voriconazole, posaconazole, and caspofungin, respectively (incubation of 72 h for *Scedosporium* spp.). Tested Mucorales



Fig. 4. Heat flow (left panel) and total heat (right panel) of *P. apiosperma* (B 6211) in the presence of amphotericin B (A), posaconazole (B), and caspolungin (C). The MHIC read at 72 h is circled. For details see the legend to Fig. 2.

strains exhibited, by both methods, low MIC/MHIC values for amphotericin B and posaconazole, but reduced susceptibility to voriconazole and echinocandins. Tested F. solani strains had MIC/ MHIC values for amphotericin B ranging between 0.5 and 4 µg/mL, but poor activity was observed with other tested antifungals. In addition, by both susceptibility testing methods, no antifungal agent was active against S. prolificans.

4. Discussion

We evaluated growth characteristics of Mucorales, Fusarium, and Scedosporium by measuring heat production, related to their growth and metabolism. For tested species, different calorimetric curves (thermokinetic profiles) were observed depending on the metabolic characteristics (metabolic state, replication rate, cell size) of the mold and growth conditions, such as culture medium, incubation temperature, and ambient gas. Further studies are needed to determine whether individual species can be identified based on the shape of the heat-flow curve when using defined media.

Culture media recommended for susceptibility testing by CLSI (2008) and EUCAST (2008) (i.e., RPMI with 0.2% or 2% glucose) did not support well the growth of tested molds in the microcalorimetric assay (data not shown). Since RPMI may not be the most appropriate growth medium for molds (Kuzucu et al., 2004: Meletiadis et al., 2001), SDB was chosen for the microcalorimetric assay. No interaction between the media and the antifungals or reduced antifungal activity was observed.

Susceptibility testing of emerging rare mold species is challenged by their different speed of growth, which requires different end points for reading the susceptibility results depending on the genus. Isothermal microcalorimetry enables real-time measurement of the growth-related heat production, allowing "read-out" throughout the experiment which is an advantage particularly for fast-growing Mucorales, for which a susceptibility testing end point of 16 h was proposed (Dannaoui et al., 2003). Microcalorimetry additionally allows an objective data interpretation not based on visual inspection. Molds tested in this study are considered intrinsically resistant to several antifungals (Miceli and Lee, 2011), but great variability may exist within species belonging to the same genus and species complex, as was recently shown by Vitale et al. (2012) for the order Mucorales and for Scedosporium spp.(Lackner et al., 2012). Determination of antifungal susceptibility of these emerging molds is thus important in order to guide accurate treatment.

The definition of the MHIC was adapted to the growth rate of the fungus and in accordance with the end points used for the microbroth dilution. After evaluating the effect of antifungals on different microcalorimetric parameters, such as delay of heat detection and heat-flow peak and inhibition of total heat, a 50% inhibition of the total heat was used for determination of the MHIC for amphotericin B and triazoles. Another approach was taken to assess the activity of the echinocandins because of their different mechanism of action. Echinocandins have little activity against Fusarium spp., Scedosporium spp., and most Mucorales species (Miceli and Lee, 2011; Vitale et al., 2012). However, for the P. apiosperma and L. corymbifera strains tested, caspofungin and anidulafungin changed the heat-flow curve shape by lowering the heat-flow peak, which was used for the determination of the MHIC for these drugs. The MHIC is here comparable to the MEC for susceptibility testing of echinocandins. The change in heat-flow curve shape (lower heat flow peak) could reflect the different mode of action interfering with the metabolic activity when the mold changes its growth mode.

A limitation of the study was that the thermostat in the microcalorimeter was set at 37 °C for the current study, which is not the optimal temperature for growth of Scedosporium spp. and Fusarium spp., which shows optimal growth at 25-35" C (Guarro et al., 2005; Cortez et al., 2008; Palmero Llamas et al., 2008). The

detection time for these molds could be shortened by lowering the temperature in the calorimeter. Additionally, anidulafungin was not tested by microdilution and our results were only compared with MEC values found in the literature (Castanheira et al., 2012; Odabasi et al., 2004).

In conclusion, we demonstrated, as a proof of principle, that microcalorimetry has the potential for early growth detection and for susceptibility testing of non-Aspergillus molds. However, to be used in a clinical setting the current device needs further technical improvement to automate the testing and enable high-throughput investigation. This method could be further used for testing new antifungal agents, including investigation of their mode of action, growth phasespecific activity, and interactions between antifungal agents.

Acknowledgments

Clinical strains were kindly provided by Dr. Reno Frei from the University Hospital Basel, Switzerland, and by Dr. Philippe Hauser from Lausanne University Hospital. The authors thank Doris Hohler from the University Hospital Basel, Switzerland, for laboratory assistance and practical advice. They also would like to thank Prof. Jacques Bille for helpful advice during the study.

References

- Azor M, Cano J, Gene J. Guarro J. High genetic diversity and poor in vitro response to antifungals of clinical strains of Fusorium oxysporum. J Antimicrob Chemother 2009a;63:1152-5.
- Azor M, Gene J, Cano J, Manikandan P, Venkatapathy N, Guarro J. Less-frequent Fusorium species of clinical interest: correlation between morphological and molecular
- identification and antifungal susceptibility. J Clin Microbiol 2009b;47:1463-8. Baldoni D, Hermann H, Frei R, Trampuz A, Steinhuber A. Performance of microcalo rimetry for early detection of methicillin resistance in clinical isolates of Staphylococcus aureus. J Clin Microbiol 2009;47:774-6.
- Braissant O, Wirz D, Gopfert B, Daniels AU. Use of isothermal microcalorimetry to monitor microbial activities. FEMS Microbiol Lett 2010a;303:1–8.
- Braissant O, Wirz D, Gopfert B, Daniels AU, "The heat is on": rapid microcalorimetric detection of mycobacteria in culture. Tuberculosis (Edinb) 2010b;90:57–9.
- Castanheira M, Duncanson FP, Diekema DJ, Guarro J, Jones RN, Pfaller MA. Activity of E1210 and comparator agents tested by CLSI and EUCAST broth microdilution methods against Fusarium and Scedosporium species identified using molecular methods. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2012;56:352-7.
- Chayakulkeeree M, Ghannoum MA, Perfect JR. Zygomycosis: the re-emerging fungal infection. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 2006;25:215–29.
- Clinical Laboratory Standards Institute. Reference method for broth dilution antifungal susceptibility testing of filamentous fungi, Second Edition: Approved Standard. Wayne PA: CLSI document M38-A2: 2008.
- Cortez KJ, Rolides E, Quiroz-Telles F, Meletiadis J, Antachopoulos C, Knudsen T, et al. Infections caused by Seedosportum spp. Clin Microbiol Rev 2008;21:157–97. Dannaoui E, Meletiadis J, Mouton JW, Meis JF, Verweij PE. In vitro susceptibilities of zygomycetes to conventional and new antifungals. J Antimicrob Chemother 2003:51:45-52
- Espinel-Ingroff A In vitro antifungal activities of anidulafungin and micafungin, licensed agents and the investigational triazole posaconazole as determined by NCCIS methods for 12,052 fungal isolates: review of the literature. Rev lberoam Micol 2003;20:121-36.
- Furustrand Tafin U. Hauser P. Bille J. Meis JF. Trampuz A. Isothermal microcalorimetry a novel method for real-time determination of antifungal susceptibility of Aspergillus species. Clin Microbiol Infect 2012. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1469 of
- 0691.2012.03854.x. [Epub abead of print]. Guarro J. Kantarcioglu AS, Horre R, Rodriguez-Tudela JL, Cuenca M, Berenguer EJ, et al. Scedosportum opiospermum: changing clinical spectrum of a therapy-refractory opportunist, Med Mycol 2006;44:295–327.
- Howell M, Wirz D, Daniels AU, Braissant O. Application of a microcalorimetric method for determining drug susceptibility in *Mycobacterium* species. J Clin Microbiol 2012:50:16-20
- Hsiue HC, Ruan SY, Kuo YL, Huang VT, Hsueh PR. Invasive infections caused by non Aspergillus moulds identified by sequencing analysis at a tertiary care hospital in Taiwan, 2000–2008. Clin Microbiol Infect 2010;16:1204–6.
- Kurtz MB, Heath IB, Marrinan J, Dreikorn S, Onishi J, Douglas C. Morphological effects of lipopeptides against Aspergillus fumigatus correlate with activities against (1.3) beta-o-glucan synthase. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 1994;38:1480-9.
- Kuzucu C, Rapino B. McDermott L. Hadley S. Comparison of the semisolid agar antifungal susceptibility test with the NCCIS M38-P broth microdilution test for
- screening of filamentous fungi. J Clin Microbiol 2004;42:1224-7. Lackner M. de Hoog GS, Verweij PE, Najafzadeh MJ, Curis-Breuker I, Klaassen CH, et al. Species-specific antifungal susceptibility patterns of Scelosporium and Iseudul-lescheria species. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2012. [Epub Jan 30].

- Lass Florl C. The changing face of epidemiology of invasive fungal disease in Europe. Mycoses 2009:52:197-205.
- Mycroses 2009;52:197-205.
 Maschmeyer G, Calandra T, Singh N, Wiley J, Perfect J. Invasive mould infections: a multi-disciplinary update. Med Mycol 2009;47:571-83.
 Meletiadis J, Meis JF, Mouton JW, Verweij PE. Analysis of growth characteristics of filamentous fungi in different nutrient media. J Clin Microbiol 2001;39:478-84.
 Miceli MH, Lee SA. Emerging moulds: epidemiological trends and antifungal resistance. Mycoses 2011;54:e666-78.
 Mucri M, Ferenzine Roudde: Program.
- Nucci M. Emerging moulds: Rusarium, Scedosparium and zygomycetes in transplant recipients. Curr Opin Infect Dis 2003;16:607–12.
- Nucci M. Anaissie E. Fusurium infections in immunocompromised patients. Clin Microbiol Rev 2007;20:695-704.
- Odabasi Z, Paetznick VL, Rodriguez JR, Chen E, Ostrosky-Zeichner L. In vitro activity of anidulafungin against selected clinically important mold isolates. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2004;48:1912–5.
- Llamas P, de Cara Gonzalez DM, Iglesias Gonzalez C, Ruiz Lopez G, Tello Marquina C. The interactive effects of temperature and osmotic potential on the growth of marine isolates of *Fusiorium solani*. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 2008;35:1405-9. Park BJ, Pappas PG, Wannemuehler KA, Alexander BD, Anaissie EJ, Andes DR, et al.
- Invasive non-Aspergillus mold infections in transplant recipients, United States, 2001–2006. Emerg Infect Dis 2011;17:1855–64.

- Subcommittee on Antifungal Susceptibility Testing (AFST) of the ESCMID European Committee for Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing (EUCAST). EUCAST Technical Note on the method for the determination of broth dilution minimum inhibitory concentrations of antifungal agents for conidia-forming moulds. Clin Microbiol Infect 2008;14:982-4.
- Torres Narbona M, Guinea J, Martinez Alarcon J, Pelaez T, Bouza E. In vitro activities of amphotericin B, caspolungin, itraconazole, posaconazole, and voriconazole against 45 clinical isolates of zygomycetes: comparison of CLSI M38-A, Sensititre YeastOne, and the Etest: Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2007;51:1126-9. Venturini IP, Rossato L, Spader TB, Tronco-Alves GR, Azevedo ML, Weiler CB, et al. In
- vitro synergisms obtained by amphotericin B and vonconazole associated with non-antifungal agents against Fusarium spp. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis 2011;71: 126-30.
- 126-30. Vitale KG, de Hoog GS, Schwarz P, Dannaoui E, Deng S, Machouart M, et al. Antifungal susceptibility and phylogeny of opportunistic members of the order Mucorales. J Clin Microbiol 2012;50:66-75. Von Ah U, Wirz D, Daniels AU. Isothermal micro calorimetry a new method for MIC and the order of the order of
- determinations: results for 12 antibiotics and reference strains of E coll and S aureas. BMC Microbiol 2009;9:106.
- Wadsö J. Isothermal microcalorimety: current problems and prospects. J Therm Anal Calorim 2001;64:75–84.

Chapter 11.

Evaluation of antifungal combinations against *Aspergillus fumigatus* and *Aspergillus terreus* by isothermal microcalorimetry.

Ulrika Furustrand Tafin, Christina Orasch, Andrej Trampuz

Submitted to Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, July 2012

Abstract

Combining two antifungal agents with synergistic activity may improve the treatment outcome of invasive mold infections. We evaluated a highly sensitive assay for testing the activity of antifungal combinations against Aspergillus fumigatus and A. terreus based on their growth-related heat production (microcalorimetry). In parallel, microscopical evaluation of antifungal activity was performed by the checkerboard microdilution broth assay. Amphotericin B and voriconazole, alone or in combination with caspofungin or anidulafungin, at concentrations of 0.125 x, 0.25 x, 0.5 x or 1 x MIC (or the MEC for echinocandins), were tested in Sauboraud dextrose broth containing 2.5×10^5 conidia/ml. Heat production was measured for 48 h at 37°C. A synergistic effect was defined as an increased delay of fungal heat-production in the presence of an antifungal combination compared to each drug alone at the same concentration. For A. fumigatus, the addition of caspofungin to amphotericin B and voriconazole, delayed the heat production with up to 4.1 and 7.4 h, respectively, whereas anidulafungin caused a delay up to 11.2 and 11.8 h, respectively. For A. terreus, the addition of caspofungin to amphotericin B and voriconazole, delayed the heat production with up to > 16.2 and 7.6 h, respectively, whereas anidulafungin caused a delay up to 10.9 h and 4.1 h, respectively. Growth reduction and change in hyphal morphology, observed by microscopy were in accordance with the microalorimetric data. Microcalorimetry enables an accurate and real-time evaluation of antifungal combinations against Aspergillus species and merits further evaluation for testing of other mold species and antifungal combinations.

Introduction.

In the last decades an increased prevalence of invasive mold infections has been reported (14, 17). The mortality rate associated with invasive infection is high and an early start of efficient antifungal treatment regimen is crucial for an improved outcome (11). The availability of new antifungal agents with different targets and modes of action has raised the interest for investigation of combination therapy to improve the treatment outcome. Drug combinations with synergistic activity could potentially increase the antifungal efficacy, prevent the emergence of resistance, and provide a broader antifungal spectrum for initial empiric therapy (10). However, combination therapy may also decrease the antifungal efficacy in case of antagonistic drug-drug interaction, increase the drug toxicity, promote spread of resistance and considerably rise the healthcare expenses (10). Therefore, investigation of antifungal activity of combination regimens is important and clinically relevant, as it may help planning the design of clinical trials aiming to improve treatment outcome of invasive mold infections.

Only few *in vitro* assays are currently available for testing of the activity of two or more antifungal agents. The checkerboard microdilution broth assay is the most widely used method to study antifungal combinations. The drug-drug interaction is assessed based on the fractional inhibitory concentration (FIC) index, determined by dividing the MIC of each drug in combination by the MIC of the drug alone (19). A FIC index of < 0.5 indicates synergy and an index above 4 indicates antagonism. The majority of combination studies report results with FIC indices ranging between 0.5 and 4, concluding indifference or additivity (22). However, the validity of this FIC range has been questioned, as the correlation with clinical outcome is lacking (15). Few studies have investigated other *in vitro* assays, such as time-kill studies. However, the utility of conidia in time-kill studies is not clear as conidia generally are absent in infected tissues and the fungicidal activity against actively growing hyphae would be more predictable for the treatment outcome (12, 18).

We recently demonstrated the use of isothermal microcalorimetry for real-time antifungal susceptibility testing of *Aspergillus* spp. (8) and non-*Aspergillus* spp. (9). Heat produced by replicating microorganism can be measured by isothermal microcalorimetry in the range of microwatt with high sensitivity (23). In the presence of an antimicrobial agent, the growth-related heat production is suppressed, which can be used to assess the susceptibility of an organism of interest. It was shown that amphotericin B, triazoles and echinocandins affected the heat-flow profiles of *Aspergillus* spp. in different manners, depending on their ability to inhibit or kill molds (i.e. exhibit fungicidal or fungistatic activity). These effects were observed particularly with echinocandins when using Sabouraud dextrose broth (SDB), but not when using RPMI medium, recommended for routine antifungal susceptibility by CLSI (4) and EUCAST (7).

The aim of this study was to evaluate the effect of adding caspofungin or anidulafungin to voriconazole and amphotericin B against *A. fumigatus* and *A. terreus* using isothermal microcalorimetry. Antifungals were chosen based on the clinical guidelines, which generally recommends voriconazole as first choice for the treatment of invasive aspergillosis and lipid formulation of amphotericin B is a valuable alternative (21, 24). For therapy in patients not responding to single-drug therapy adding an echinocandin, such as caspofungin, micafungin or anidulafungin has to be considered (24).

Methods.

Test organisms. *A. fumigatus* ATCC 204305 and *A. terreus* ATCC 10690 were used. Molds were subcultured for 3-5 days prior to testing on Sabouraud dextrose agar (SDA) at 37°C. Stocks of each strain were maintained in water at 4°C for short-term storage and in SDB-20% glycerol at -80°C for long-term storage. An inoculum of ~5 x 10^7 spores/ml was prepared in sterile 0.9% saline. The exact inoculum size was determined by microscopic enumeration of conidia using a hemocytometer (Neubauer chamber; Assistent, Sondheim, Germany).

Antifungals. Amphotericin B (Sigma, St. Louis, MO, USA), caspofungin (Merck & Co., Whitehouse Station, NJ, USA), voriconazole and anidulafungin (Pfizer Pharma AG, Zürich, Switzerland) were tested.

Susceptibility and synergy testing by microbroth dilution. Microdilution broth was performed as described in the EUCAST-AFST E.Def. 9.1 document (7) but SDB was used instead of RPMI medium with 0.2% glucose. After inoculation (2.5 x 10^5 spores/ml), microdilution plates were incubated at 37°C and read after 24 h and 48 h. MIC values for amphotericin B and triazoles were determined visually and by inverted contrast light microscopy(Nikon Eclipse TS100, 40X/0.65). as the lowest concentration of drug that caused complete inhibition of fungal growth compared to the growth control at 24 h and 48 h. The minimum effective concentration values for caspofungin and anidulafungin were determined (at 24 h), defined as the lowest drug concentration at which short, stubby, and highly branched hyphae were observed (13).

Antifungal combinations were tested according the checkerboard methodology (19). The drug dilutions were prepared at four times the strength of the final concentration following the CLSI drug dilution scheme. After 24 h and 48 h of incubation at 37°C plates wells containing following concentrations alone or in combination were examined by inverted contrast light 100

microscopy; 0.125 x, 0.25 x, 0.5 x and 1x MIC (or MEC for caspofungin and anidulafungin). Experiments were repeated three times.

Susceptibility and synergy testing by microcalorimetry. An isothermal microcalorimeter (TAM III, TA Instruments, Newcastle, DE, USA), equipped with 48 calorimetric channels and a detection limit for heat production of 0.2 μ W was used. The inoculum was diluted in SDB (Oxoid CM0147; Basingstoke, Hampshire, UK) to a concentration of 1.5 x 10^7 spores/ml. 0.05 ml of fungal suspension was added to microcalorimetric ampoules containing 2.95 ml of SDB and 2-fold dilutions of antifungals for a final inoculum of 2.5 x 10^5 spores/ml. For combination studies the two antifungals tested were combined at concentrations of 0.125 x, 0.25 x, 0.5 x and 1 x MIC (or MEC for caspofungin and anidulafungin). A synergistic effect was defined as an increased delay of fungal heat-production in the presence of an antifungal combination compared to each drug alone. SDB without antifungals served as growth control and SDB alone as negative control. In addition to the growth media, 1 ml air was present in the headspace of the ampoule. The ampoules were air-tightly sealed and introduced into the microcalorimeter, first in the equilibration position for 15 minutes to reach 37.0000°C and avoid heat disturbance in the measuring position. Heat flow was recorded up to 48 h. The time to reach 20 µW was recorded. Experiments were repeated three times. Data analysis was accomplished using the manufacturer's software (TAM Assistant, TA Instruments, New Castle, DE, USA) and exported for further data analyses and graphic presentation. Figures were plotted using GraphPad Prism 5.0 (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA, USA).

Results.

Antifungal susceptibility. The MIC and MEC values for A. fumigatus and A. terreus as determined by visual examination and microscopy at 24 h and 48 h are summarized in table 1. MIC values determined by microscopy were one or two two-fold dilutions higher than MIC values read by visual inspection. The MIC read at 48 h and MEC read at 24 h for by microscopy was used for microcalorimetric and combination studies. Time to heat detection (heat flow above 20 μ W) of the growth control was 7.0 ± 1.6 h and 12.6 ± 0.4 h for A. fumigatus and A. terreus, respectively. Voriconazole (Fig. 1A) and amphotericin B (Fig. 2A) delayed heat production in a concentration-dependent manner with a complete inhibition at MIC after 48 h of incubation. The highest concentration of amphotericin B tested (16 μ g/ml) inhibited the heat production of A. *terreus* for 33.7 ± 3.2 h, causing a delay to heat detection of 24.7 ± 4.6 h in comparison with the growth control but did not achieve complete inhibition. The growth-related heat produced was in agreement with the growth observed by microscopy (Fig. 1A and 2A), whereas visual growth not yet was observed at the same time point. Caspofungin and anidulafungin alone did not delay heat production but decreased the peak heat-flow (Fig. 1B and 2B), which could be correlated with the change of hyphal morphology observed by microscopy.

Evaluation of antifungal combinations. The effect of the addition of an echinocandin to amphotericin B or voriconazole was evaluated by calculating the delay of time to heat detection (heat flow above 20 μ W) in presence of a combination in comparison to the drug alone at 0.125 x, 0.25 x, 0.5 x and 1 x the MIC or MEC. In parallel the same combinations (according to checkerboard dilution scheme) were examined by microscopy. Microcalorimetric results are summarized in table 2 showing the delay of fungal heat-flow (in h) in presence of an antifungal combination compared to growth control, and the difference (in h) in heat detection of combinations compared to amphotericin B or voriconazole alone.

			MIC	(µg/ml)		MEC (µg/ml)			
Strain	Time	Ampho	tericin B	Vorico	onazole	Caspofungin	Anidulafungin		
		Visual	Microscopy	Visual	Microscopy	Microscopy	Microscopy		
A. fumigatus	24 h	0.25	1	0.25	0.5	0.125-0.25	0.015-0.03		
	48 h	1	2	0.25	0.5	0.25	0.03		
A 4	24 h	2	4	0.25	0.5	0.25-0.5	0.03		
A. lerreus	48 h	8	16	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.03		

Table 1. Antifungal susceptibility of A. fumigatus and A. terreus determined by visual examination and microscopy at 24 and 48h.

	0.125 x N	AIC/MEC	0.25 x N	IIC/MEC	0.5 x M	IC/MEC	1 x MI	C/MEC
	TTD (h)	Delay (h)	TTD (h)	Delay (h)	TTD (h)	Delay (h)	TTD (h)	Delay (h)
A. fumigatus								
AMB + CAS	10.3 ± 1.1	2.2 ± 1.1	15.7 ± 3.0	4.1 ± 1.7	26.5 ± 3.6	3.8 ± 2.4	> 48	0
AMB + ANI	9.6 ± 2.5	1.6 ± 2.1	14.5 ± 3.1	3.3 ± 3.7	31.1 ± 7.1	11.2 ± 4.6	>48	0
VOR + CAS	3.5 ± 0.8	2.7 ± 1.4	9.9 ± 2.2	5.8 ± 3.2	39.7 ± 14.4	7.4 ± 5.4	>48	0
VOR + ANI	6.8 ± 7.1	3.6 ± 3.3	26 ± 15.5	11.8 ± 5.7	45.0 ± 5.2	8.5 ± 9.0	>48	0
A. terreus								
AMB + CAS	31.4 ± 12.5	12.2 ± 0.2	37.5 ± 14.8	>16.2 ± 1.9	>48	>14.7 ± 0.2	>48	>13.7±1.6
AMB + ANI	20.5 ± 0.0	7.8 ± 1.8	24.4 ± 0.4	5.9 ± 2.5	32.4 ± 9.1	10.9 ± 9.9	47.6 ± 0.8	>7.5±1.9
VOR + CAS	5.3 ± 1.8	3.5 ± 0.7	9.1 ± 1.1	2.3 ± 0.4	20.4 ± 3.9	7.6 ± 5.3	>48	0
VOR + ANI	4.8 ± 0.4	3.0 ± 0.7	9.7 ± 6.4	2.9 ± 0.2	17.0 ± 6.5	4.1 ± 3.2	>48	0

Table 2. Delay of fungal heat-flow (in h) in presence of an antifungal combination compared to growth control and the difference (in h) in heat detection of combinations compared to amphotericin B or voriconazole alone. Experiments were performed three times and values are represents mean and standard deviation.

Against the *A. fumigatus* strain tested a minor synergistic effect of amphotericin B combined with caspofungin was observed, with a delay of heat detection of 1.6 - 4.1 h, compared to the drug alone. A stronger synergistic effect was achieved when amphotericin B and anidulafungin were combined, which increased the delay to growth detection with up to 11.2 h in comparison to amphotericin B alone at 0.5 x MIC. The improved activity of voriconazole in combination with an echinocandin was more pronounced. Figure 1 shows the activity of voriconazole and caspofungin, alone and in combination, against *A. fumigatus* by microcalorimetry and microscopy at 24 h and 48 h. The most active combination against *A. fumigatus* was voriconazole plus anidulafungin with an increase in heat inhibition of 11.8 ± 5.7 h and 8.5 ± 9.0 h, at 0.25 x and 0.5 x MIC (MEC), respectively, as compared to voriconazole alone.

A. terreus is intrinsically less susceptible to amphotericin B, exhibiting a MIC of >16 μ g/ml as determined at 48 h by microscopy. When amphotericin B was combined with caspofungin or anidulafungin, a strong synergistic effect was observed with delay of heat production of 5.9 ->16.2 h. Figure 2 shows the activity of amphotericin B and anidulafungin against *A. terreus* by microcalorimetry and microscopy. A clear reduction in microscopical growth and change in morphology was observed in the presence of the combination at all concentrations tested. A delay of heat detection of up to 10.9 ± 9.9 h was observed in the presence of the combination in comparison to amphotercin B alone. The addition of an echinocandin to voriconazole did only show a minor synergistic effect, with a delay of growth of 2.3 - 4.1 h, except for the combination voriconazole and caspofungin at 0.5 x MIC (MEC) that delayed the growth related heat-production by 7.6 ± 5.3 h.
Figure 1. Growth inhibition of *A. fumigatus* by voriconazole (A) and caspofungin (B) alone or in combination (C), as determined by microcalorimetry (upper panel) and microscopy at 24 h and 48 h (lower panel). The growth control (GC) is presented in duplicate. Antifungals were tested in combination at 0.125 x, 0.25 x, 0.5 x and 1 x MIC or MEC. Magnifications, x40.



Figure 2. Growth inhibition of *A. terreus* by amphotericin B (A) and anidulafungin (B) alone or in combination (C), as determined by microcalorimetry (upper panel) or microscopy at 24 h and 48 h (lower panel). The growth control (GC) is presented in duplicate. Antifungals were tested in combination at 0.125 x, 0.25 x, 0.5 x and 1 x MIC or MEC. Magnifications, x 40.



Discussion.

In the present study, we demonstrated the potential of isothermal microcalorimetry for evaluation of antifungal combinations against *Aspergillus* spp. In contrast to the standard method for assessing antifungal combinations (i.e. checkerboard microbroth dilution assay), microcalorimetry allows real-time evaluation of antifungal activity. The result is not based on subjective visual examination, rendering the method particularly useful for susceptibility testing of molds, which often show heterogeneous growth characteristics. Due to the incomplete growth inhibition of molds by the echinocandins, two different endpoints are often used by the checkerboard assay. The endpoints, MIC or MIC-0 for optically clear and MEC or MIC-2 for a prominent growth reduction (6, 20), are read by visual inspection, which may be subjective and needs experienced personnel. Furthermore, the choice of the endpoint can influence whether a combination will show synergistic or only additive effect (5). Microcalorimetry has the advantage of testing echinocandins alone or in combination by measuring heat production instead of growth medium turbidity.

In parallel to the microcalorimetric assay, the activity of antifungal combinations was investigated by microscopy and congruent changes in morphology and growth reduction were observed, as shown in Fig. 1 and 2. If similar results are obtained by two different methods, one can suppose that the combination could have a clinical importance. Due to the highly sensitive detection of growth by the microcalorimeter, the MIC determined by visual inspection did not completely inhibit heat-related growth production. Thus, the MIC was additionally determined by microscopy, which better correlated with the microcalorimetric data.

In this proof-of-concept study, only two *Aspergillus* strains were included. Against the tested *A. fumigatus* strain, the addition of an echinocandin improved the activity of voriconazole

more than the activity of amphotericin B. Previous *in vitro* studies have reported both synergy and indifference when combining voriconazole with caspofungin [19] or anidulafungin [18]. An addition of anidula fungin to amphoteric in B or voriconazole showed a stronger synergistic effect than the addition of caspofungin, which may be due to the stronger in vitro activity against non-germinated conidia observed with anidulafungin in comparison with other echinocandins (1). However, a more recent *in vitro* study only reported minor differences in activity of anidulafungin and caspofungin (16). Even though A. terreus is less frequently causing aspergillosis than A. fumigatus and A. flavus, this species was chosen due to its intrinsically reduced susceptibility to amphotericin B (3). We observed an improved activity of amphotericin B in the presence of an echinocandin, whereas the activity of voriconazole was not considerably improved. A decrease in the MIC of amphotericin B in the presence of caspofungin has been previously described and could be explained by an increased penetration of amphotericin B due to the disturbed cell wall by caspofungin (2). The microcalorimetric curve additionally demonstrates a slower growth of A. terreus in comparison with A. fumigatus, which may also influence increased susceptibility to amphotericin B. Combinations of echinocandins with azoles or amphotericin B have shown positive results when tested in animal models and their lack of toxicity makes them attractive for combination therapy (10). However, clinical studies are needed to generate solid evidencebased data supporting the use of combination therapy.

In summary, an improved activity of both amphotericin B and voriconazole was observed when combined with an echinocandin, with variations depending on the antifungal and mold combination. This proof-of-concept study demonstrated the potential of isothermal microcalorimetry for real-time evaluation of antifungal combinations against *Aspergillus* spp., in combinations including particularly echinocandins. The assay merits further validation by testing of additional strains, other mold species and antifungal combinations.

Acknowledgements

A. fumigatus was kindly provided by Dr. Reno Frei from the University Hospital Basel, Switzerland. *A. terreus* was kindly provided by Dr. Philippe Hauser from the Lausanne University Hospital, Switzerland.

Funding

This study was supported by Pfizer AG (Zurich, Switzerland) and Merck Sharp and Dohme AG (Lucerne, Switzerland). This study was supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation (K-32K1_120531).

Declaration of interest

A.T. received grants from Pfizer, MSD and Gilead.

References

- 1. **Antachopoulos, C., J. Meletiadis, T. Sein, E. Roilides, and T. J. Walsh.** 2008. Comparative *in vitro* pharmacodynamics of caspofungin, micafungin, and anidulafungin against germinated and nongerminated *Aspergillus* conidia. Antimicrob Agents Chemother **52:**321-8.
- 2. Arikan, S., M. Lozano-Chiu, V. Paetznick, and J. H. Rex. 2002. *In vitro* synergy of caspofungin and amphotericin B against *Aspergillus* and *Fusarium* spp. Antimicrob Agents Chemother **46**:245-7.
- 3. Blum, G., S. Perkhofer, H. Haas, M. Schrettl, R. Wurzner, M. P. Dierich, and C. Lass-Florl. 2008. Potential basis for amphotericin B resistance in *Aspergillus terreus*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother **52:**1553-5.
- 4. **CLSI.** 2008. Reference method for broth dilution antifungal susceptibility testing of filamentous fungi, Second Edition: Approved Standard. CLSI document M38-A2. Wayne PA.
- 5. Cuenca-Estrella, M., A. Gomez-Lopez, G. Garcia-Effron, L. Alcazar-Fuoli, E. Mellado, M. J. Buitrago, and J. L. Rodriguez-Tudela. 2005. Combined activity *in vitro* of caspofungin, amphotericin B, and azole agents against itraconazole-resistant clinical isolates of *Aspergillus fumigatus*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother **49**:1232-5.
- 6. **Dannaoui, E., O. Lortholary, and F. Dromer.** 2004. *In vitro* evaluation of double and triple combinations of antifungal drugs against *Aspergillus fumigatus* and *Aspergillus terreus*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother **48**:970-8.
- 7. **EUCAST.** 2008. EUCAST Technical Note on the method for the determination of broth dilution minimum inhibitory concentrations of antifungal agents for conidia-forming moulds. Clin Microbiol Infect **14**:982-984.
- 8. **Furustrand Tafin, U., M. Clauss, P. M. Hauser, J. Bille, J. F. Meis, and A. Trampuz.** 2012. Isothermal microcalorimetry: a novel method for real-time determination of antifungal susceptibility of *Aspergillus* species. Clin Microbiol Infect. **18:**E241-5.
- 9. **Furustrand Tafin, U., J. Meis, and A. Trampuz.** 2012. Isothermal microcalorimetry for antifungal susceptibility testing of Mucorales, *Fusarium* spp. and *Scedosporium* spp. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis. Jun 11. Epub ahead of print.
- 10. Johnson, M. D., C. MacDougall, L. Ostrosky-Zeichner, J. R. Perfect, and J. H. Rex. 2004. Combination antifungal therapy. Antimicrob Agents Chemother **48**:693-715.
- 11. **Kontoyiannis, D. P.** 2012. Invasive mycoses: strategies for effective management. Am J Med **125**:S25-38.
- 12. Krishnan, S., E. K. Manavathu, and P. H. Chandrasekar. 2005. A comparative study of fungicidal activities of voriconazole and amphotericin B against hyphae of *Aspergillus fumigatus*. J Antimicrob Chemother **55**:914-20.
- 13. **Kurtz, M. B., I. B. Heath, J. Marrinan, S. Dreikorn, J. Onishi, and C. Douglas.** 1994. Morphological effects of lipopeptides against *Aspergillus fumigatus* correlate with activities against (1,3)-beta-D-glucan synthase. Antimicrob Agents Chemother **38**:1480-1489.
- 14. **Lass-Florl, C.** 2009. The changing face of epidemiology of invasive fungal disease in Europe. Mycoses **52:**197-205.
- 15. **Meletiadis, J., S. Pournaras, E. Roilides, and T. J. Walsh.** 2010. Defining fractional inhibitory concentration index cutoffs for additive interactions based on self-drug additive combinations, Monte Carlo simulation analysis, and *in vitro-in vivo* correlation data for antifungal drug combinations against *Aspergillus fumigatus*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother **54**:602-9.
- Pfaller, M. A., L. Boyken, R. J. Hollis, J. Kroeger, S. A. Messer, S. Tendolkar, and D. J. Diekema. 2009. *In vitro* susceptibility of clinical isolates of *Aspergillus* spp. to anidulafungin, caspofungin, and micafungin: a head-to-head comparison using the CLSI M38-A2 broth microdilution method. J Clin Microbiol 47:3323-5.
- 17. **Pfaller, M. A., and D. J. Diekema.** 2010. Epidemiology of invasive mycoses in North America. Crit Rev Microbiol **36:**1-53.
- Pfaller, M. A., D. J. Sheehan, and J. H. Rex. 2004. Determination of fungicidal activities against yeasts and molds: lessons learned from bactericidal testing and the need for standardization. Clin Microbiol Rev 17:268-80.
- 19. **Pillai, S. K., R. C. Moellering, and G. M. Eliopoulos.** 2005. Antimicrobial Combinations. *In* V. Lorian (ed.), Antibiotics in Laboratory Medicine, Fifth ed. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- 20. **Planche, V., S. Ducroz, A. Alanio, M. E. Bougnoux, O. Lortholary, and E. Dannaoui.** 2012. *In vitro* combination of anidulafungin and voriconazole against intrinsically azole susceptible and resistant *Aspergillus* spp. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. May 21Epub ahead of print
- 21. Segal, B. H., and T. J. Walsh. 2006. Current approaches to diagnosis and treatment of invasive aspergillosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 173:707-17.

- 22. **Vazquez, J. A.** 2008. Clinical practice: combination antifungal therapy for mold infections: much ado about nothing? Clin Infect Dis **46**:1889-901.
- 23. Wadsö, I. 2001. Isothermal microcalorimety: current problems and prospects. J Therm Anal Calorim 64:75-84.
- 24. Walsh, T. J., E. J. Anaissie, D. W. Denning, R. Herbrecht, D. P. Kontoyiannis, K. A. Marr, V. A. Morrison, B. H. Segal, W. J. Steinbach, D. A. Stevens, J. A. van Burik, J. R. Wingard, T. F. Patterson, and A. Infectious Diseases Society of. 2008. Treatment of aspergillosis: clinical practice guidelines of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. Clin Infect Dis 46:327-60.

Chapter 12. General conclusions and outlook.

The importance of antifungal susceptibility testing is continuously increasing by the shift in mold epidemiology towards non-*Aspergillus* genera and the emergence and spread of resistant strains. Resistant strains do not always exhibit cross-resistance to all antifungals in the same group, as was shown for itraconazole-resistant *A. fumigatus* strains, remaining susceptible to other triazoles. Progress in the field of nucleic-acid sequencing, allowing fungal species identification, has provided new insights into the molecular taxonomy of molds. Several sibling species to *A. fumigatus*, such as *A. lentulus*, have been identified, exhibiting a reduced susceptibility to many antifungals. Among the emerging molds, such as the Mucorales, species identification revealed variability in susceptibility among the different genera, highlighting that the choice of appropriate antifungal therapy cannot be based on the fungal class but species identification and susceptibility testing is recommended.

The utility of antifungal susceptibility testing is a controversial issue in clinical practice due to lack of well-established clinical breakpoints for molds. The unavailability of these breakpoints is mostly due to great variability of the host status, but may also be due to suboptimal performance of *in vitro* testing methods currently used in routine practice. The lack of appropriate tests is particularly evident for evaluation of antifungal combinations. Susceptibility test methods based on measurement of turbidity of the growth medium are challenged by heterogeneous hyphal growth and variation in growth rate of molds, rendering the visual test interpretation difficult.

Isothermal microcalorimetry is commonly used for analysis of chemical and biochemical reactions, either consuming or producing energy. During the last decade, the utility and advantages of isothermal microcalorimetry for highly sensitive detection of microbial growth

was demonstrated for a range of microorganisms. In chapter 9 and 10, we evaluated the thermokinetic profiles of different mold species, including *Aspergillus* and non-*Aspergillus* spp., and were able to detect fungal growth of *Aspergillus* spp. and Mucorales in <5 h and in 7 h and 17 h for *Fusarium* and *Scedosporium* spp., respectively, under defined conditions. As demonstrated in chapter 11, the sensitivity of the microcalorimeter for growth detection was more comparable to growth detected by microscopy than to macroscopically visual growth. Despite enabling rapid growth detection, microcalorimetry does not allow species identification, as the heat produced is an unspecific signal of all thermal processes taking place in the test ampoule. Nevertheless, the use of a selective media could allow differentiation between genera. In a clinical setting, microcalorimetry could offer a rapid discrimination between culture positivity and negativity of sputum or bronchoalveolar lavage fluid samples.

In chapter 9 and 10, we demonstrated the potential of isothermal microcalorimetry, as a novel method for antifungal susceptibility testing of molds. Due to the complex life cycle of molds, microcalorimetry appears to be a suitable and precise approach for performing antifungal susceptibility testing, as the test interpretation is not based on subjective visual examination and the data is obtained continuously in real-time (as heat-flow curve). We demonstrated that amphotericin B, triazoles and echinocandins affected the growth-related heat production of *Aspergillus* spp. in different manners, depending on their fungistatic or fungicidal properties. The presence of amphotericin B or a triazole delayed the heat production in a concentration-dependent manner and the minimal heat inhibition concentration (MHIC) was determined as the lowest concentration inhibiting 50% of the heat produced at 24 h, 48 h or 72 h, depending on species. Due to the different mechanisms of action echinocandins, the MHIC for this antifungal class was determined as the lowest concentration lowering the heat-flow peak with 50%. For *Aspergillus* spp. (chapter 9), agreement within two 2-fold dilutions between MHIC

and MIC or MEC (determined by CLSI M38A) was 90% for amphotericin B, 100% for voriconazole, 90% for posaconazole and 70% for caspofungin. In order to validate our assay, azole-resistant *A. fumigatus* mutants were included. We further evaluated our assay for antifungal susceptibility testing of non-*Aspergillus* molds (chapter 10). As determined by microcalorimetry, amphotericin B was the most active agent against Mucorales (MHIC 0.06- $0.125 \mu g/mL$) and *Fusarium* spp. (MHIC 1-4 $\mu g/mL$), whereas voriconazole was the most active agent against *Scedosporium* spp. (MHIC 0.25 to 8 $\mu g/mL$). Whereas interpretation of susceptibility data by the conventional microbroth dilution method is rather subjective and requires experienced personnel, microcalorimetry offers an objective approach for data interpretation, based on a delay of heat production or change of the calorimetric curve, related to the inhibition of growth (MIC) or change of growth mode (MEC), respectively.

We compared our data with MIC and MEC values obtained by the standard method for antifungal testing and were able to correlate our results when using the same time of incubation. However, considering the advantage of real-time growth monitoring, the microcalorimetric assay could be further optimized for a rapid detection resistant isolates. Indeed, in a future study we will screen a strain collection of 50 azole-resistant *A. fumigatus* isolates, with the goal to establish a rapid and sensitive assay for detection of azole resistance, as was previously described for the differentiation between methicillin-susceptible and methicillin resistant *S. aureus* using the same methodology.

In chapter 11, we evaluated the activity of four antifungal combinations against *A. fumigatus* and *A. terreus* by microcalorimetry. The standard *in vitro* method used for synergy testing of molds, the checkerboard microdilution method, has been criticized for the FIC index ranges used for interpretation, as a majority of combinations show indifference or additive effect. Based on real-time measurements, we were able to show that the addition of an echinocandin to amphotericin B or voriconazole, delayed the detection of growth-related heat production of

the tested *Aspergillus* spp. in comparison to the drug alone. The improved activity varied between the two echinocandins and fungal species tested. The great potential of microcalorimetry for antifungal synergy testing needs to be further explored by testing of additional strains, other mold species and antifungal combinations.

For a future use of microcalorimetry in a clinical microbiological laboratory, several issues need to be considered. First, the currently used isothermal microcalorimeters are too expensive and need to be simplified and adapted to the test conditions needed for microbiological applications (e.g. a narrow temperature range) in order to lower the cost of the instrument. Second, the instrument needs to allow a semi- or fully automated processing of multiple samples enabling high-throughput testing. In order to meet these criteria, promising development in the field of calorimetric instrument includes the recent market entry of a 48-well plate isothermal microcalorimeter designed for biological assays (CalScreener, SymCel AB) and a high-throughput low-cost chip calorimeter (chipCAL, TTP Labtech Ltd).